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Devoted to Ecology and
Environment for a Beautiful China

hina Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”

or the “Company” or together with its subsidiaries, the

“Group”) is a professional environmental protection
service provider in China, with its businesses focusing on integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power, it listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 May 2017 (Stock Code: 1257).
Upholding its philosophy of leading the way through business
innovations, Everbright Greentech took a pioneer role to introduce
integrated urban and rural waste treatment project in Mainland
China. Currently, the Company has its business coverage spanning
across 15 provinces, autonomous region and Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) in China, and spreads far to
Germany.

With strong support from China Everbright Group Limited
(“China Everbright Group”) and the controlling shareholder,
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“CEEGL”), and
leveraging on its own extensive experience in the development and
operation of diversified project portfolio as well as its unparalleled
market expansion capability, the Group will continue to follow the
instruction to be “Prudent, Proactive and Practical”, bearing in
mind its initial commitment and mission as it strives incessantly to

become a leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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Financial Highlights
HMBREE

2021 2020 Percentage
B _—_Z_FTHF Change
HK$°000 HK$’000 Btk
BT T BETT
RESULTS E 3
Revenue & 8,446,999 9,835,376 —14%
EBITDA® BRFIS - BiIE - B
RESHRTR MO 2,837,942 3,064,595 7%
Profit attributable to equity AN B B 25 PR ER PR 4L 2 A
shareholders of the Company 1,110,385 1,502,532 —26%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) f% 5 & & [0] 3R (%) 8.40 13.10 —4.70 ppt
Basic earnings per share (HK cents)  &RXEARZF GEAl) 53.74 72.72 -26%
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR
Total assets BERTE 40,539,581 35,264,668 15%
Total liabilities BEARE 26,394,214 22,397,827 18%
Equity attributable to equity RAEIRE S R (L =
shareholders of the Company 13,761,195 12,524,282 10%
Net asset value per share RRAFE=BRREGER
attributable to equity shareholders BEFE(EST)
of the Company (HK$) 6.66 6.06 10%
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITEER 2,644,110 2,727,053 3%
Gearing ratio? (%) BEAFELE (%) 65.11 63.51 1.60 ppt
Current ratio (%) 7 B £ % (%) 137.50 156.20  —18.70 ppt

) EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation,
) Gearing ratio is calculated by total liabilities over total assets.

) EBITDABIAREERANE - W18 - FTERHAHAZF -

) BEAGBLHERERABEAERUEEMLTAH -

depreciation and amortisation.
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Corporate Milestones
TEREHE

W

January 2021

Gutian Waste-to-energy Project in Fujian Province was
completed and commenced operation

February 2021

Signed the heat supply supplementary agreement of
Zhongxiang Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy
Project in Hubei Province for an additional heat supply
capacity of 330,000 tonnes per year

Received the “Best in ESG Awards — Main Board —
Small Market Capitalisation” and “Best in Reporting
Awards — Main Board — Small Market Capitalisation” in
the BDO ESG Awards 2021

March 2021

Acquired 60% equity interests in Everbright Kellon Green
Energy Limited (formerly known as Kellon Green Energy
Limited) to expand our solar energy project business to
Hong Kong for the first time

April 2021

Successfully issued the first asset-backed notes (“ABN”)
based on receivables in connection with additional
subsidies for renewable energy power prices of the state
(the “State Subsidies”) with an issue amount of RMB589
million in further diversification of our financing options
Shayang Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy Project
(Waste-to-energy) in Hubei Province was completed and
commenced operation

May 2021

Lintao Waste-to-energy Project in Gansu Province and
Dali Waste-to-energy Project in Shaanxi Province
successively passed the “72+24-hour” test run, were
completed and commenced operation

Signed for Carbon Neutrality and Urban Environmental
Stewardship Project in Jiangsu Province followed by
implementation of the first County-wide Solar Energy
Advancement Project in Feng County in December 2021

June 2021

Signed for Xuzhou End-of-Life Tyre Integrated Ultilisation
in Jiangsu Province

The first Songyang Integrated Hazardous Waste
Treatment Project in Zhejiang Province was completed
and commenced operation

Signed for Zhongjiang Integrated Biomass and
Waste-to-energy Project (Waste-to-energy) in Sichuan
Province
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July 2021

Haimen Integrated Solid Waste Treatment Project in
Jiangsu Province was completed and commenced
operation

Successfully issued the nation’s first carbon-neutral and
rural vitalisation green panda medium-term notes for an
amount of RMB1 billion to provide long-term financial
assurance for the Company’s sustainable development

August 2021

Received the “EcoChallenger” certificate and the “3 Years +
EcoPioneer” logo in the “BOCHK Corporate Environmental
Leadership Awards 2020” jointly organised by the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries and Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited

Received the Green and Sustainable Finance Certification
Scheme Certificate 2021 for “Pre-issuance Stage of
Green Bond (Use of Proceeds Instrument)” from Hong
Kong Quality Assurance Agency

September 2021

Signed for Huai’an Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy
Project (Waste-to-energy Phase Il) in Jiangsu Province
and Mianzhu Integrated Biomass and Waste-to-energy
Project (Waste-to-energy Phase ll) in Sichuan Province

October 2021

Wenling Integrated Hazardous Waste Treatment Project
(Phase 1) in Zhejiang Province was completed
construction

Received the “Best Case Study Award of Corporate
Governance of China Enterprise 2021” in the “Gold ESG
Awards 2021” presented by Cailianpress

Entrusted underlying assets for the amount of RMB193
million to JIC Trust Company Limited

December 2021

Received the “Special Mention for ESG in the Non-Hang
Seng Index (Small Market Capitalization) Category” in the
“Best Corporate Governance & ESG Awards 2021
presented by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”)

Huangshi Integrated Hazardous Waste Treatment Project
in Hubei Province was completed construction, the
largest venous industrial park project invested in and
built by Everbright Greentech

Zhangjiagang Hazardous Waste Incineration Project and
Hazardous Waste Landfill Project in Jiangsu Province
were completed and commenced operation
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Chairman’s Statement
ETEHRE

REINFORCING PRINCIPAL BUSINESSES AND
PREPARING FOR TRANSFORMATION
Exploring New Business Frontiers

Bxx ZEHR

“Following the inclusion of ‘carbon peak’ and ‘carbon neutrality’ (“Dual Carbon”) in the overall
ecological civilisation planning, the development of ecological civilisation in China has entered a new
phase of synergistic governance in ‘waste reduction’ and ‘carbon reduction’. The nation’s ‘14th
Five-Year Plan’ period has become a critical five-year period for China’s sustained effort to improve
its ecological quality, as well as a crucial period and window for the ongoing battle against pollution
in order to attain carbon peak by 2030. In this new development period, the environmental industry
will become an increasingly prominent sector in social and economic development. As a builder and
participant in the development of the ecological civilisation, Everbright Greentech will establish itself
in transformative development and bring its endogenic vibrancy into play in adherence to the
corporate mission of being ‘Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China’ and the
corporate vision of endeavouring to ‘Create Better Investment Value and Undertake More Social
Responsibility’, focusing on the Dual Carbon goals and persisting in an innovation-driven approach
as it seeks to reinforce its principal businesses and foundation while grasping firmly the abundant
opportunities for development in the industry to drive the long-term development of the Company
with an exalted profile, higher standards and superior management.”

[BEZTHER] - TP AITER D MALRXARRERGRE  PENERAZREEEADNR

BIERTEERIBRDAEMHEER - BRITHAIRATESENSERRREENHERIF  hal

BARNTERAD AR RS - BR T FaicEEnmRRnEng -

MOEREH RRTEELEEEERTPNOUECEFHRBRD -

ERERNPARREXZNERENMZEE  AARERERBFRAIBER

HFRIRE  K2XBETEINCEESMIEEEZREBE  AEE

ZHERMEINEREFR  TRBAERE - SEBEALEN  BEEK

AR BISAIFSIR  EHEARE  FRIETEERNERR

o UESNER EanRE EENEEESARRRR
BE -

Chairman =%

WANG Tianyi
BN



Dear Shareholders,

Year 2021 has been a most extraordinary year for the
Chinese economy. During the year, the COVID-19 pandemic
continued to plague the world. Against the backdrop of
increasingly complicated global economic trends, China was
actively coordinating epidemic prevention and control on one hand
and economic and social development on the other, as it bucked
the overall trend to report economic recovery and robustly
advanced towards qualitative development, assuring a sound
commencement for the nation’s “14th Five-Year Plan” with strong
resilience and momentum in a solid stride towards the

comprehensive development of a modernised socialist nation.

Year 2021 has been a significant milestone for the
development of China’s ecological civilisation. During the
year, China made the historic move of including Dual Carbon in
its overall planning for the development of ecological civilisation,
calling for faster establishment of a sound economic regime
compatible with green and low-carbon circular development. A
number of regulations were promulgated and implemented in
relation to the timetable and roadmap for emission reduction,
complemented by a range of policies and measures, while the
national carbon trading market was re-opened. Under the Dual
Carbon strategy, “waste and carbon reduction” as well as
“efficiency enhancement through synergy” were promoted as the
focus for advancing qualitative economic development, giving rise
to unprecedented development opportunities for the environmental

industry.
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Chairman's Statement £E#H&

Year 2021 has also been a year of hard-earned progress for
Everbright Greentech. During the year, we held firm to our
goals and the operation-oriented approach with unwavering
commitment to our primary objectives. We tackled the market and
policy influence by reinforcing principal businesses and preparing
the transformation. We made continuous efforts to enhance the
operational quality of our existing businesses and explore new
ones, emphasising prudence in actions and preservation of our
strengths. During the year, we endeavoured to achieve new
breakthrough in business transformation with a special focus on
the Dual Carbon strategy; strive for operational stability and
sustainability with a special focus on quality and efficiency
enhancement; and reinforce our principal businesses with a
special focus on resources and market. Thanks to the diligent
effort of all staff members at Everbright Greentech, the heat
supply market of the integrated biomass utilisation business was
further expanded, while further success for the end-of-life tyre
disposal project was reported. In our first move to deploy in the
solar energy market since our listing, we made our business
debut in Hong Kong, while exploring a variety of novel businesses
to stock up ample power for our transformative development.

Year 2021 has been a year of value creation for Everbright
Greentech. During the year, we continued to enhance our
competence in environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) in
tandem with the mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and
Environment for a Beautiful China”’, as we endeavoured to
incorporate the philosophy of economic, environmental and social
sustainability into our business and management practices and
deliver value to the Company. As an established environmental
business, we actively promoted energy conservation and
emission reduction in ongoing contribution to the cause of waste
and carbon reduction. We continued to fulfill our responsibility in
opening our environmental facilities to the public as part of our
effort to promote and publicise concepts and knowledge in
ecological and environmental protection, earning critical acclaim
from the community. In recognition of the Company’s
contributions in serving the nation’s development of ecological
civilisation and undertaking social responsibility, Everbright
Greentech received the “EcoChallenger” certificate in the
“BOCHK Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards 2020”
jointly organized by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, as well as the “Special
Mention for ESG in the Non-Hang Seng Index (Small Market
Capitalization) Category” in the “Best Corporate Governance and
ESG Awards 2021” presented by the HKICPA in 2021.
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Riding with the wind to challenge uncharted horizons. Year
2022 is a year of intensive implementation and execution of the
nation’s “14th Five-Year Plan”, as well as a crucial year for the
nation’s roll-out of the Dual Carbon strategic plan. Everbright
Greentech will conduct research on policies and market
developments in a proactive manner and seize opportunities for
“14th

Five-Year Plan” and Dual Carbon strategy, in a bid to cement our

development arising in the progress of the nation’s
leading position in the industry and step up with the development
of new markets. We will be engaged in proactive participation
and pre-emptive planning, in order to maintain stable operation of
our existing businesses while actively fostering new niches for
business growth. The Group will facilitate management efficiency
by enhancing end-to-end management of its operating activities.
increase our investment in
principal
businesses while advancing transformation, as we seek to deliver

Meanwhile, we will continue to

innovation to ensure stable development of our

sustainable return to investors and contribute our strengths to the
ecological and environmental protection.

On behalf of the Group and the board of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”), | would like to express
my most sincere gratitude to all the shareholders, investors and
business partners for their support and encouragement. Sincere
appreciation is also due to the Directors, the management team
and all other staff members for their concerted effort which has
underpinned Everbright Greentech’s stable and sustainable
development.

WANG TIANYI

Chairman
Hong Kong, 8 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2021, the epic changing international scene was evolving at an
increasing pace, while the once-in-a-century pandemic continued
to ravage. Thanks to the substantial progress in vaccination
across various countries, coupled with stimulus measures which
had a boosting effect on retail spending and investment, the
world economy negotiated a trend-bucking recovery amidst
complicated international situations. As the first major economy to
emerge from the shadow of the epidemic with the most
comprehensive recovery in industrial chain, China provided a
strong driving force for global economic recovery with its rapid
economic pick-up and became a new engine heralding world
economic growth, particularly through active promotion of the
low-carbon green economic development model.

Reviewing 2021, the Chinese government unprecedentedly
included Dual Carbon in its overall planning for the construction
of ecological civilisation and developed a new “low-carbon green
industry” in terms of policy, market and technology with
consistently enriched substance. In connection with policy, the
building of “1+N” policy regime was accelerated and the timetable
Dual

connection with the market, a system of carbon trading rules was

and roadmap for Carbon targets were planned. In
developed and improved and the China Carbon Emission Trade
Exchange and its first contract fulfillment cycle was officially
commenced. In connection with the technology, the “Action Plan
for Technology-supported Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality”
was drafted in a bid to create breakthrough with a special focus
on critical low-carbon green technologies. The combined effect of
these factors has rendered the low-carbon green industry a new
With
alleviation and carbon reduction in close tandem with the national

blue ocean market. its double attributes of pollution

Dual Carbon development strategy, the environment business
continues to embrace favorable opportunities for development.
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As a provider of specialised environmental protection services in
China, the Group laid out plans for a new phase of qualitative
development and achieved steady development in various
business segments in 2021, persisting in prudent progress with a
special focus on management enhancement and emphasis on
innovation- and reform-driven measures in ongoing firm adherence
to the corporate mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and
Environment for a Beautiful China” and the corporate vision of
endeavouring to “Create Better Investment Value and Undertake
More Social Responsibility”.

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, solar energy and wind power. As of
31 December 2021, the Group had 136 environmental protection
projects with a total investment of approximately RMB32.669
billion and had undertaken 42 environmental remediation projects,

with a total contract amount of approximately RMB1.165 billion.

In terms of market development, the Group was engaged in
full-gear efforts towards business transformation. The integrated
biomass utilisation business has been transforming towards a
value-added business model, while continuous progress was
made in the heat supply market. The hazardous and solid waste
treatment business was steadily transforming to the role of an
industrial environmental protection service provider alongside the
end-of-life tyre disposal project obtaining further success. In our
first move to deploy in the solar energy market since our spinoff
listing, we expanded our distributed rooftop solar energy business
by advancing projects on a county-wide basis, while making our
business debut in the Hong Kong market. Moreover, the Group
engaged in in-depth research of market opportunities in the
strategic context of Dual Carbon in an active bid to explore new
commercial models and growth niches.
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During the year under review, the Group secured 17 new
projects and entered into 2 supplementary agreements for
biomass heat supply, involving an additional total investment of
approximately RMB1.2 bilion and environmental remediation
projects with a contract amount of approximately RMB150 million.
Such new projects included 3 integrated biomass utilisation
projects, 1 hazardous and solid waste treatment project, 13 solar
energy projects and 6 environmental remediation projects. In
terms of project scale, our capacity for power generation was
increased by 39.07 MW, daily household waste processing
capacity was increased by 1,300 tonnes, while our designed
capacity for steam supply and hazardous and solid waste
treatment were increased by approximately 600,000 tonnes and

100,000 tonnes per annum, respectively.

In terms of project construction, the Group continued to ensure
steady progress in the construction work of its projects in
adherence to the 7 principles of “productivity, efficiency, quality,
cost-effectiveness, legitimacy, safety and integrity”, deliberating
and exploring new construction plans to accommodate new
project types. During the year under review, 17 new projects
started implementation while 28 projects had completed
construction and commenced operation. As at 31 December
2021,

implementation, including 10 hazardous and solid waste treatment

the Group had 23 projects under construction or

projects and 13 environmental remediation projects. With a strong
emphasis on construction safety, construction quality and work
scheduling for projects under construction, the Group has
enhanced safety management at project sites through ongoing
optimisation of its construction management system and

framework.

REEFEAR  AEBERABSI7EHIEE MEE
2 EMEHRRERGE S RNIERKRERY
ARBLRETRREEEREAFNASEHAR
%1.6087C - #IRE BHEIELEMEHF AT AR
B 1EfBEMEEREEER 13EKEER
B6ERFEEERIAR - HAMET @ - #igH
BRMMRRI.07KE - B LR R R IEEE
#1143 B1,300W8 @ IR R RARBRENOETF
B0EME - FriffefE K BB RAHRIZERE N EFF10
B -

IREERTE ASEERIERERIZHRITA
ERRIETR  HEFNIER EAERNRER
FHBIAIE BIHHEETEEIRER R
BIEFEER  FATkETEA17E = ThE
BIEE28E - R=ZE=-—F+=-A=+—H K
SEEREAITHAIEE £23E - BIE10ESEE
REEEEER R1SEREEERER - A5ES
EERTREERIZS FEREMERE
B BBATEHECIEERNERE Bkl
RIZEEIKF -



Annual Report 2021 19
—T—FFR

Management Discussion and Analysis B2 g & &k 247

In terms of technology research and development, the Group
emphasises technological innovation as the driving force for the
Company’s development, as all technological research underway
are in tandem with the requirements of the Company’s business
transformation. During the year under review, the Group’s
research effort focused on carbon neutrality, solar energy storage
and charging integration, recycled use of bulk industrial solid
waste, remediation of old landfill sites, end-of-life tyre recycling
and incineration of hazardous waste with high sulphuric and
halogenic contents, which provided support for the technical
feasibility of its new business categories. During the year under
review, the project for the “Development and Application of Safe,
Clean and Efficient Incineration Technology for General
Combustible Industrial Solid Waste”, an international cooperation
project in technology innovation of the Group under the National
Key Research and Development Programme, commenced
successfully with preliminary completion of interim tasks. As of
31 December 2021, the Group held 205 authorised patents,
including 25 invention patents, 175 utility model patents, and 5
software copyrights.

In terms of operational management, the Group is committed to
enhancing its operational safety level by improving the quality and
efficiency of its project operations through delicacy management.
During the year under review, the Group rolled out trial operations
of autonomous fuel intake and storage projects for 5 integrated
biomass utilisation projects and explored means to curb fuel
prices and improve fuel quality, providing assurance for the new
model of fuel supply. To enhance operating efficiency, the Group
rolled out benchmarking management on all fronts during the year
under review to procure the application of uniform, standardised,
timely and accurate key benchmarks for the production
management system, whereby benchmarking and ranking among
commenced projects were conducted regularly such that
backward projects would benchmark themselves against
advanced counterparts to make up for the gap so as to improve
their economic efficiency for a more solid foundation for delicacy
management. During the year under review, the Group continued
to deepen the implementation of its environmental, safety, health
and social responsibility (“ESHS”) management system by drafting
safety management standards for high-risk operations to
supplement the regime of safety management systems. In-depth
effort was made to the commencement of investigation and
treatment of hazards to reduce the risk of accidents. Information
on pollutant discharge by project companies was monitored on a
real-time basis to facilitate environmental management in a more
regulated manner and assist in the Company’s effective
management of ESG risks.
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In terms of risk management, the Group has applied risk
assessment in the full process of market development, project
construction and project operation, and has consistently
enhanced the effectiveness of its risk assessment and its risk
management standard. During the year under review, the Group
“Greentech Risk Appetite 2021~

comprehensive risk inspection of its project companies. Risk

formulated and conducted
statistics and audit on various aspects such as contract
management and performance, financial management, production
safety and emission compliance, among others, were conducted
and a “Risk and Internal Control Management Report” was drawn
up to furnish recommendations in operations and compliance to
the project companies. During the year under review, the Group
achieved notable results in risk management by drawing on the
prospective and precautionary natures of risk management.

In 2021, the Group’s operating activities were considerably
affected by the pandemic. As a result of delays in the export
trade for plate materials owing to the pandemic, the supply of
processing residues such as bark and scrap among raw materials
required in the integrated biomass utilisation business decreased
and fuel prices were on the rise. Affected by the suspension or
reduced production of upstream waste-generating enterprises, the
volume and unit price for processing of the hazardous and solid
waste treatment business registered declines. To address these
impacts, the Group conducted trial operation of a voluntary
biomass fuel collection and storage system to develop a model of
fuel acquisition directly connected to the source of fuel supply, in
order to safeguard fuel supply and lower fuel prices. The
hazardous and solid waste treatment business maintained its
customer resources through regional modulation centres on the
back of the “major customer” regime, while enhancing information
and resource sharing among marketing staff of various projects to

increase market shares.
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In 2021, the Group continued to enhance the development of its
ESG competence and fulfill its social responsibility as an
established environmental business and contribute its strengths to
China’s green and sustainable development, winning critical
acclaim from the community. During the year under review, the
Group received the “EcoChallenger” certificate and the “3 Years +
EcoPioneer” logo in the
Leadership Awards 2020” jointly organised by the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries and Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited,
was awarded the “Special Mention for ESG in the Non-Hang
Seng Index (Small Market Capitalization) Category” in the “Best
Corporate Governance and ESG Awards 2021” presented by the
HKICPA, received the “Best Case Study Award of Corporate
Governance of China Enterprise 2021” in the “Gold ESG Awards
2021” by Cailianpress, and the “Most Investment Value Award in
the Greater Bay Area” in “The Greater Bay Area Navigation

Award” by Hong Kong Ta Kung Wen Wei Media Group.

“BOCHK Corporate Environmental

As a member of the Standing Executive Committee of the
Biomass Energy Branch of China Association for the Promotion of
Industrial Development (“BEIPA”), the Group worked in tandem
with BEIPA in the development of “Group Standards under the
Voluntary Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Audit Guide for
Biomass Energy and Power Generation Projects” during the year
under review to support the national initiatives of Dual Carbon. To
ensure healthy and sustainable development of the industry, we
have formulated the “Propositions Relating to Regulations for
Automatic Monitoring Data Marking of Pollutant Discharge Entities
in Thermal Power, Cement and Paper Industries (Trial)” for timely
submission to competent industry authorities. With a strong
emphasis on close liaison with industry associations and
competent industry authorities, the Group is committed to driving
qualitative development of the industry as a whole through

industry associations.
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The Group firmly believes that commitment to public
accountability and acceptance of public scrutiny are requisite
conditions for driving the sustainable development of an
ecological and environmental enterprise. During the year under
review, the Group continued to fulfill the responsibility of opening
its environmental facilities to the public with more intensive
actions and facilitated disclosure of environmental information with
a high level of transparency, as flue emission and sewage
discharge data of all projects in operation, among others, were
synchronised with and instantly uploaded to government
regulatory platforms, while environmental impact assessment
reports and environmental surveillance data of projects were also
disclosed to the public via various media for governmental and
public supervision. Our environmental facilities were open to the
public on a normalised basis. As of 31 December 2021, a total
of 44 projects were officially opened to the public and 248 offline
open-to-the-public activities was held, receiving a total of 4,500
visitors, while 1 online open-house activity was also hosted,

attracting more than 9,785 views.

The Group continued to enhance project management at the
preparatory stage and drive steady progress of project construction.
In connection with operation services, our focused effort in quality
and efficiency enhancement with ongoing optimisation of our
production technology indicators to accommodate the new market
environment has driven continuous growth in revenue from operation
services. During the year under review, the Group’s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$8,446,999,000, which represented a
14% decrease compared to HK$9,835,376,000 for 2020. EBITDA
decreased by 7% to approximately HK$2,837,942,000 compared to
HK$3,064,595,000 for 2020. Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year was approximately
HK$1,110,385,000, decreasing by 26% compared to
HK$1,502,532,000 for 2020. Basic earnings per share for 2021 was
HK53.74 cents, HK18.98 cents less compared to HK72.72 cents for
2020. The Group was backed by ready access to various financing
options and ample cash flow with sound financial indicators. As at
the end of the year, cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$2,644,110,000 and total bank loan facilities
amounted to HK$24,334,199,000, including unutilised bank loan
facilites of HK$7,907,465,000. The aggregate amount of available
cash and unutilised bank
HK$10,551,575,000.

loan facilities was approximately
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The decrease in revenue and profit attributable to equity holders
reflected primarily the Group’s proactive adjustment of its
development strategy to accommodate changes in national
policies and market developments, which resulted in the decline
Profit

contributions from operations were also affected by rising prices

in revenue and profit from construction services.

for biological raw materials and the decline in unit prices for
hazardous and solid waste treatment. Meanwhile, the volumes of

on-grid electricity through integrated biomass utilisation,
household waste processed, steam supply and hazardous and
solid waste treatment continued to rise in line with the growth in
projects under operation, driving the increase in revenue from
operation services by 25% from HK$5,098,641,000 for 2020 to

HK$6,350,948,000 for the year.

In January 2021, the Company received the notice of registration
acceptance issued by the National Association of Financial Market
Institutional Investors in respect of the Company’s application for
the proposed issuance of ABN with the maximum registered
principal amount of RMB2 billion in the national inter-bank bond
market in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The
registered principal amount shall be valid for 2 years from the
date of the notice of registration acceptance, being 27 January
2021. The targeted subscribers for the ABN shall be institutional
investors in the national inter-bank bond market in the PRC. The
ABN shall be traded in the national inter-bank bond market.

In April 2021, the Company completed the issuance of the first
ABN with the receivables in connection with State Subsidies as
underlying assets (the “ABN Series | 2021”). The ABN Series |
2021 has an issue size of RMB589 million and a term of 3 years,
subject to revolving purchase arrangements, with the first 2 years
being the revolving purchase period. The issue size of the
preferred ABN is RMB569 million, accounting for 96.6% of the
total issue size and carrying a coupon rate of 4.05%. The issue
size of the subordinated ABN is RMB20 million. Proceeds from
the issuance of ABN Series | 2021 will be applied as
replenishment of general working capital or for the repayment of
borrowings to financial institutions. As at 31 December 2021, the
unissued registered capital of the Company’s remaining ABN with
State Subsidies receivables as underlying assets amounted to
RMB1,411 million.
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In July 2021, the Company completed the issuance of second
tranche of medium-term notes, namely the 2021 Green Medium-
term Note (Series 1) (Bond Connect/Carbon-neutral Bond/Rural
Vitalisation) (the “2021 Green Medium-term Notes (Series 1)”) for
an amount of RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 3+2 years at
a coupon rate of 3.5% per annum for the first 3 years. The
Company shall be entitled to adjust the coupon rate of the 2021
Green Medium-term Notes (Series 1) on the third anniversary of
the issuance date. The adjusted coupon rate shall remain
unchanged for the last 2 years. The proceeds from issuance of
the 2021 Green Medium-term Notes (Series 1) will be used for
the repayment of project loan of relevant agricultural and forestry
integrated biomass utilisation projects. As at 31 December 2021,
the Company’s outstanding medium-term notes had an unissued

registered principal amount of RMB1.5 billion.

In October 2021, the Company further disposed receivables
amounting to RMB193 million in connection with the State
Subsidies as underlying assets under the ABN Series | 2021. The
further disposal can help replenish the working capital of the
Group within a reasonable time, and enable the Group to
optimize its financing structure and manage its overall financing

cost within a reasonable range.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT
Business Review

During the year under review, revenue generated from integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,

environmental remediation and solar energy and wind
power segments amounted to approximately HK$8,446,999,000
in aggregate, comprising approximately HK$1,736,617,000
from construction services, representing a 61% decrease
compared to HK$4,462,629,000 for 2020, and approximately
HK$6,350,948,000 from operation services, representing a 25%
increase compared to HK5,098,641,000 for 2020. Analysed by
nature of revenue, construction services, operation services and
finance income accounted for 21%, 75% and 4%, respectively, of

the total revenue.
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Major financial data of integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous
and solid waste treatment, environmental remediation and solar
energy and wind power projects for 2021 are summarised as

follows:

“E-FAEYERANE  fEMEEEE -
REEEMCREENATER 2 T 2UBEE
LI

2021
—BC--&
Hazardous Hazardous
Integrated  and solid Solar Integrated and solid
biomass waste Environmental energy and biomass waste  Environmental  energy and
utilisation ~ treatment  remediation wind power utilisation treatment remediation  wind power
projects projects projects projects projects projects projects
£NgE BER KREE
HANA ERRE REBE kEE :
EH EHH EH HH A AH { B A &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 f HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE¥TT BRI B¥TR BTz BTz ATt A%Tn ; 7T EETT  A¥Trx
Revenue g
— construction services — RERE 859,786 876,831 - - 1,736,617 3,869,337 593,292 - — 4,462,629
— operation services - BERB 5,052,601 774,542 318,320 205485 6,350,948 4,182,317 557,647 167,656 191,021 5,098,641
— finance income — BBBA 352,348 7,086 - - 359,434 266,740 7,366 = = 274,106
6,264,735 1,658,459 318,320 205485 8,446,999 8,318,394 1,158,305 167,656 191,021 9,835,376
EBITDA BHME  BE
FrEREHm
2 2,060,530 686,664 42,182 189,181 2,978,557 2,557,204 419,733 39,223 181,365 3,197,525

The Group remains committed to enhancing value for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). To reward the
Shareholders for their support while taking into account the
Group’s long-term sustainable development, the Board has
recommended a final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK7.0 cents per share) to
the Shareholders.
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Integrated biomass utilisation

The Group mainly utilises biomass raw materials to generate both
electricity and heat. Biomass raw materials are categorised into
yellow culms and grey culms. Yellow culms consist of agricultural
residues, such as wheat straw, rice straw, corn straw, rice husks,
peanut husks, etc.; while grey culms consist of forestry residues
such as branches, barks and other manufacturing wood wastes,
etc. In addition, the Group has developed a unique business
model of urban-rural integration combining the construction of
integrated biomass utilisation projects and waste-to-energy
projects for integrated treatment of agricultural and forestry
residues and rural household wastes in a pioneering attempt at
treatment of the ecological environment in county areas. The
unique advantage of the Group’s urban-rural integration model
means that it could significantly lower the operating costs of the
project and enhance our competitiveness in the industry.

The comprehensive biomass raw material supply regime has
safeguarded sufficient fuel supply for and stable operation of the
integrated biomass utilisation projects, while the Group has also
curbed fuel cost by acquiring biomass raw materials in nearby
regions through regional coordination initiatives.
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As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 53 integrated
biomass utilisation projects, located variously in 10 provinces in
China, including mainly Anhui Province, Jiangsu Province,
Shandong Province, Hubei Province and Henan Province, etc.
Such projects commanded a total investment of approximately
RMB16.746 bilion and provided an aggregate power generation
designed capacity of 1,059 MW, an aggregate annual biomass
processing designed capacity of 8,089,800 tonnes, and a daily
aggregate household waste processing designed capacity of
approximately 11,210 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
50 integrated biomass utilisation projects, generating
approximately 6,027,143 MWh of on-grid electricity which
represented an increase of 12% over 2020; the Group’s volume
of steam supplied was approximately 2,154,671 tonnes,
representing an increase of 60% over 2020; and the Group
processed approximately 7,964,335 tonnes of biomass raw
materials and approximately 2,918,918 tonnes of household
waste, representing increases of 19% and 28% over 2020
respectively. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 3
integrated biomass utilisation projects under preparation, with an
aggregate power generation designed capacity of 32 MW and an
aggregate daily household waste processing designed capacity of
approximately 1,300 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s integrated biomass
utilisation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$2,060,530,000, a decrease of 19% compared to 2020. The
integrated biomass utilisation projects contributed net profit of
approximately HK$1,059,693,000, decrease of 28% compared to
2020. The decrease in profit was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the number of projects under construction resulting in
the corresponding decrease in
construction services, as well as the increase in operating costs

revenue generated from

driven by rising biomass raw materials prices during the year
under review.
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Major operating and financial data of the integrated biomass
utilisation segment for 2021 are summarised as follows:

R -FAYEGANAO M TR EE R
BEEBHENT

Integrated biomass utilisation projects EYEHEEFAER
On-grid electricity (MIWh) tREE CEkRE) 6,027,143 5,365,724
Biomass raw materials processing volume EYERMERIES ()

(fonnes) 7,964,335 6,707,958
Household waste processing volume (tonnes) A4 E B3 R IE & (1) 2,918,918 2,271,844
Volume of steam supplied (tonnes) FAMES (1) 2,154,671 1,343,552
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAME B\ -TER

BRI BN CEEToT) 2,060,530 2,557,204
Hazardous and solid waste treatment EEREEEE

The Group is principally engaged in the safe treatment and
integrated utilisation of wastes including general industrial solid
wastes, hazardous wastes and infectious animal carcasses.
Currently, the Group conducts the disposal by way of incineration,
landfill, physicochemical treatment and integrated utilisation.

The Group is a leading industry player in the hazardous waste
treatment business, with capabilities for safely disposing of 44 out
of 46 categories of hazardous wastes listed in the National
Catalog of Hazardous Wastes. During the year under review, we
continued to explore the potential of the general industrial solid
waste electricity and heat cogeneration business. The Group is
well-positioned to fully meet various requirements of customers on
the back of its solid technical strengths and ability to provide
one-stop services.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 61 hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects, located variously in 10
provinces and autonomous region in China, including mainly
Jiangsu Province, Shandong Province, Anhui Province, Hubei
Province, Zhejiang Province, etc. Such projects commanded a
total investment of approximately RMB14.472 bilion and an
aggregate annual processing designed capacity of approximately

2,941,900 tonnes.
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During the year under review, the Group operated and completed
36 hazardous and solid waste treatment projects. For
detoxification treatment, approximately 245,676 tonnes of
hazardous and solid waste were treated in total, a 51% increase
compared to 2020. For integrated resource utilisation, 23,003
tonnes of hazardous and solid waste were treated, increasing by
51% compared to 2020, and approximately 9,490 tonnes of
recycled products were sold, a 65% increase compared to 2020.
There were 10 hazardous and solid waste treatment projects
under construction with an aggregate annual hazardous waste

processing designed capacity of 972,500 tonnes.

During the year under review, the Group’s hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$686,664,000, increase of 64% compared to 2020. Hazardous
and solid waste treatment projects contributed net profit of
approximately HK$364,210,000, increasing by 79% over 2020.
The increase in profit was mainly attributable to the increase in
the number of projects under construction qualified for
contributions to revenue generated from construction services

during the year under review.

Major operating and financial data of the hazardous and solid
waste treatment segment for 2021 are summarised as follows:
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Hazardous and solid waste treatment EREREEREEEE
projects
Hazardous and solid waste processing volume 12 & & [E BE iR 32 & (W)
(tonnes)
— Detoxification treatment — mELRE 245,676 166,825
— Integrated resource utilisation — BR&EAFA 23,003 15,276
Sales volume of recycled products (tonnes) BRIEFAEREE=S
(W) 9,490 5,768
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRFS - BHIE - ITERE
$HAT B A CEEFT) 686,664 419,733
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Environmental remediation

The Group’s environmental remediation business covers mainly the

restoration of industrial contaminated sites, restoration of

contaminated farmland, ecological restoration for mines and
landfills, treatment of industrial gas emission, integrated treatment
of oil sludge, treatment of river and lake sediments and industrial
sludge, construction and operation of wetland parks, environmental

stewardship services and anti-seepage at landfill sites.

In connection with qualifications, as of 31 December 2021, the
Group held the following accreditations: First-grade Professional
Contracting Qualification for Environmental Protection Projects,
Second-Grade General Contractor for Municipal Public Works,
Third-Grade General
Environmental Engineering EPO License (Class B) (for pollution

Contractor for Construction Works,

remediation and prevention of water pollution), Environmental
Pollution Control License (Class A) (remediation of contaminated
sites) in Jiangsu Province, Environmental Pollution Control License
(Class B) (contaminated water body remediation) in Jiangsu
Province, General Contractor for Environmental Pollution Control
License (First Class) (remediation of contaminated sites) in Jiangsu
Province and General Contractor for Environmental Pollution
(Second Class)

remediation) in Jiangsu Province. It had also obtained an “AAA”

Control License (contaminated water body
corporate credit rating given by a credit rating agency, as well as
ISO9001, OHSAS18001 ISO14001
accreditations. In addition, the Group holds the China National
(CNAS)

qualification accreditation certificate which qualifies it to issue test

and management system
Accreditation Services for Conformity Assessment

data and results to third parties as valid proof for certification
purposes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As of 31 December 2021,
remediation projects under implementation, which were located

the Group had 13 environmental

variously in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province and Tianjin, with a
total contract amount of approximately RMB603 million. There
were also 3 projects in the preparatory stage, with a total
contract amount of approximately RMB122 million.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental
remediation projects contributed EBITDA of approximately
HK$42,182,000, an 8% to 2020.

remediation projects contributed net profit of

increase compared
Environmental
approximately HK$15,831,000, which was broadly unchanged
compared to 2020.

Major financial data of the environmental remediation segment for

2021 are summarised as follows:
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Environmental remediation projects
EBITDA (HK$'000)

BRAE IR FER
BEm AN CEETT)

42,182 39,223

Solar energy and wind power

As of 31 December 2021,
projects completed and in operation and 2 wind power projects

the Group has 16 solar energy

in operation located in Jiangsu Province, Anhui Province, Shanxi
Province, Hong Kong and Germany, respectively, involving a total
investment of approximately RMB1.418 billion and providing an
aggregate power generation designed capacity of 127.66 MW.
The Group is responsible for building, managing and operating
these projects and selling electricity generated to local power grid
companies.

During the year under review, the Group’s solar energy and wind
power projects sold approximately 282,976 MWh of electricity,
representing a 10% increase compared to 2020. The projects
contributed EBITDA of approximately HK$189,181,000,
representing a 4% increase compared to 2020. Solar energy and
wind power projects contributed net profit of approximately
HK$73,110,000, which was largely flat compared to 2020.
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Major operating and financial data of the solar energy and wind
power segment for 2021 are summarised as follows:

TECFRRBEERRES B 2T EELEY
BHEBHENT

Solar energy and wind power projects XRBEERREEER
On-grid electricity (MWh) EREE KR 282,976 257,781
EBITDA (HK$'000) BRAE - BiIE - TER

BRI AN K For) 189,181 181,365

With a consistent commitment to the dual emphasis on social as
well economic benefits, the Group has made vigorous effort in
driving energy conservation and discharge reduction. During the
year under review, the Group generated approximately 6,310,119
MWh of green electricity, which was sufficient for the annual
electricity consumption of 5,258,432 households, reducing
standard coal consumption by 2,524,048 tonnes and carbon
dioxide (CO,) emissions by 5,247,423 tonnes, while saving
820,315,462 trees. The Group also treated 725,662.3 m?® of
leachate in its waste-to-energy power plants and hazardous
waste landfills and removed 31,154 tonnes of chemical oxygen
demand.

Business Prospects

Since the conclusion of the 18th National Congress of the
Communist Party of China, China has devoted effort as never
seen before to the development of an ecological civilisation,
culminating in the full accomplishment of the periodic goals and
missions for the critical battle against pollution. In the next stage,
ecological protection initiatives will focus on the underlying issues
and trend-oriented issues of environmental pollution and conduct
in-depth environmental treatment in key regions and key
industries. Meanwhile, the Chinese economy has transitioned from
rapid growth to the new stage of qualitative growth. To drive the
transformation and upgrade of industry mix, Dual Carbon will
inevitably lead to extensive and profound economic revolution as
it ushers in a new low-carbon green era. With the ongoing
progress of the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, the development of
China’s ecological civilisation has entered into a critical stage
underpinned by a strategic direction focused on carbon reduction
to enhance synergy between waste reduction and lower carbon
emission and facilitate a change from quantitative to qualitative
improvement for the ecological environment.
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As a strategic plan for the next 40 years, the primary task of Dual

Carbon, in terms of timetable and roadmap, is to drive
adjustments to the energy mix and solve the problem of
resources and environmental constraints. On that basis, the
relevant competent authorities have proposed issue-specific policy
measures. Regarding energy, the “Pilot Scheme for Promoting
Rooftop Distributed Solar Energy” and “Guide Opinion for Energy
Storage Construction”

promulgated by the National Energy

Administration to procure further reduction of fossil energy
consumption and increase in the proportion of clean energy will
contribute to the blooming development of the new energy
sector. In connection with resources, the “Guide Opinion on the
Integrated Utilisation of Bulk Solid Waste”, published by the
National Development and Reform Commission with the aim of
enhancing efficiency of the utilisation of bulk solid waste
resources, calls for utilisation of high value added coal gangue, fly
ash and industrial tailings. In connection with the environment
sector, the second round of trial operations under the ecology-
oriented development model (“EOD Model”) launched by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment as part of its effort to
explore means of integrating ecological treatment projects with
resources and industrial development projects has presented new
opportunities in the environmental remediation sector. Given its
close accord with the positioning of the Group’s energy,
the Dual

strategy will definitely have a positive and profound impact on the

resources and environmental businesses, Carbon

Company’s transformation and development.
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While trading at the China Carbon Emission Trade Exchange
officially commenced in 2021, it has remained rather monotonous
in terms of participating principals, sectors and the purpose of
trading, and the varieties of products traded and model of trading
In 2022, the China

Carbon Emission Trade Exchange will undergo its second carbon

have yet to be enriched and improved.
trading contract performance cycle and will commence the
registration of China Certified Emission Reduction projects and
issuance of emission reduction quota. The critical task for the
development of the China Carbon Emission Trade Exchange in
the next stage would be looking for ways to expand its industry
coverage, gradually enrich the varieties, mode and principal of
trading and boost active market trading on the back of sound
operation of the carbon market for the power generation market.
As an environmental enterprise principally engaged in integrated
biomass utilisation, wind power and solar energy, the Group’s
projects hand out enormous potential in the development of
carbon emission assets. As such, the Company will enhance
management of its carbon assets and closely monitor the
development of the national carbon market.

In 2022, schemes and initiatives under the “14th Five-Year Plan”
will be intensively implemented, and the nation’s environmental
protection industry will welcome an important period of
opportunities for robust development under the profound impact
of the development strategy underpinned by the development of
the ecological civilisation and Dual Carbon. With the gradual
improvement in quality standard of the industry and the industrial
policies becoming more mature, market competition is set to
escalate. Amidst challenges as well as opportunities, the Group
continued to persist in development in “three dimensions”
extending the length of the industry chain, penetrating the depth
for more market shares and broadening the scope of our
business. By aiming at

“delivering value” and starting with

“reforms and improvements” alongside in-depth research on

measures and methods, the Group will drive quality and efficiency
improvement in the existing business while exploring new

business directions to seize new market opportunities.
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The Group will continue to persist in the business philosophy of
“reinforcing principal business” and “driving transformation” in a
further effort to reinforce the foundation of its principal businesses
and optimise its operational and management regime, while
guiding the Company’s transformation with technology innovation.
To solidify its foundation for development, the integrated biomass
utilisation business will vigorously drive the coordinated
development of the heat supply, kitchen waste and sludge
businesses, while promoting the experience of the fuel collection
and storage system to enhance the operational quality and
efficiency of projects. The hazardous and solid waste treatment
business will enhance its regional market coordination mechanism
to develop customer resources and procure further cost
reduction, so as to enhance its market competitiveness. The
environmental remediation business will improve its environmental
remediation work management regime by optimising its
environmental treatment model to continuously enhance its
credibility and strength.

To accelerate the pace of business transformation and upgrade,
the Group will conduct policy, market and technology research
with a specific focus on frontier developments of the industry and
identify higher quality markets, more advanced technologies and
projects with higher value, in order to reserve driving power for
the Company’s latest strategic transformation. Seizing market
development opportunities presented by the Dual Carbon goal,
the Group will vigorously advance the integrated energy service
business through the coordination of solar energy, wind power,
energy storage and the biomass projects in operation with a
special emphasis on the market for county-wide solar energy
projects, in a bid to forge a provider of one-stop services in
“Carbon Neutrality”. In the meantime, in tandem with a business
positioning underpinned by the integration of four areas:
environment, resources, energy and climate, we will also monitor
segments such as waste-free city development, resources
recycling and energy utilisation tiers, while actively expanding our
landfill remediation EPC business and strengthening the
development of businesses relating to contaminated sites, landfill
remediation and leachate treatment to usher in a new cycle of
value growth.

Moving forward, with the solid back-up of China Everbright Group
and strong support of CEEGL, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, and on the back of its extensive experience in the
development and operation of diversified project portfolios and
strong ability in market development, the Group will work in close
tandem with national policies and market trends with a firm
strategic focus, as it continues to uphold the corporate vision of
endeavouring to “Create Better Investment Value and Undertake
More Social Responsibility” and strive incessantly to become a
leader in China’s environmental business sector.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately HK$40,539,581,000 (31 2020:
HK$35,264,668,000) with net assets amounting to approximately
HK$14,145,367,000 (31 December 2020: HK$12,866,841,000).
Net asset value per share attributable to equity shareholders of

December

the Company was HK$6.66 per share, an increase of 10% as
compared to HK$6.06 per share as at the end of 2020. As at 31
December 2021, the gearing ratio (total
assets)
percentage points as compared to that of 63.51% as at the end
of 2020. The current
decrease of 18.70 percentage points as compared to that of
156.20% as at the end of 2020.

liabilities over total
of the Group was 65.11%, an increase of 1.60

ratio of the Group was 137.50%, a

Financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower the costs of
funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated
cash flow, proceeds from the issuance of medium-term notes and
ABN and bank loans. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
cash and bank balances of approximately HK$2,644,110,000, a
decrease of HK$82,943,000 as compared to HK$2,727,053,000
at the end of 2020. Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
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Indebtedness

The Group endeavours to develop a diverse range of financing
options and increasing banking facilities to reserve funds for the
development of its environmental protection business. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$20,551,096,000, an increase of approximately
HK$3,617,723,000 as compared to HK$16,933,373,000 as at the
end of 2020. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$9,720,331,000 (31 December
2020: HK$8,566,054,000) and unsecured interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$10,830,765,000 (31 December
2020: HK$8,367,319,000). The borrowings of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, representing
76% and 24% of the total respectively. The majority of the
Group’s borrowings were subject to floating rates. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately HK$24,334,199,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$22,038,898,000), of which approximately HK$7,907,465,000
(81 December 2020: HK$7,591,705,000) was unutilised. The tenor
of banking facilities ranged from 1 year to 18 years.

Foreign exchange risks

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong

Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong
(including Mainland China) may incur foreign exchange risks. The
Group’s operations have been predominantly based in Mainland
China, which makes up over 95% of its total investments and
revenue. The majority of the Group’s assets, borrowings and
major transactions are denominated in Renminbi, forming basically
a natural hedging effect. The Group closely manages its foreign
exchange risk through the optimal allocation of borrowings in
different currencies, moderate control of borrowings in non-base

currencies, and adoption of appropriate financial instruments.
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Pledge of assets

Certain banking facilities of the Group were secured by certain
revenue rights, contract assets and receivables in connection with
the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits,
mortgages on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group. As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate net
book value of assets pledged amounted to approximately
HK$21,584,176,000 (31 December 2020: HK$19,019,934,000).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had purchase commitments
of approximately HK$620,324,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$1,104,064,000) under the construction contracts and capital
commitments relating to capital injection in an associate and a
joint venture of approximately HK$36,535,000 (31 December
2020: HK$35,405,000) and Nil (81 December 2020:
HK$3,575,000) respectively.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).

Tax relief and exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) and Build-
Operate-Own (“BOQ”) arrangements in respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and certain
BOO arrangements are service concession arrangements under
Hong Kong (International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee) (“HK(IFRIC)”) Interpretation 12, because the local
government controls and regulates the services that the Group
must provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined service
charge. In respect of BOT arrangements, upon expiry of
concession right agreement, the infrastructure has to be
transferred to the local government at nil consideration.
Infrastructure for BOO arrangements is used in the service
concession arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

EEEM

REEETRITHEARNEBRBEFFLELHER
ETrzaTWERE AOEERBIRGIE - RIT
GH-WE BERSREZLZBERERAEEEE
BER RZEZ—F+-A=+—8 B&F
BEZREFEATEL B ®21,584,176,0007T

2T FA+ /B =+—8:BK
19,019,934,0007%) °

I

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—H AEEAREES
KM AT 40 2 FREE AR 48 620,324,000 7T (=&
—EFE+-A=Z+—H: #%¥1,104,064,000
L) UREFE -—FREE AR —RAEEDE
B B9 & AR E 9 Rl £0)8 #36,535,0000T (= F
—EF+ A =+—H8 : &%35,405,0007T) &
#w(-ET-TFE+-HF=+—H : B¥3,575000
JT) °

FHEAE

RZT-_—F+A=1t—8 AEELEEM
FHERE(ZTETF+_A=+—H &) -

BERRRBR

ARBPAMEATAABRRTEAEARRRD M
EARBRRNES

RIS HSRTF R E L B

AEEREBEBFIVEE — B% — #%
(IBOT)) KiziE — && — %A ([BOO)H %
B

AEBERB/AEBOTRHERE TBOOR I EE
B (ERMERE2BEZES)((FE (BRWH
BERBEZES))REF12% PHRBEHFL
BRERY - AAEMBMAES L EE GRS
MAEEVAERBEERGEREEREZR -
BOTRHME @ AR FFEERIHAD L A
EMRiESBEESEMWBNME - 1BOOLR B
mE - ERBFHFEERLEETAERZERR
Fait LB E S RN BB A fE R FHIE R -



39

Annual Report 2021
—E—FFR

Management Discussion and Analysis &2 &5t s & 27

The following chart sets forth a summary of the accounting FEREIIBEEEMEREED ([FEPMBRE
treatment for service concession arrangements and non-service 8| |) ¥ RIEIS LR T R IERIG ISR L L

BLHETTERREEIHME

concession arrangements under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”):

Projects with
guaranteed
revenue stream
ARE KR
=]

Projects fuffiling all of (1),
(2) and (3)
MREMN - QR
HEHIEE

@EER

CRITERIA &%

(1) The grantor of the project

controls or regulates what
services we must provide with
the infrastructure, to whom we
must provide the service, and
at what price
HEMRFEALRSHEE KM
WERERRE Z R - R
HRARRBER

(2) The grantor of the project controls,

through ownership, beneficial
entittement or otherwise, any
significant residual interest in the
infrastructure at the end of the
service concession arrangement
or the infrastructure is used in the
service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life
HEMREAERBETFEE
R HEA A RE - BB
G BamEamo iy g
B 2 ] KA FIEAF 2 -
shZE R B BIRB AT R
PR EERRFHAER

(3) The infrastructure is constructed

or acquired from a third party
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement or
is an existing infrastructure of
the grantor of the project to
which we are given access
for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement.
R R R RS A AT
ZHEE) B M RR B E =T
i REZARMEEMNER
AHBBEE - MR IH AR
SRR/ & T BER B R
A

-

Projects with
non-guaranteed
revenue stream
BREUWRTH
"AE

D

Other projects
HitIEA

Construction phase

ERER
Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised
or loss BRREE RS
Bamk — construction costs charged
EHBRRERAE
— finance income recognised
ERERFBEA

— the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as service

Statement of
financial position

SRR &R concession assets, which is an interest
bearing contract asset
REERBOEBLEER R LENEE
NIRBRATREREE

— finance income receivable is classified as
service concession assets
R BERADBRRBSFEEREE
Cash flow — payment for construction costs is classified
RenE under operating activities

BERAXNRASBELEEHET

no cash flow effect for construction revenue
and finance income
HEgRam kP BRALERSTEY

3 SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
PR GFFRREER

Operation phase

EEEE

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivables less partial settlement of the
service concession assets recognised during
the construction phase) recognised
BRI (RE R R TE AR
BRARRBEFCEREERER)

— finance income recognised

BHERMBKA

— service concession assets will be settled by
allocation of service fees received during the
operation phase
IR 745 o S A 4 4 K E G R OE T R IR B R
BEREN

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BURBRBERASEELEEHAT

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
B 5 45 RF A4S A 2 BF

Construction phase
R B

Statement of profit — construction revenue recognised

or loss BRREE NS
Bak - construction costs charged

EMEREEKA

- the consideration receivable for the
construction service is recognised as

Statement of
financial position

IR R intangible assets

RRERBHEKREERRELEE
Cash flow — payment for construction costs is classified
BHERE under investing activities

BEKAXNTESBREREEET
no cash flow effect for construction revenue
HEERRTERSREVE

Operation phase

BEERR

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognised
EHERE L W (B BRRHER)

— amortisation charge of intangible assets

BVAEBHEER

— intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life

T EE DA TR AT A F R IR E AR A M 5

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BEURBERSBEELEEHET

NON-SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENT
IR A4S R A E R R B

Construction phase

BB R
Statement of profit — nil
or loss &
B R

Statement of
financial position

— construction costs are capitalised as
construction in progress and classified under

B & property, plant and equipment
BEKAERMAEREIRIDEEYE -
BB RREET

Cash flow — payment for construction costs is classified

BeRE under investing activities

BEKAXNFRADBEERAEHRT

Operation phase

B

— operation revenue (service fee received/
receivable) recognlsed

BHEREE Wz (B BRREER)
— depreciation charge of property, plant and
equipment

¥ BERREHEER

— upon completion of the construction,
construction in progress is reclassified to the
relevant categories under property, plant and
equipment

MK ERREEN D EEYE W
B RREOEBERT

— cost of the infrastructure is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life

ERKAARHERFREERELRE

— service fee received is classified under
operating activities

BRBRBEADEELETHAT
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As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 104 projects
had completed construction or commenced operation and 10
in which 51
utilisation projects and 15 hazardous and solid waste treatment

projects under construction, integrated biomass
projects are accounted for as service concession arrangements.
Most of the integrated biomass utilisation projects and some of
the hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are accounted
for as service concession arrangements. The construction
contracts for the biomass portion of our integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects and some of our hazardous and solid
waste treatment projects are recorded under “intangible assets”,
while the construction contracts for the waste-to-energy portion of
our integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects and some of
our hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are recorded
under “service concession assets”.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the construction
revenue recorded under intangible assets and service concession
assets for projects accounted for as service concession
arrangements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31

December 2020.

Construction revenue recorded as additions to:

HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—H XEEHEHF104
EsETskE = E R10EEEIEE - Hf : 5118
EMEGREFAER K15EBEREEEEHEE
ABRIMERFG FATRE LS D IER &M
MARZEEMEREMNAEE RBH &R R ERE
EEHB ARIMERBETCERLH - £WE
Mo E—BEEEMEHY RETEER
EEEEEENEESCONBEEEIVE M
EYE RNREE—F(LIB B IR EE I KE
HEREREREEE B NEESONRBETL
EREEER TR -

TEREIEEZZTEZ—F+_A=+—AK=ZZ
—ZTFEF+_A=+—BIEFE  ARIMERGESE
S ETHNBENEREERRB TS
BEEE MEHEEREMBEMA -

BRISIERIBE M R WAt

2021 2020

—E-—F —TFTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Intangible assets EEE 1,148,285 2,304,535
Service concession assets RS EEREEE 588,332 2,158,094
Total “aEt 1,736,617 4,462,629
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Strengthening corporate management is the cornerstone that
ensures efficient, healthy and sustainable development of an
enterprise. The Group has always upheld a “People-oriented,
Pragmatic, Creative and Systematic” management philosophy, as
it continues to develop and improve its management system and
mechanism with a special emphasis on fostering a corporate
management culture that encourages participation by all
employees, so as to enhance management awareness and

effectively raise its management standards.

During the vyear under review, against the backdrop of the
persistent spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic and austere
conditions in the industry, the Group further enhanced its internal
management and sought to enhance efficiency through
improved the

management efforts as it “weekly meeting”

mechanism to strengthen the interaction between the
headquarters and the project companies, to follow up and jointly
solve issues in project operation in a timely manner with stronger
execution and operational competence. Focused on future
development, we advanced corporate transformation and upgrade
with more robust strategic guidance and a technology-driven

approach emphasising reform and innovation.

The Group is committed to the introduction of industry-leading
technologies to empower the investment, construction and operation
sectors, in an ongoing effort to enhance the enterprise’s ability to
produce benefit and efficiency. Informatisation in operation
management is vigorously promoted, extending the boundaries of
management and enhancing the standardisation, sophistication and
systematisation of operational management with the aid of
information technology. Comprehensive cost management on
projects has been implemented with the enhancement of cost
management awareness and the establishment of a long-term
system. Meticulous effort was devoted to the building of the
biomass fuel intake and transit regime and the power consumption
management regime of project plants, while the “cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement” initiative was vigorously promoted. Exchange
with
benchmarking and appraisal management. Inspirations were drawn

industry peers was broadened while deepening internal

from role-model vanguard projects to drive synchronous

development of all projects in a balanced manner.
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Improvements have been made to the risk management regime,
to strengthen know-how training and practical drills in relation to
the ESHS management system and risk management system. A
comprehensive risk inspection with collective involvement across
different departments has been organised to procure closed-loop
rectification of problems identified. To complement efforts of the
Internal audit department, “Risk management-oriented auditing”
has been incorporated into our audit process, whereby reviews on
the operating conditions and viability of our risk management
system from an audit point of view has been conducted to
ensure effective implementation and stringent execution of all
management systems.

The Group has always been highly concerned with legal
compliance of project construction and has rigorously
implemented requirements for work progress to ensure that the
commencement and construction of all projects are compliant
with relevant laws and regulations. In consistent adherence to the
operating principle of
Discharge and Excellence”,

“Distinction, Perfection and Near-zero
the Company has enhanced
management over projects in operation in terms of production
safety and emission compliance. Competitions in terms of four
“Expenditure Reduction, Efficiency

indicators, namely,

Enhancement, Energy Saving and Cost Control”, have been
organised across the board subject to assurance against
significant safety or environmental incidents. Moreover, a “Five
Minors Innovative Award” has been introduced to encourage staff
creativity and facilitate the Company’s high-quality development

through innovation.

During the year under review, the Company held management
committee meetings on a monthly basis to conduct reviews on
project investment, preparation, construction and operation. The
Investment Project Risk Review Committee and the Engineering
Technology Committee played their part effectively to review
project investments and construction plans according to stringent
standards. In the meantime, members of the Management
Committee deliberated on corporate transformation and
development strategies and important tasks of the enterprise in a

collective effort to drive the stable development of the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

With a special emphasis on human resource management, the
Group makes reasonable plans to structure its human resource
requirements according to the Company’s business development
rapid
development. During the year under review, the Group continued

trends to provide an ongoing drive force for its

to actively promote and attract talents through internal training,
open recruitment and on-campus recruitment, among others. We
seek to improve staff quality through different approaches, such
as collective external training, internal associations, technical
exchange sessions and personal learning programmes. The Group
has also provided different types of trainings designed to explore
the potentials of employees,
co-development with employees and sharing with them the

rewards of its business achievements.

with a view to achieving

To enhance technical exchanges and capitalise on its technical
resources, the Group made active efforts to build an internal team of
lecturers during the year under review and ensured continuous
in their teaching standards through selection
examination, training and education, so that they could pass on their

improvements

expertise to upgrade the skills of other employees. In addition to
induction training for new employees to facilitate swift integration,
special centralised training sessions for general managers, chief
commanders and back-up officers were also organised, contributing
to significant enhancement in management efficiency and
organisational effectiveness. To further enhance its talent pool, in
addition to on-campus recruitment of fresh graduates, competitive
appointment and selection of talents were promoted to seek internal
potentials, with a view to fostering a fair, equitable and open
environment for employee selection and appointment underpinned by
a stronger competitive sense and positive competition. Meanwhile,
the selection and training of back-up personnel has been enhanced,
such that staff with the right caliber and ambition can undertake
more appropriate positions to play to their strengths and enhance
efficiency.
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To establish a scientific and standardised human resources
management system, develop an effective and execution-friendly
mechanism conducive to the selection, training, appointment and
retainment of high-calibre talents and build a first-rate team of
talents, the Group announced during the year a series of
administrative measures, including “Administrative Measures for
Staff Recruitment and Appointment”, “Administrative Measures for
Staff Induction, Probation and Formal Employment”, “Regulations
“Everbright
Greentech Management Administrative Regulations for

for the Selection and Appointment of Officers”,

Remuneration and Benefits”, “Everbright Greentech Administrative

Measures for Staff Resignation” and “Everbright Greentech
Administrative Regulations for Officers’ Resignation and Turnover

of Duties”.

The Group is committed to foster a workplace characterised by
diversity, inclusivity and mutual respect at work for all employees
and believes that it should be safeguarded by a relevant mechanism,
under which everyone is entitled to equal opportunities for job
positions under the system. The Company also believes that the
availability of diverse talents is closely associated with corporate
development. Hence it is vigorously procuring talents from diverse
backgrounds and strives to foster a harmonious, inclusive and
diverse workplace for staff of different genders from different ethnic,
cultural or professional backgrounds.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had over 3,800 employees
in total in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Total staff cost for
2021 was HK$774,257,000 (2020: HK$638,850,000). Employees
are remunerated according to their qualifications, experiences, job
nature and performance, with reference to market conditions.
Apart from the discretionary performance bonus, the Group also
provides staff with other benefits such as medical insurance and
mandatory provident fund.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

During the year under review, the Group placed a stronger
emphasis on the effectiveness of risk control on the back of an
improved internal control and risk management system. Feasible
and effective risk mitigation measures were implemented by
improving the internal environment, enhancing dissemination of
information and conducting specific inspections, among others, to
address material risks of the Group which had been identified and
evaluated. Key risks associated with the development of the
Group’s environmental business included policy changes, trade
receivables, environmental compliance and safety management,
investment and business development, construction work budget
and cost management, as well as recruitment and staff allocation.
In addition to the above-mentioned material risks, the Group has
also implemented effective preventive measures against the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and continued to monitor global
climate change. In particular, contingency plans and reasonable
response measures have been put in place to address risks
which might result from extreme weather.

The risk of policy changes refers to the risk of failure to
respond to changes in national policies and business models in a
timely and effective manner resulting in an adverse impact on the
business of the Group, which will affect its compliance, operation
and finance. For example, this risk might result in higher
operating costs, greater pressure on emission or failure to obtain
new energy subsidies in a timely manner, thereby increasing the
pressure on operations. The Group has been closely monitoring
adjustments to national environmental policies and has been
actively involved in advancing national strategies and macro-policies
in tandem with the requirements of national development strategies
and environmental policies and prudent investment principles,
making adjustments to its development approach in response to
changes in environmental policies. In the meantime, we have
furnished advice and suggestions to relevant policy-making
authorities through industry associations and expert teams, in a
bid to ensure that the actual conditions and needs of the industry
would be taken into consideration by the nation in its policy
formulation. The Group has conducted in-depth and detailed
analysis on national industrial development strategies and made
pre-emptive moves in project deployment to explore new
business frontiers in response to national macro-control measures
and specific policies on the environmental industry. We intend to
seize development opportunities by employing innovative business
models, in order to accomplish the stated objective of sustainable
development.
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The risk of trade receivables refers to the risk of incurring bad
debt losses that would affect the Company’s profit and solvency
owing to the failure to collect trade receivables in a timely manner.
With a strong emphasis on trade receivable management, the
Group has announced and implemented pertinent rules and
regulations to conduct regular analyses on the overall profile of
trade receivables, on the basis of which specific call targets and
plans have been formulated to ensure reasonable trade receivable
turnover periods and the effective implementation of a mechanism
for collection. Appraisals of trade receivable collection have also
been conducted to effectively implement the clear-up of trade
receivables. Regular analysis reports on trade receivable collection,
including reports on ageing management and analysis management,
have been prepared. Cross-checking with clients has been
conducted on a quarterly basis to facilitate examination of trade
receivables. Regarding commercial customers, continuous
improvements to customer credit check have been made and a
management model comprising screening prior to granting credit,
supervision of the granting process, and designated tracking after
granting is being formed. Flexibility in credit policies and call
strategies are afforded in relation to different customers and
instant adjustments have been made to reduce the probability of
bad debts.
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The risk associated with environmental compliance and

safety management can be distinguished into the risk
associated with environmental compliance and the risk associated
with safety management. The risk associated with environmental
compliance refers to the risk of exceeding environmental emission
limits, safety incidents and adverse external conditions resulting in
an adverse impact on project construction and operation.
Excessive emission or illicit operations may in the worst case
result in administrative penalties, affect tax rebates and oblige the
Company to shut down or suspend operations, thereby
compromising its reputation. The risk of safety management refers
to the risk of safety liability incidents occurring as a result of
deficiencies in the safety management regime, imperfections in the
safety management system and ineffective implementation of
safety management measures, thereby affecting the reputation,
compliance and finance of the Company. The Group has
persisted in work design optimisation, stringent quality control
over project construction and efficiency upgrade for equipment in
a bid to enhance project management standards. We have also
exercised stringent control over emission indicators to ensure the
compliance with emission standards. The Group has consistently
procured the project companies to commence
technological upgrades.

information platform and appointed qualified

requisite
We have developed a centralised
environmental
third-party inspection bodies to conduct environmental monitoring
according to plans.
environmental emission data of its waste-to-energy projects in a

We have continued to disclose the

proactive move to subject itself to the supervision of the general
public. The Group has upheld the principle of “safety comes first
in development” and continued to improve, as well as resolutely
and consistently implement, its safety management regime, and to
fulfill its responsibility in safety management. The Group has
conducted itself in strict accordance with the ESHS management
regime with consistent implementation of the “Standard Operating
Procedure” (“SOP”) and formulation of contingency plans for
accidents. Safety inspections within the system have been
conducted monthly and quarterly to identify and eliminate safety
hazards and avoid safety liability incidents. The Group has also
conducted numerous sessions of safety training for the learning of
safety management knowledge and enhancement of safety risk
awareness, with a view to curbing any potential risks at source
and improving its safety management standards. Property and
liability insurances have been purchased based on the specific
conditions of individual

projects to transfer the risks as

necessary.
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investment and business
development refers to the risk of intense competition in the

The risk associated with

industry affecting the Group’s business expansion capacity and
the investment return of its projects, resulting in an impact on the
Company’s business development and financial conditions. The
principal operations of the Group, comprising integrated biomass
utilisation, hazardous waste treatment, solar energy and wind
power, are all subject to intense market competition. The Group
has refrained from unwarranted expansion, investment with
insignificant profit return and low price competition. We have
optimised our project evaluation system and procedure with the
establishment of the investment project risk examination
committee, which conducts examination on investment project
risks to enhance the quality of investment project evaluation and
strengthen risk management prior to investment in projects. The
Group places strong emphasis on building partnerships and
engaging in friendly information sharing with
enterprises in the industry to closely monitor movements and

leading fellow

trends in the industry. Market information is generated on a
regular basis to facilitate comprehensive monitoring and analysis
of competitors, market status, market investment information,
national policies and regulations, status of industry development,
frontier developments in technology and organisational management,
among others. Internal information packs such as the regular
monthly report on market development information and the annual
industry analysis report and national market investment guide are
prepared. Relevant competition strategies are formulated on a
regular basis according to market trends. Regular meetings are
held for project companies to facilitate information-sharing and put
together different ideas. Reference materials in the forms of
minutes, documents and special-topic publications are provided to
relevant departments for studying and to the management as
reference for decision-making.
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The risk associated with construction work budget and cost
management refers to the risk of incurring investment overruns
as a result of inadequate assessment of essential factors such as
technical requirements, design scheme, work schedule
requirements, project work quality and fundamental conditions for
construction, or inaccurate calculation of work volume, during the
thereby affecting the

Company’s financial conditions. The Group has been engaged in

stage of construction work budget,

ongoing efforts to enhance standardisation of work sites by
consistently substantiating its suppliers’ list to enable selection of
high-calibre partners, while exercising reasonable control over
budgets and cost estimation. During the year, the Group
enhanced the feasibility studies in depth and quality to bring them
closer to the design tasks and increase the accuracy of budget
estimates. The furnishing of information between the equipment
manufacturers and the design institutes was expedited, while the
order for information supply among various equipment was
internally clarified to facilitate the streamlining and implementation
of the accountability system for incorporation in the appraisal.
Thorough understanding of investments made in similar projects
was sought in our due diligence process at the preliminary stage;
thorough consideration was given to the feasibility and economics
of the technical processes at the stage of feasibility study; and
construction work was carried out in strict accordance with the
design scheme at the construction stage. Equipment tenders
commenced only after the completion of preliminary procedures.
Work progress requirements were strictly specified with specific
penalty terms in the tenders for civil engineering and installation
contractors. Control measures and assessments were
implemented at each milestone during the course of construction.
Optimised designs were sought to maximise reduction in
construction work cost. The suppliers’ list was expanded and
communication with suppliers (construction work contractors in

particular) was enhanced to lower project cost.
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The risk associated with recruitment and staff allocation
refers to the insufficiency of existing staff backup capacity or
establishment for important functions and positions, or inability to
recruit sufficient management and technical personnel (especially
the recruitment of technology team leaders) and experienced staff
affecting the fulflment of the Company’s strategic and operating
goals, thereby affecting the Company’s development, finance and
operation. The Group has sought to enhance its efficiency in
recruitment and expand its recruitment channels through a variety
of means, such as formulating plans to recruit talents from
relevant specialised tertiary colleges and exploring the
establishment of a long-term staff recruitment mechanism. We
have also commenced the assessment of specialised job skills to
procure better match between job requirements with staff
competence. The Group is committed to improving its overall
human resources management standard with greater efforts to
maintain and manage staff relations to enhance staff unity and
solidarity. Active efforts are being made to investigate the reasons
for staff resignation and improve relevant management processes,
with a view to making anticipatory preparations that would
alleviate the adverse impact of staff turnover on the Company’s
production and operation. More duty-specific training sessions
have been provided to enhance staff performance at job
positions.

HREASHERMREREANEBRBETIEREE
ZREEELABRETRE  HERGEBERHAN
EIEAR  BKMAR (KA ERMBEAT HS
MNMEEERNET  FEARAEBMNES
BIREENR - EMAARRHRER BiERE
EHENTE AERBEEBEZEN A TEIRITR
BYME hERABEE EURAREENSS
BRSIAAT OGS RREBAS S ERS -
BBMRBZERMBEFETIE  RAMLER
HABRINEERE - AEEBRIREAARR
AIBEANEREEEE  MNBB TRRMNEZ
MEE  REBTHRBZENMALN - HE T
BEGERRE EEERNEERRE AN
R RAOBBEANFLEERLENTE - &
B EE R - 3RS R T RKE



Annual Report 2021 51
—T—FFR

Management Discussion and Analysis B2 g & &k 247

Risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. The
COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant fluctuations in the
prices of raw materials and eco-friendly consumables, thereby
affecting the stability of the operation of project companies.
Undersupply of raw materials will prevent the projects from
reaching their design capacities, thereby resulting in an adverse
impact on the Company’s operations. Leveraging its strength in
scale, the Group has continued to drive technological innovation
and encourage staff inspiration, while promoting the experience of
advanced projects to enhance production and operational
management. Biomass fuel has been put to reasonable use and
resources within the system have also been allocated in a
reasonable manner. In connection with solid waste raw materials,
more types of materials have been processed in greater volumes.
Eco-friendly consumables have been put to reasonable use to
enhance efficiency. Ongoing effort has also been made by the
Group to broaden suppliers’ channels, such that reasonable
volumes could be maintained to ensure the sufficiency of raw
materials. As the pandemic has basically come under effective
control in China now, the Group’s project companies have started
to engage in normalised anti-epidemic measures. Staff health
conditions are being closely monitored and the health impact of
the pandemic is effectively countered through body temperature
monitoring, health code inspection, distribution and use of
anti-epidemic supplies and vaccination, thereby safeguarding the
normal operation of the Company’s production and business.
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Global climate change has left a material impact on the
environment for human survival and, as an enterprise dedicated to
environmental improvement, the Group has been monitoring such
issue on an ongoing basis. During the year, effective preventive
measures were adopted against risks for the Company’s project
construction and operation that might result from natural calamities,
such as flood, hailstorm, persistently high or persistently low
temperature, torrential rain, gale and thunderstorm, arising from
extreme weather conditions. Measures to address extreme weather
have been taken into consideration at the outset of project
design,
disasters.

in order to strengthen the projects’ ability to withstand
During project operation, plans are drawn up to
implement safety measures during extreme weather, while drills
are being organised to enhance our ability to deal with such
conditions. For projects susceptible to the impact of extreme
weather, such as solar energy projects and wind power projects,
relevant insurance have been taken out specifically, in addition to
due preparations in the stages of project design, construction and
operation, to avoid significant loss. Meanwhile, the Group has
actively participated in and supported government authorities in
the organisation of environmental projects conducive to the
attainment of Dual Carbon, especially projects on safe disposal of
waste, clean renewable energy and environmental remediation
projects relating to soil, the atmosphere and water bodies, in a
persistent effort to contribute to the improvement of the

environment.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has continued to make improvements to its ESHS
management system, driving ongoing upgrades in the external as
well as internal management of environment, safety, occupational
health and social responsibility and improving systematic,
regulated, standardised and delicacy management throughout the
Group to maximise control over relevant risks and eliminate
management deficiencies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2021, the Group focused on enhancing management over
operators of relevant parties and high-risk operations and
exercised effective control over operational risks with the drafting
of 9 standard regulatory procedures for high-risk operations and
the launching of 17 joint inspections on specific areas. Regarding
management, the environmental management
system was updated for better applicability with enhanced

environmental

process supervision and pre-emptive warning to ensure compliant
emission. In connection with epidemic prevention, the Group
vigorously fulfilled its social responsibilities on top of persistent
implementation of normalised epidemic control measures and was
commended and honoured by the government for sending
selected volunteers to assist the local governments of epidemic-
affected areas to handle infected medical waste.

The performance of the operations and environmental services of
the Group’s projects are gauged in strict adherence to relevant
standards and requirements of their respective environmental
impact assessment reports, taking into account the expectations
of the neighboring communities. Major laws, regulations and
standards applicable to the Group’s projects include the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the Standard
for Pollution Control on the Municipal Solid Waste Incineration
(GB18485—2014), Directive 2010/75/EU and its relevant Annexes/
Amendments, the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal
Power Plants (GB13223-2011), the Standard for Pollution Control
on the Hazardous Waste Landfill (GB18598-2019) and the
Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Incineration
(GB18484—-2020), among others. No breach of the said laws and
regulations and environmental standards resulting in significant
loss for and impact to the Group was recorded in 2021.
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AFEERBERE

Sustainability Governance Structure

AHEZRERARE

We are committed to incorporating the philosophy of economic, environmental and social sustainability into our
business and management practices, with specific responsible units named for the three dimensions of
supervision, decision-making and execution. During the year under review, the Company added the new
requirements for expertise and experience in responsibilities relating to risk management and sustainability in its
“Nomination Policy” to support the Company’s strategy and goals. Under the leadership of the Board, the
Sustainability Committee and sustainability working groups enable the senior management to work with the
subsidiaries and functional departments in a concerted manner with joint responsibility to drive the Group’s
sustainability efforts. The Sustainability Committee and sustainability working groups hold regular meetings and
report to the Board. Furthermore, our enterprise risk management process provides comprehensive coverage of
various risks, taking into account the effective preventive measures that were adopted against risks for the
Company’s project construction and operation that might result from climate change. Assisted by the Audit and
Risk Management Committee and the Sustainability Committee, the Board has reviewed our risks and
performance in sustainability to ensure that the Group has established and maintained an appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control system. The annual risk management review indicates that our
existing control measures are generally effective despite the macro-economic conditions and the higher risk levels
of individual risk factors owing to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Full text of the sustainability report will be posted on the websites — SEEhR A FEZEE RS BN ANFEERERRE -#
of Everbright Greentech under the section “CSR” on the ZEHXAKLEREMUFEHSEML] —RMEEE
homepage and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited XS NEZRARQF (B Mk -
(*HKEX”) later this year.
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Assessing and determining risks and opportunities relating to the Group’s sustainability, formulating relevant
management directives and supervising the effectiveness of work done, assuming overall responsibility for the
Group’s ESG strategies and reporting.

AEREEARENAKEERARNIKE  SIEHREEDHMEE TR BAKENRE
RERERAEREEMT-

Comprising the Chief Executive Officer and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors to assist the Board in the
implementation and supervision of the Group’s sustainability work and report to the Board on the Group’s
sustainability matters on a regular basis.

e RER

Sustainability Committee
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Formed by principals of relevant departments and staff members appointed by the principals, the “Operational

Sustainability Working Groups

AHEBRIFEIA

Management Working Group”, “Employment and Community Investment Working Group”, and “Compliance and
Risk Working Group” support the Group’s sustainability initiatives.
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Following the formulation of sustainability strategies in 2020, the
Group has identified 7 priority areas based on the sustainability
trends most relevant to its business. They include climate change,
circular economy, cyber security and data privacy, technological
development, supply-chain management, investment in
sustainability and employee inclusivity and equal opportunity. The
current review attests to our determination to “Create Better
Investment Value and Undertake More Social Responsibility”. The
progress of relevant initiatives will be presented in greater detail in

the annual sustainability report to be published later this year.
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Priority areas

BhT/EHE

Background

B

Performance and progress
during the year

FERRBMNER

Climate change

Emissions reduction targets have been
set for each country under the “Paris
Agreement”, aiming to control global
warming during the century within 2
degrees Celsius since the level of the
Industrial Revolution. In response to the
challenge of climate change, the Chinese
government and Hong Kong SAR
Government have announced the long-
term goal of achieving carbon neutrality
in 2060 and 2050, respectively. However,
climate change has already created
numerous problems, such as rising sea
levels, frequent extreme weather and
torrential rain that causes mudflows,
posing real threats to corporations
operating in different regions, such as
damage to equipment, staff casualties
and loss of data, among others.

e The Group actively reduced greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emissions and worked to
lower emissions in accordance with
international carbon reduction targets.
Moreover, professionals were invited to
conduct research on how to improve
quality and enhance efficiency at various
projects, with the aim of reducing energy
consumption and thereby lowering
GHG emissions. In Henan Province, for
example, the Xiayi Integrated Project,
Zhecheng Integrated Project and
Sheqi Integrated Project carried out
conversions to attain ultra-low emissions
during the year, which were expected to
reduce the emission of nitrogen oxides
and sulphur dioxide by approximately
320 tonnes annually.

e The Group conducted in-depth research
on market opportunities under the strategic
backdrop of Dual Carbon and actively
explored new business models, in a bid
to foster new growth poles. During the
year under review, we completed the
“Greentech Carbon Neutrality Research
Report” and the preliminary research for
developing carbon reduction assets to
prepare the Company for the development
of carbon reduction assets.

e The Group appreciates that it is imperative

to take the climate change issue into
consideration when formulating its policies
and long-term plans. We will conduct a
comprehensive analysis to further assess
the impact of climate change on our
business, so as to improve long-term as
well as short-term response measures,
such as contingency plans for extreme
weather and expanding sources for the
supply of raw materials, among others.
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Circular economy
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The circular economy stresses efficiency for
the use of resources. An increasing number
of corporations are exploring the feasibility
of incorporating such concept in their
business models, such as increased
recycling and extension of useful life of
products. The Chinese government has
amended the “Circular Economy Promotion
Law of the People’s Republic of China”
with the aim of enhancing efficiency in the
use of resources and achieving sustainable
development. The implementation of
stringent national and regional policies will
accelerate the general transformation of the
society to circular economy. As a result,
environmental enterprises will embrace
massive opportunities for development.

For identification purpose only

e The Group was driving transformation
in full force. The integrated biomass
utilisation business was steering
transition towards high value-added
operations, as we continued to
advance in our development in the
heat supply market; the hazardous
and solid waste treatment business
was steadily transforming into an
industrial environmental service provider,
underpinned by the successful launch of
the end-of-life tyre recycling business;
we entered the solar market for the
first time since our spinoff listing as our
business presence was extended to
Hong Kong. With a strong emphasis
on creating driving force through
technological innovation, the Group is
commencing technological research to
ensure our technologies meet the needs
of our business transformation.

e To implement the national and
provincial principle of giving priority to
water conservation, local regions were
actively driving water conservation
initiatives in cities to increase the
efficiency of water consumption;
following joint examination by multiple
parties, Everbright Biomass Energy
(Weihai) Limited, Everbright Biomass
Energy (Chuzhou) Company Limited*,
Everbright Biomass Energy (Lingbi)
Limited and Everbright Environmental
Energy (Lingbi) Limited* were granted
the status of provincial water
conservation enterprise for the year
2021. The Group will continue to
solidify its achievements in water
conservation to bring into full play its
role as an exemplary in water
conservation and consistently improve
its standard in water conservation
management.
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security and data

With the ongoing development of the
information-based society, cyber security and
data privacy has become one of the issues
that corporations are bound to face in their
operations. As an environmental enterprise,
we are required to process massive customer
information and environmental data in our
daily operations. Hence, we are subject to the
issue of cyber security and data protection on
a massive scale.

e The Group has formulated the

“Confidentiality Regulations” for the
protection of the Group’s confidential
information, including customer
information and privacy, against
illicit use. Staff privy to confidential
information are required to receive pre-
job confidentiality training. During the
year under review, the “staff cyber
information security awareness training

and cyber security management
_ - training for information management
officers” was arranged to enhance
staff awareness for cyber information
security and competence in preventing
and handling cyber security incidents.
e To enhance management of inside
information disclosure, the Group
amended its “Policy and Procedures on
Disclosure of Inside Information” during
the year, providing detailed guidelines to
all employees to ensure strict compliance
with pertinent laws and regulations.
Furthermore, we published the notice of
“Code of Corporate Conduct (Trial)”
during the year to specify the code of
conduct for all employees, including
compliance with national and corporate
regulations on confidentiality.
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Technological development

According to the “China Renewable
Energy Development Report 2019”
published by China Renewable Energy
Engineering Institute, China currently

ranks first in the world in terms of
installed capacity for wind power and is
expected to sustain rapid growth in the
future, thereby offering opportunities for
development to environmental companies
engaged in renewable energy. Conversely,
the rapid development of renewable energy
will oblige environmental companies to
upgrade their technologies and management

competence in this sector.

During the year under review, the Group’s
research effort focused on carbon
neutrality, solar energy storage and
charging integration, recycled of bulk
industrial solid waste, remediation of old
landfill sites, end-of-life tyre recycling and
incineration of hazardous waste with high
sulphuric and halogenic contents, which
provided support for the technical
feasibility of its new business categories.
The project for the “Development and
Application of Safe, Clean and Efficient
Incineration Technology for General
Combustible Industrial Solid Waste”, an
international cooperation project in
technology innovation of the Group
under the National Key Research and
Development Programme, commenced
successfully with preliminary completion
of interim tasks, and provided nationwide
technical support for 3 hazardous
waste incineration projects, including
Lianyungang Phase Ill, Haimen and
Wenling.

The Group developed the group
standards of the audit guide for
voluntary GHG emission reduction by
biomass power generation projects in
collaboration with BEIPA and formulated
the “Propositions Relating to Regulations
for Automatic Monitoring Data Marking
of Pollutant Discharge Entities in Thermal
Power, Cement and Paper Industries
(Trial)” to drive qualitative development

of the industry as a whole.
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Supply-chain management
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Supply-chain  management is closely
associated with corporate development,
and the environmental and social risks
inherent in the supply chain will affect a
corporation’s sustainability performance.
Therefore, efficient supplier management
will be one of the crucial trends for
sustainable development in the future.
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e The Group has formulated the “ESG
Policy” which specifically requires due
diligence on the supply chain to ensure
there are no practices of child labour or
forced labour in any form, serious health
and safety risks and environmental risks,
among others.

e The “Measures for Suppliers’ Management”
provides for the management of
suppliers by tiers, stipulating the
management duties of each tier such
as the development, inspection and
subsequent dynamic assessment of
suppliers, among others. Suppliers in
violation of rules will forthwith be
included in the list of disqualified
suppliers and be subject to restrictions
in participating tenders.
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Sustainable investment
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In recent years, as sustainability has
been increasingly valued by governments,
corporations and the general public,
investment in sustainable development
has become an
advance corporate sustainability and

as one of the directions

important means to

in future
development.
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In July 2021, the Company successfully
issued the nation’s first carbon-neutral
and rural vitalisation green panda
medium-term notes for an amount of
RMB1 billion. The successful issuance
of the carbon-neutral and rural
vitalisation notes represented Everbright
Greentech’s active response to and
solid implementation of China Everbright
Group’s action plan for Dual Carbon
expedition and transition to low-carbon
operation, as well as the rural vitalisation
scheme comprising “Four Principal
Plans” and “Creating 800 Projects”.

procure efficient

issue proceeds

In future, we will
application of the
to grasp opportunities in the green
business. We will continue to fully
utilise various financing instruments
in the bond market and facilitate the
issuance of the remaining credit limit
as and when appropriate to provide
long-term financial coverage for the
Company’s sustainable development.
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Staff inclusivity and equal As one of the important aspects of e In persistent adherence to the “people-

opportunity

sustainability, staff inclusivity and equal
opportunity has garnered
public attention.

increasing
People of different
genders, nationalities, cultural upbringings
and academic backgrounds as well
as those with disabilities will bring to
the enterprise ideas and insights from
different perspectives, enabling the
enterprise to develop new strategies to
address risks as well as opportunities that
might emerge in its operations.
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oriented” principle for development in
its daily operations, the Group attaches
great importance to the protection of
staff interests, which includes respect and
protection of human rights, the fostering
of sound employment relationship and
absolute prohibition of child or forced
labour. Moreover, we have formulated the
“Human Resources Management Policy”
for our Hong Kong employees during the
year to further regulate the process and
management of staff recruitment.

The Group practices equal treatment of
al staff and ensures equal opportunity
in recruitment, salaries and wages,
promotion, training and career
development; in the meantime, we
continue to develop a workplace with
gender diversity and ensure special care
for female and ethnic minority staff in
relation to holidays and benefits, working
environment, learning and group activities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group believes that maintaining sound and high standards of
corporate governance is not only a key element in safeguarding
the interest of the Shareholders but also creating long term value
for all relevant stakeholders by enhancing the corporate value,
accountability and transparency of the Group.

The Group has constantly reinforced its internal control, risk prevention
and management, corporate governance through a set of rules and
regulations. The Group strives to inculcate the corporate governance,
risk management and sustainable development concept into the
Company’s operation and business for cultivating the strong backup
to the breakthrough development of the Company’s business.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) has been adopted by the Board as
the guidelines of corporate governance practices of the Company.
During the year of 2021, the Company has fully complied with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.
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AN EFFECTIVE BOARD

BRNESE

Road map to an effective Board
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RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for formulating business policies
and strategies, directing and supervising management of the
Group, adopting and monitoring internal business and
management control, approving and monitoring annual
budgets and business plans, reviewing operational and
financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s systems of corporate governance, ESG, internal
control, and risk management. It oversees the task of
making decisions in the best interest of the Company and
maximizing the financial performance of the Company. The
Board has delegated the daily operations and the execution
of Board policies and strategies by formulating and
implementing of annual work plans and medium-term
development plans for the Group to the management
committee of the Company (“Management Committee”). The
Company formalized the functions reserved to the Board
and those delegated to Management Committee.

Management Committee holds meeting every month for
discussing and reviewing the investment proposals, key
personnel matters and appraisals, project schedules, budget
executions, etc.

The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, to oversee the
particular aspect of the Company’s affairs. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

The Board acknowledges that it should take leadership for
and accountability in promoting a top-down culture to
ensure ESG considerations are part of the business
decision-making process. Our comprehensive sustainability
governance structure ensures the smooth implementation of
sustainable development. A general description of the
structure is set out in the section headed “Summary of the
Sustainability Report” on pages 56 to 57 of this annual
report. Details of the same will be stated in the 2021
sustainability report of the Company.
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The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expenses in carrying out their
duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information in relation to the Group’s businesses and affairs
as well as unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing
Directors with board papers and related materials. The
Company provides monthly updates to the Board members
on the Company’s performance and position to enable
them to make a balanced and understandable assessments
on the Company’s performance, position, and prospect.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes that a formal, objective, and open
assessment on a continuous basis can enhance the
effectiveness of governance structure of the Company.
Through the annual board evaluation exercise, each Director
can share his/her opinions and concerns to the Company,
which enhances Directors’ accountability. The evaluation
also enhances the continuing improvement and development
of the Board and the Board committees by reflecting on
their respective performance during the vyear, in turns
improving board effectiveness and maximising its strengths.
The Company Secretary acts as a bridge between the
Board and the management of the Company, delivers the
Board’s opinions and concerns to the management, which
in turn can take appropriate actions and report to the
Board.

During the year under review, the Company conducted a
board evaluation in the form of a questionnaire with a peer
comparison, which took into account 5 key board
performance and corporate governance areas, including
Board structure, performance of the Board and Board
committees, independent views, communication with
stakeholders and professional development, allowing each
Board member to rate relevant items in different areas. The
Company Secretary conducted statistics on the evaluation
results which concluded that the self-evaluation of the
Board was at a mid-to-high satisfying level, and had
reported the evaluation results to the Nomination Committee
and the Board.
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LEADERSHIP AND INDEPENDENCE

Mr. WANG Tianyi is the Chairman of the Board and
Mr. QIAN Xiaodong is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer are
clearly divided to ensure a balance of power and authority
and to reinforce their independence and accountability.

Mr. WANG Tianyi, being the Chairman, is responsible for
providing leadership to the Board and ensuring that the
Board functions effectively; that Directors receive in a timely
manner adequate information which is complete and reliable
and that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chairman also encourages Directors
to participate actively in and to make a full contribution to
the Board so that the Board acts in the best interest of the
Company.

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, being the Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for the daily operations of the Company,
execution of business policies, strategies, objectives and
plans as formulated and adopted by the Board and leading
the management of the Company.

In compliance with rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting and financial management. The
Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence and considers them to be independent in
accordance with the guidelines for assessing independence
set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee has reviewed and concluded that there is no
business or other relationships with the Group or
management that are likely to affect, or could affect their
independence.

Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and
nature of office held in Hong Kong and overseas listed
companies and organizations, and their other significant
commitments. Biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 109 to 114 of this annual report.
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The Company has maintained an updated list of its
Directors identifying their roles and functions on websites of
the Company and HKEx. Independent Non-executive
Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

COMPOSITION AND NOMINATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Board consists of 9
members, including:

Mr. WANG Tianyi (Non-executive Director and Chairman)

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong (Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer)

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Executive Director and Vice President)

Mr. LO Kam Fan (Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer)

Ms. GUO Ying (Non-executive Director)

Mr. SONG Jian (Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHOW Siu Lui (Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. Philip TSAO (Independent Non-executive Director)

Prof. YAN Houmin (Independent Non-executive Director)

All Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a specific term. Under the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”), the term of service as a Director is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election. The Board is
empowered to appoint any person as a director to fill the
casual vacancy on or as an additional director of the Board.
According to the “Board Diversity Policy” and “Nomination
Policy”, the Board considers a candidate’s gender,
experience, skill and knowledge and competency and ability
to fulfill duty of care and diligence and fiduciary duties and
recommendation by the Nomination Committee (if any).

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, Mr. LO Kam Fan and Mr. SONG Jian,
are subject to re-election at the next annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”) and retirement by rotation
in accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles
of Association.
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Board Diversity

The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to
provide sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the
interests of Shareholders and the Group and recognized the
effectiveness of the “Board Diversity Policy”. Conforming to
the international trend on board diversity, a female Director
was appointed. The Board also believes that the views and
participations of the Independent Non-executive Directors in
the Board and committee meetings provides independent
judgment on the issues relating to strategy, performance,
conflict of interest and management process to ensure that
the interests of all Shareholders are considered and
safeguarded.

As at 31 December 2021, the diversity of the Board is as
below:
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The Directors come from diverse background with varied
expertise in finance, legal and business fields. All Directors,
including Independent Non-executive Directors, have given
sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.
Independent Non-executive Directors have provided
professional advices to the Board with their diversified
expertise and experience. In close adherence to national
strategies and seize opportunities for development
presented by Dual Carbon, the Nomination Committee
identified professional knowledge and experience in
sustainable development responsibility as being a new and
crucial selection criterion when selecting a director.
Nomination Committee has identified skills and experiences
being the measurable objectives that should be contained in
the Board and the relevant assessment was conducted:

WANG QIAN

EFRETRAER  TEAMEK  AEEE -
FREEESARCEENH - BREEY
FRTEFEAZERES CRAEHE
ERNHERLEREZ N - HUIFRITE
EFERBRETAZEXZNHRLELER [
EEeRHtEXER BEEMBERERE
TremEREE REZESC AR
BRRETITENEXENBNERETR
BTESENFBARGEREE-RREE
SO URENERERETTRMAAN
AR EEER - WETHBR G

Directors
=

LO GUO SONG CHOW  Philip YAN

Tianyi Xiaodong Zhigiang Kam Fan Ying Jian Siu Lui TSAO Houmin

Measurable objectives to
the Board
EEQUHRER

Qualities required

FABHRERR

Leadership skill and
experience
BEA R ERLER

Outstanding leadership qualities and v
the ability to identify and develop
the talents of other employees.
Hands-on understanding of the
Company, projects, strategies and
risk management, as well as know-
how in driving reform and growth.
AERFFEAMBERE - KRR
BRAMBTAAEE - HARA B
B BRANRREEEERIEMR I
B HE BB E A R o

As the Company measures its
operational and strategic performance

Financial skill and
experience

WIS B AL B by reference to financial goals,
understanding finance and the
financial reporting process, and
accurate financial reporting is
of paramount importance to the
Company’s success. It is also
essential to understand that the
climate change risk will directly result
in financial risk.
ERARAEL2EHBARREER
18 0 MR AR - 3B R B S N B s
BREREENTBRELNARR
MKW EBER - 7TRAGEE(RR
CEESIBMBRERTIIFTEE -

IXRE 8EX

BER  EBE BH Ry BIE EBRE BER




Measurable objectives to
the Board
EZENHRER

Industry experience
TEER

Marketing experience
AR

Government experience

Corporate governance
experience

REERER

Qualities required

FABHNKERR

Leadership in the environmental
industry.
ERRITERE R BEION -

Understanding the sustainable development
trends and seize opportunities presented
by national environmental policies on
reduction of carbon emission to explore
new business. Achieving the Company’s
business growth through product
optimisation and development of new
businesses. Paying special attention
to the development of overseas
markets in order to diversify future
development.

THAKERRBY  EREERRR
RBER X SR B PR T o BB B
EmMPA BT EBRER AR A XS
MR - RERRRSEAER K
RIRTBINTSNERE -

Experience in liaison with the govemment.
The environmental business is subject to
stringent regulation and under the direct
impact of governmental behaviour and
socio-economic trends.

AR HELFTMEAR - RREBZE
BIREE - WEERIBFTAME
BRBEBEOTE -

Supporting and providing recommendations
on the system of Board and management
accountability to enhance transparency,
with the ultimate aim of safeguarding
Shareholders’ interests, and creating long-
term value for all relevant stakeholders.
TREHERSNEREREIRME
i INERE  RERRFNZER
REBR - WAMAEBRENELIE
RHEE-
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Directors
-
WANG QIAN YANG LO GUO SONG CHOW Philip YAN

Tianyi Xiaodong Zhigiang Kam Fan Jian Siu Lui TSAO Houmin
IXE SRR KIBR ESH Eif Rt BrE ERE BER

Measurable objectives to

the Board Qualities required

EFEHRER FEBHRERE

Knowledge on Possessing expertise and know-how v v v v
sustainability and for issues relating to climate related

corporate responsibility topics, enhancing Board supervision

HAFBEEREAMEER over sustainable development and

ERRH ensuring the achievement of strategies

and delivery of long-term shareholders
and stakeholders’ value under a
responsible sustainable business
model.

HREEBEZEELFBEFINB R
B MABEFESHARKEERNE
B UHREEETNHATFERBE
XPERBBANRRERFHEAE

RHEE-
Risk management Supervising risk exposures and v v v v v
experience opportunities of the Company from
RS EBER the perspective of the Board (including

ESG risks and opportunities).
EEFENARRE  EEARTR
R RBAEE (BERE  HeRE
JRRBRAEE)

Talent management Conducive to the Company’s effort v v

AT ER to attract, motivate and retain
valuable and talented staff to ensure
the continuous supply of talents
during the implementation of the
Company’s strategies. Having a good
understanding of the implications
of “diversity and inclusivity” and
dedicated to the promotion of
employee diversity, especially gender
diversity.
BEHRARBRS - BERBEEE
BERBEFENET  UBEREBEA
RARBHBREDHBREAS - &
[ZRABINERE —EMNRA &
hiEsEE Z ik FRIRMERIZ T

e
Nomination Committee REZEY
The Nomination Committee currently comprises Mr. WANG REZECSHRAESETEIR/IRELLE
Tianyi (chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and all 3 (XE)  ERE2B="FBIIIFRTEEH
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu NEEE - BAREBERENMEERFIRAN -
Lui, Mr. Philip TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin. Details of the RIBE-_—FREEEKERKELEFRL
committee’s membership and members’ attendance records BEFIS  FIH R A EFEETE ©

during 2021 are set out on page 87 of this report.



The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies, reviewing and reporting the board diversity to the
Board and considering the need for identifying suitable
persons to become directors and made recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are published on the websites of both the
Company and HKEX.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 1 Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The Nomination Committee
has reviewed the “Nomination Policy” and the structure,
size, composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) and performance of the Board and the
qualification and experience of each of the Director
according to the “Board Diversity Policy” and the
“Nomination Policy”. It has also reviewed the appointment
letters of 2 Non-executive Directors and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors, considered the independence of
each of the Independent Non-executive Director and
assessed the qualification and experience of the Directors to
be retired and entitled to be re-elected at the AGM. The
aforesaid reviews were recommended to the Board.
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The “Board Diversity Policy” was adopted during the year.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, length of service,
skills and/or professional experience. Other than the above
factors, the Company will also consider factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidate(s) will bring to the
Board.

In consideration with the strategies and objectives of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes a prime role on
board recruitment, including the appointment, re-appointment
or/and redesignation of the director(s), to ensure the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the business
of the Company. When considering a candidate nominated
for directorship or a director’'s proposed re-appointment,
the Nomination Committee will make reference to certain
selection criteria, such as potential time commitment
for the Board/committees responsibilities, reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience in environmental
industry, independence of the candidate and governmental
or geopolitical expertise. Nomination committee will review
annually the structure, size and diversity of the Board, external
agencies for collecting impartial opinion in the nomination
procedure may be engaged if necessary. The Board, having
the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Director(s), will contemplate the recommendations from the
Nomination Committee when considering candidate(s) to be
appointed or re-appointed as Director(s).
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As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
had
(including senior

reviewed the gender diversity of the workforce

management) for the year ended
31 December 2021. The gender diversity of the workforce

is as below:

Total staff headcount: 3,889

i
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The Group recognizes great importance to nurturing local
talents and supporting the development of female
employees, and has implemented a number of measures to
promote the gender diversity of employees to ensure that
female staff are sufficiently cared for in terms of holidays
and leaves, workplace, learning and group activities, so that
they could develop their talents to the fullest through work
and lead a fulfiling life. The Group shall continue to make
ways in achieving gender diversity in the workplace.

ENTIRE WORKFORCE 0
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The Company recognizes the importance of Board
succession planning to ensure optimal continuity and that
the Board is composed of members with proper and
relevant expertise and skills to govern and strengthen the
Company effectively. To empower the basis of talent pool of
potential candidates, the Company continues to develop a
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for
the positions of senior management and directorship, by a
series of training courses.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board
in preparation of the agenda for the Board meetings and
Board committee meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations regarding the meetings are followed.
She also acts as the secretary to the 3 Board committees
and Sustainability Committee. She prepares and keeps
detailed minutes of each Board meeting, Board committee
meeting and Sustainability Committee meeting. Within a
reasonable time after each meeting, the draft minutes are
circulated to all Directors or committee members for
comments and the final and approved version of minutes
are sent to all Directors or committee members for their
records. Board committees, including the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, all follow the applicable principles,
practices and procedures used in Board meetings. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for organizing Board
trainings for all Directors and circulating to all directors
materials relating to the Directors’ jobs and duties for their
review.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man possesses professional qualification
and extensive experience in discharging her duties as the
Company Secretary of the Company and she is an
employee of the Company and directly reports to the Chief
Executive Officer.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Company Secretary of the
Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As
a key adviser on corporate governance and other regulatory
compliance matters, Ms. CHOW Wing Man keeps
up-to-date with the regulatory, legal and ESG developments
relevant to the Company that she serves.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board emphasizes in creating long-term sustainable
growth for Shareholders and delivering long-term value to all
stakeholders. Communication is critical to good governance.
The valuable recommendations contributed by each
committee are highly valued by the Board and the Board
takes proactive actions to put the recommendations in
place. Facing the major international trends of climate
change and circular economy, Everbright Greentech, as an
environmental enterprise, endeavors to implement the
development of ESG, it also strives to seize the business
opportunities derived from them. The Board often discuss
and give supportive suggestions on these international
trends in the meetings. Staff is the valuable asset of the
Company. Specific sessions were conducted for collecting
opinions from the staff of project companies and
headquarters. The topics of those sessions relate to
technical management, construction work management,
talent grooming, remuneration and incentive, team
integration, etc. Senior management would listen to their
views and suggestions to reconsider or adjust its
operational and management thinking to formulate
management regimes and systems which are compatible
with its corporate development.
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Other than providing the ESG related trainings to the Board
and senior management as stated in the section of “Attendance
of Meetings and Trainings of Directors of the Company in
2021” subsequent below, the Company appreciates staffs’
personal development are closely associated with the
Company’s development. To strive for better performance,
in 2021, sustainability working group members strengthen
their work capacity by gaining the qualifications relating to
the Company’s ESG performance and reporting, such as
Certified Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst
(CESGA®) awarded by The European Federation of Financial
Analysts Societies (EFFAS), Chartered Governance Professional
awarded by The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, “HKCGI”) and GRI Certification Training Program.
The sustainability working group members also actively joined
the ESG related forums and seminars arranged by HKEx and
professional bodies.

The Company adopted and implemented a series of policies
and procedures to ensure the good corporate governance
is maintained, including but not limited to “Risk
Management Policy”, “Policy and Procedures on Disclosure
of Inside Information”, “Whistleblowing Policy” and
“Shareholders Communication Policy”. Those policies and

procedures are reviewed and monitored periodically.

Board Meetings

During the year of 2021, the Board held 5 meetings. In
addition to Board meetings, the Chairman held 1 meeting
with Independent Non-executive Directors annually without
the presence of Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board has considered, approved, reviewed
and/or formulated the matters summarized below, including
but not limited to:

° Financial results of the Company;

° Reports and recommendations from the Board
committees;

BTN ZEZ—FARaESHEEER
Btk — A AEEERAMEEA
BIRMEEIRE g REAMBBEREIIN
RABRAEEIMEAZERERRD AN E
REZYIMARE - BEUSEERE  RZT=——
FAFBERIGNVEKEERESR
RARAFIRE HERELRBERBREEH
MER RN TMEeH s
(EFFAS) R FBIRIE - (L2 NE RS
£l (CESGA®) » BB A RLAEAE (ATEES
SHMWELS  [EERRAEAT]) HE
TR EERE X ABRGRIREEIIFT
ElLAMeR BT VEaE ) - A EER TN
ERENBEBR2MBARMEREERER
BEHIRE - g RES @RISR E -

ARRRMBIL BN — RINBRRERF - A
BRERRIFNEXER  BRETER
(RREENE) (AR BEEWEBEREKME
)~ (BB EHIE) RCRRBABEK) -
ARAAEHMEEMEEZFBR IR

EEZggE

RZEZ—FERN EFFHRITTORE
FoRESTEIIN  EEEBIIENTE
EEFRITIRARTESRIEPTESEE
WEH EFCCHE U FHR X
FIEMEE Bl T (2FEERRER)

o AKRFAYPHERE

s EEZX

Bl
iz

RS ER

ik



Announcements/reports for publication, including
release of interim and annual report and sustainability
report;

Declaration of interim dividend and recommendation of
final dividend;

The effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems for the year of 2021;

“Waste Management Policy”, “Energy Management
Policy” and “Water Resource Management Policy”;

Entering into a bidding agency agreement with a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL;

Further disposal of underlying assets under ABN Series |
2021;

Continuing connected transactions;

Revision of terms of reference of Management
Committee and division of responsibilities of
Management Committee members;

Revision of “Code of Corporate Conduct (Trial)” and
“Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information”;

Investment transactions;
The adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the

Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

Any possible improprieties raised out through the
“Whistleblowing Policy”; and

Training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.
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At least 14 days’ notice prior to the date of regular Board
meetings is given to all Directors and an agenda together
with Board papers are sent to all Directors no less than 3
days before the date of meeting. All Directors are given
opportunity to include in the agenda any other matter that
they would like to discuss in the meeting. With respect to
the Board committee meetings, reasonable prior notice is
given to all committee members. All Directors and Board
committee members are urged to attend the Board
meetings and Board committee meetings in person. For the
Directors and committee members who are unable to
attend the meeting in person, participation through
electronic means will be arranged and available.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a
matter being considered in the Board meeting, he/she will
be abstained from voting. Independent Non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings dealing with such conflict of interest issues.

When approving a connected transaction, apart from the
fairness of the agreement terms, the Independent
Non-executive Directors also consider the commercial
rationale and the benefits brought by the proposed
transaction to the business of the Group.
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Attendance of Meetings and Trainings of —EC-FARPRAEESHEEERIEI
Directors of the Company in 2021 0 8%

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of TXHENSEEHE_T = —F+= A
the Board, Audit and Risk Management Committee, =+—H t@r%%%‘\ %ﬁ&ﬂ % E
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and AGM BZEg FWEEe  REZEeEER
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out Hx%@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ@ﬂjfaﬂﬁ :

below:

Board Committees Meetings Attendance

HEESZEES;
Audit and Risk
Management Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors Meeting* Meeting* Meeting* Meeting*
ERRABER FHEES REEES
EEpR EEged ZEEEH" 23 25
WANG Tianyi 4/5 C 11 C 11
FRE
QIAN Xiaodong 5/5 M 11 M 1/1
R
YANG Zhigiang 5/5 M 11
157558
LO Kam Fan 5/5 M 1/1
E R B
GUO Ying 5/5 M 0/1
BT E]
SONG Jian 5/5 M 1/1
RIR
CHOW Siu Lui 5/5 M 3/3 C 11 M 11 M 11
;=
Philip TSAO 5/5 M 3/3 M 11 C 11 M 0/1
YAN Houmin 5/5 M 3/3 M 11 M 11 M 11
BER
Remarks: ik -
Board and Board Committees Membership: EEeBEELZESKE -
C — Chairman C—xf&E
M — Member M—F% B
Note: B 5E -

* Number of meetings attended/held. * L/ BITEFRRE -
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During the meetings, Independent Non-executive Directors,
based on their respective expertise and experience as well
as the perspectives of minority Shareholders, actively
brought out valuable opinions and queries in order to allow
the Board to have comprehensive analysis and decisions on
each issue. According to the Board evaluation result in
2021, it was recognized that the Directors had been able to
seek external independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances to assist them in the performance of their
duties as reasonably required, had made significant
contribution to the Board by actively participating in the
Board and committees meetings and had provided
independent, constructive and well-founded opinions.

According to the Board evaluation result in 2020, the
Company Secretary arranged two Board trainings with the
title of “Forward looking challenges: setting ESG goals and
themes (RTIEIEPKEL « FREESG BIZEFM T [A)” organized by
external sustainability consultant and “Exploring ESG of the
Board and climate governance (iF& & E&ESGMAEE
I#)” organized by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
Other than the above, the Directors participated in the
seminars relating to anti-corruption and/or the seminars in
ESG Academy. They have read regulatory/legal updates and
other materials pertinent to directors’ duties and
responsibilities. To meet the expectations and practical
needs of the Directors, the Company Secretary has
obtained the views of the Directors through a questionnaire
and has consolidated their views, which will be
progressively advanced as appropriate.

Eegdt BYFATEERESENE
ENEELRARDBBEROEE  BR
REBEEANENR BRSESSRY
EEFBREHEZ2OMMRE RE-F
THFEERTEER ERUESENE
BN TEAZTRINEBILEXRE R
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NEEENZEEREREZTSFHENXN
BRYREBY BRUELEATINE
H o

BRE_Z_TFEESTHER RAW
ER TP RIS EERER RN A
M PkE; : BRFESGEEMA M| RAES
EE2eR N[ R ESSESGNARE
BIMRESFSHEI) - HRLiliEN E52
SHEBREBNHTE R HKESG
Academyfft il & - i MBIE B B E F T
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Record of training received by each existing Board member
in 2021 is summarized below:

Name of Directors
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REEFGERNER S —FEZNE
ElEE=d 18 U

Types of Training
EI|R

WANG Tianyi FR&E
QIAN Xiaodong EEER
YANG Zhigiang 5 7 o8
LO Kam Fan = 57 &)
GUO Ying 2f A

SONG Jian ENI

CHOW Siu Lui 2N
Philip TSAO BARE
YAN Houmin BER

Remarks:

A — Attending seminar(s)/forum(s) and/or giving talk(s).
B — Reading materials.
C — Attending corporate event(s)/visit(s).

Taking an Active Interest in the Company’s Affair

Other than attending regular meetings, the Directors take an
active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain a general
understanding of its business. Since the outbreak of the
pandemic, traffic has been blocked, therefore the Executive
Directors visited the project companies when the pandemic
was under control, or monitored project operation and
employee health and safety through electronic
communications from time to time.

Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, the Independent Non-Executive Director,
is also one of the persons in charge of whistleblowing case
handling, and had joined the online open-to-the-public
activity held by Fengyang Integrated Biomass and
Waste-to-Energy project on 3 November 2021. To enhance
online interaction, the live cast Q&A session was brought.
Questions raised by Mr. CHOW relating to the emergency
response and preparedness training were answered by staff
of the Fengyang Project.

A B
A B
A B
A B
A B
A B
B, C
A B
A B

CEX
A— BTG BER KERRS
B— R -

C— B LA, B -

BBEIARAEH
BREEERGEN EEMEERIAR
AR - BREEAXBNN - ARERE
PABR - ZGBAEREME - Bt - IITESER
BRETHABIERQARZR A TKE
BETRA HBEELERSTRERE
BETHHAER -

BUFATESTH R EETREERR
BERONBEAZ - BR_F_—F+—
AZAZ2NMEBEYME R FEE R
BEERNKREAFREY - RIAKRLEE
B ARPSIARGERERETRD - RIBERER
METOETHELERREEBESEE
K EEERA A
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To complement with the development of the laws and
regulations and investors’ expectations, the Company
established a sustainability governance structure. Sustainability
Committee, setting up with terms of reference, comprises the
Chief Executive Officer as the chairman and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors as the members of the committee.
The committee members can directly learn about the latest
development of the Company’s operations and talent
development in the meeting. From the perspective of
sustainable development, the Independent Non-executive
Directors, leveraging their knowledge and experience, could
provide the management of the Company more pertinent
and directional opinions, assisting the Company to control
risks and capture opportunities. During 2021, Sustainability
Committee has reviewed the 2020 sustainability report,
discussed the new updates on ESG disclosure requirements,
discussed the plan of targets setting on waste emission,
exhaust emission, energy use, water resource use and carbon
reduction, and reviewed “Waste Management Policy”, “Energy
Management Policy” and “Water Resource Management
Policy”.

According to the assessment of the Nomination Committee,
our Directors are able to devote sufficient time and effort to
perform their duties, despite some of them are holding
multiple directorship positions or important tasks in
universities.

Compliance with Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.
Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors
regarding any noncompliance with the Model Code and all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
provisions of the Model Code for the year ended
31 December 2021.
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Written guidelines were established for the relevant
employees, including certain employees of the Company,
certain directors or employees of its subsidiaries (the
“Relevant Employees”), in respect of their dealing in the
Company’s securities.

Policy and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information

The Board has formally adopted the “Policy and Procedures on
Disclosure of Inside Information” which contains the guidelines
to the Directors and the Relevant Employees to ensure that
the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated
to the public in an equal and timely manner in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations. The monitoring
system is established to set up formal escalation path of
material information in relation to the business, finance and
operations of the Group and such information is escalated to
headquarters in a timely manner. Chief Executive Officer, in the
assistance of the finance department and company secretarial
department, determines whether such information constitutes
inside information within the meaning of Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws
of Hong Kong (“SFO”) and whether disclosure requirements
are needed to be fulfilled. External advisers may be engaged
if needed throughout the process.

During 2021, to enhance the awareness of the specified
procedures of handling inside information and the
importance of compliance with the regulations of insider
dealing, the inside information policy and monitoring system
were updated. Such policy, together with the enforcement
actions taken by the Securities and Futures Commission
relating to insider dealing, were circulated to the Relevant
Employees from time to time.
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Whistleblowing Policy

In order to maintain business integrity and promote a
healthy working culture, a fair and effective “Whistleblowing
Policy”, complementing with a confidential handling
mechanism, is adopted. The scope and purpose of
“Whistleblowing Policy” is stated in the Company’s website

at https://www.ebgreentech.com/en/about/ewp.php.

As stated in the “Whistleblowing Policy”, the Company
prohibits the disclosure of identity of the whistleblower
without consent, unless otherwise specified by law. Case(s)
can be submitted by post, addressed to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong or office in
Shenzhen, which are currently located respectively at Room
3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong or 27/F., Building A, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza,
No.1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District, Shenzhen 518000,
China, or by email (email address: report@ebgreentech.com).

A well-defined whistleblowing and reporting mechanism
can increase the trustfulness of the whistleblower and
the whistleblower protection is being enhanced through
effective awareness-rising, communication, and training. The
whistleblowing reporting channel can be accessed on the
Company’s website, staff handbook, intranet and annual
report. An induction briefing to new joiners be conducted
for providing clear explanation on their right and obligations
when disclosing wrongdoing.

All whistleblowing cases and the investigation results will be
discussed in the Audit and Risk Management Committee
meetings and report the same to the Board on semi-annual
basis. During 2021, there were 5 cases reported through
the whistleblowing channels. No cases were refused to be
reported and all cases were reviewed by the external
auditor of the Company. After the investigation, these cases
were not involved misconduct, fraudulent activities, or
malpractices in any matter related to the Group. These
cases had exposed the internal management and
miscommunication issues, the necessary measures and
actions were immediately undertaken by the management.
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Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy

Our “Staff Handbook” and “Code of Corporate Conduct
(Trial)” provide that all employees are strictly prohibited to
accept or offer bribes from anyone in the conduct of
company affairs, should stay vigilant against corruption and
report any cases in accordance with the “Whistleblowing
Policy” in a timely manner if they become aware of or
reasonably suspect that individuals or enterprises engaged
in business transactions with the Group which might
involved in corruption. Moreover, staff should surrender gifts
or souvenirs provided by individuals or enterprises engaged
in business transactions with the Group, and should refuse
any unreasonable hospitality to avoid compromising their
business judgement.

During the year, the Executive Directors and the employees
had attended a seminar with the theme of integrity
management organized by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption. The Chairman of the Board, the
Executive Directors and senior management had also
attended another integrity education seminar hosted by
CEEGL.

AUDIT AND RISK OVERSIGHT

Audit and Risk Management Committee and
Accountability

The Audit and Risk Management Committee, currently
comprises all 3 Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui (chairman), Mr. Philip TSAO and
Prof. YAN Houmin. Details of the committee’s membership
and members’ attendance records during 2021 are set out
on page 87 of this report.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee is primarily
responsible for, including but not limited to, providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process,
reviewing the completeness, accuracy, clarity and fairness of
the Company’s financial statements, considering the scope,
approach and nature of both internal and external audits,
reviewing and monitoring connected transactions and
performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time, etc. The terms of
reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are
published on the websites of both the Company and HKEXx.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held 3
meetings in 2021 and all minutes were kept by the
Company Secretary. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company, including but not limited
to, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, significant audit matters such as significant
accounting estimates and judgmental areas and external
auditor’s audit plan; and has reviewed and discussed the
Group’s financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited financial results for the year ended 31 December
2020 and the unaudited interim financial results for the six
months ended 30 June 2021. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee also approved the remuneration
and the terms of employment of the external auditors, and
recommended the respective re-election to the Board.
order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management

and internal control functions of the Company,

committee reviewed, discussed and monitored the works of
risk management and internal audit in 2021 and their plans
for 2022. Further, it has reviewed the compliance of
continuing connected transactions; the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function; and the investigation results of

the whistleblowing cases reported through

whistleblowing channels. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee reported that there was no material uncertainty
that cast doubt on the Company’s going concern ability.
The aforesaid reviews were recommended to the Board.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, Emnst & Young, the
external auditor, received the following remuneration from
the Group in connection with the provision of audit and

non-audit services to the Group:
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2021 2020

—E-—F —EFTF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Annual audit services FEETRE 2,600 2,350

Interim review services B2 B AR 300 300
Other services, includes tax service, etc. HE RS -

BEHBRES 1,000 729

3,900 3,379

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in
this annual report.
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Dividend Policy

Adhered to the principle of sharing the fruit of our success
with our Shareholders, the Board has adopted “Dividend
Policy”. Subject to certain factors, including but not limited
to, general business conditions and strategies of the
Company and the Company’s financial results and capital
requirements, the dividend payout ratio is approximately
20%.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group always places emphasis on risk management
and internal control. The main features of the risk
management system of the Group are summarised as
follows:

/. Risk Management Objective, Mission and Risk
Preferences

The risk management objective of the Group is to
ensure the realisation of the Company’s strategic and
operational goals through carrying out risk management
works in terms of participating in the development and
diversification of the Company’s strategic goals and
ensuring the achievement of financial and non-financial
operational goals.

The mission of risk management of the Group is to
ensure “Overall Compliance, Minimise Weaknesses,
Manage Uncertainties and Optimise Performance-
based Management”.

The risk management is guided by the medium-to-
long term strategic goals of the Group. We formulate
our own risk appetites reasonably by focusing on 6
dimensions including “Investment, Finance, Engineering
Construction, Operation, Reputation and Human
Resources” through stable market expansion and
prudent operation management. Moreover, we set up
our quantitative early warning values and limit values
in line with our financial and non-financial indicators
and constantly optimise the effectiveness of internal
control to enhance our risk resistance and
management control capabilities.
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1.

Risk Management Structure

The risk management structure of the Group is based
on the following “Three Lines of Defense” model:

Board

The Board shall be responsible for the evaluation and
determination of the nature and level of risk it is
willing to undertake in order to achieve the strategic
targets of the Group. It shall also ensure the
establishment and maintenance of proper and
effective risk management and internal control
systems by the Group.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall
assume the role of supervising the overall risk
management structure of the Group and provide
advice to the Board on any risk-related matter of the
Group.

First Line of Defense

In respect of the first line of defense, each of the
business centre, the project companies, command
authority and project departments of the Group, being
the officers for risk management, shall ensure effective
implementation of risk control measures based on the
risk management system and requirements of the
Company, supervise any risk which involve in every
business operations and collect details of, and report
any risk-related incident in a timely manner.
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Second Line of Defense

The risk management department, being the second
line of defense, shall, based on the Board’s appetite,
identify and assess relevant risks and conduct necessary
monitoring in this regard, execute appropriate supervision
to ensure effective and efficient control of all activities of all
departments internally or between different departments,
as well as evaluate and provide regular report to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee. Each functional
department at headquarters jointly deals with the
risk-related incidents reported from the first line of defense
and the comments from the Audit and Risk Management
Committee with the risk management department.

Third Line of Defense

For the third line of defense, the department of internal
audit shall carry out internal audit on a yearly basis and
ensure the effectiveness of the first and the second
lines of defense. The department of internal audit shall
provide to the Audit and Risk Management Committee
and the Board an independent assurance as to the
sufficiency and effectiveness of the internal control of
the Group.

Risk management process

The Board has formulated with due care a “Risk
Management Policy” and risk tolerance levels through
the Audit and Risk Management Committee, while the
management identifies and ranks major risks according
to sources of risks, scope of influence, incidents
and their potential impact. Risks identified have been
categorised into policy changes, trade receivables,
environmental compliance and safety management,
investment and business development, construction
work budget and cost management, recruitment and
staff allocation. Discussion in relation to the description
of principal risks exposed to the Group, the material
impact that may have occurred or may occur in future,
and the corresponding mitigation measures is set
out in the section headed “PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 45 to 52 of this annual report.
The Group’s risks are classified according to their
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impact and probability of occurrence. The ranking shall
be based on the level of remaining risk. The level of
remaining risk refers to the score value of the existing
risk after taking into account all monitoring measures
currently in force. The assessment of risk analysis
results aims at determining whether the risks identified
are within our default risk appetite and risk tolerance
level. Based on such risk assessment, the risks could
be transferred, eliminated or effectively controlled
through risk mitigation measures formulated. During the
year under review, the changes in the severity of the
Company’s principal risks are as follows:
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Principal risks FTERK
Policy changes R &
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Environmental compliance RIEE R
Safety management ZERER
Investment and business
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V.

Risk Control and Report

A report, which contains the implementation of risk
control measures and the results of risk management,
as well as details of the risk-related incidents, shall be
submitted to the risk management department by
each risk bearing unit on a quarterly basis. Based on
the contents reported by various project companies
and functional departments, the risk management
department will prepare “Risk and Internal Control
Report” and submit the same to the management of
the Company. The management of the Company will
understand the status of risk management and
optimise the relevant measures. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee provides assistance to the
Board for maintaining and monitoring the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems
of Everbright Greentech. The risk management
department and internal audit department will
semiannually provide conclusive report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee in respect of the
risk management and internal control aspects of the
Company, and adopt the risk management and
internal control plan for the next year. In addition, the
Board reviews principal risks taken by Everbright
Greentech annually. The risk management department
submits the “Risk and Internal Control Report” to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee on a quarterly
basis.

The Board and the Audit and Risk Management
Committee have conducted reviews on the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
they considered all of the above were adequate.
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V.

Internal Audit

Everbright Greentech has established the internal audit
department which shall directly report to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. Undertaking a key role
to provide assurance to the Board of proper
maintenance and operation of the internal control
system by the management, the internal audit
department prepares internal audit report to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee and the Board for
the review of the sufficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit functionalities. Any matter proposed in
the internal audit report shall be dealt with by the
management in a timely manner. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee and the Board are satisfied
with the sufficiency of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

Risks Management Culture

Sound communication and ongoing education are
among some of the effective means adopted by the
Group to cope with existing material risk and internal
Members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee actively furnish specific

control issues.

opinions to the management in relation to the
development, operations and culture building of the
Company’s risk management system, while the
management carried out the tasks of implementing
the operation of the risk management system and
promoting the risk management culture with pragmatic
efforts to strengthen the risk management awareness
of frontline staff.
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Vil

A safe working environment is particularly important
in the environmental industry. During the year, the
Group carried out safety management works in an
orderly manner in accordance with its internal safety
management system. It conducted comprehensive
safety risk inspections on a quarterly basis, with
irregular inspections on the implementation of various
safety management systems of project companies
to identify issues and make rectifications in a timely
manner, so as to eliminate potential safety hazards.
The Company has set up an ESHS management
system to exercise systematic control over risks
relating to its operations. For details, please refer to
the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
MANAGEMENT” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 52 to 53 of this annual report.

The environmental industry itself is already an industry
with many SOP. When experienced employees face
difficulties and risks in their daily works, they do not
want to be restricted by more policies and codes, but
a set of feasible and effective work methods.

External Audiit

External auditor carries out an assessment of the
financial reporting, relevant risk management
procedures and the control of the Company, and
reports the issues of risks and control identified in the
process of the audit to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee.
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VIll.  Annual Confirmation

The risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are designed to provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as well as to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The
systems take up an important role in risk
management, which is critical to achieving business
objectives. Through the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, and
considered that the systems were effective and
sufficient during the year. The management has
provided confirmation as to the effectiveness of the
systems for the year ended 31 December 2021 to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee and the
Board.

REMUNERATION
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Philip
TSAO (chairman), an Independent Non-executive Director,
Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer, and 2 other Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHOW Siu Lui and Prof. YAN
Houmin. Details of the committee’s membership and
members’ attendance records during 2021 are set out on
page 87 of this report.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
which are published on the websites of both the Company
and HKEx, setting out the duties of the Remuneration
Committee, including determining, with delegated
responsibilities, the remuneration packages of the individual
Executive Directors and senior management, etc. A
reasonable and comprehensive remuneration package is one
of the measures in attracting, retaining and motivating
experienced people of high calibre. The Company takes into
consideration a number of factors in determining
remuneration package of all level of staffs of the Company,
including but not limited to their job duties and
responsibilities, performances, updated salary index
launched by independent human resource agency and the
financial and operational performances of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 1 Remuneration
Committee meeting was held. It has reviewed and approved
the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
members of senior management with reference to the goals
and objectives of the Company. The aforesaid approved
matters and reviews were reported and recommended to
the Board.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

s E CE% )

FMZEenBREEECBEENARA R
BRAEWEA - ERIEHFHEE SR
% BREREBEZBE  BTENATES
BREEABNFHGFES - aEEE
EHHFMFEASRS - RERABERE
ENGREATNERZ — - ARARRE
EARARRERBINFHEERA LR
A& BRETRIRETIERELBE -
KB - B EIRHE 6 & H
BEUARAR AR R EERE -

BE_EZ-_—S+_A=+—HItEE"
FHEZEeEURITIANEE  2BAQAN
FTEMEE BRUMARNTES LR
EIRABKEZHMES LA EHEIR
MEEERCEREZTSERE -

EEREREBABNE

HE-_Z-—F+-A=+—BHILFE"

EREEABXBOFEEIFWT

Number of
persons

AB

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007C 1
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007T 2
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £ 3,000,0007T 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
5 highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements, respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS AND AGM
Shareholder Relations

The Company understands the importance of maintaining
effective mutual communication with its Shareholders and
values every opportunity to communicate with them. The
Company has adopted a policy of disclosing clear and
relevant information to Shareholders through various channels
in a timely manner. Annual and interim reports are printed and
sent to all Shareholders. The Company has also complied
with the Listing Rules by posting announcements, notices,
annual reports, interim reports, sustainability reports and
shareholders’ circulars on the websites of both the Company
and HKEx for the designated period. Apart from these
documents, press releases are posted on the Company’s
website to enhance its transparency. Being constantly
updated in a timely manner, the website also contains a wide
range of additional information on the Company’s business
activities. The corporate communications can be accessed
by clicking “Investor Relations” section on the home page of
the Company’s website.

In addition to publication of information, the AGM provides
a forum for communication between investors, Shareholders
and Directors. The AGM and site visit proceedings have
been well prepared to ensure that the Company will follow
corporate governance practices and Shareholders’ rights are
preserved.

The AGM was held on 17 May 2021, the Chairman of the
Board chaired the AGM and the chairman (or their
delegates) of each Board committee attended the meeting
to ensure Shareholders’ views are communicated to the
Board. Auditor of the Company was available to answer any
queries that Shareholders may raise.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“EGM Requisitionists”) shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

The EGM Requisitionists can deposit the written request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
which is currently located at Room 3602, 36/F., Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The EGM
Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of
the EGM, and such request must be signed by all the EGM
Requisitionists, any may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the EGM Requisitionists.

The share registrar will verify the EGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the share registrar that the EGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary
will arrange the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in
accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. On the contrary, if the EGM Requisitionists’
request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists will
be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the EGM Requisitionists’ himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the EGM Requisitionists by
reason of the Board’s failure to duly convene an EGM shall
be reimbursed to the EGM Requisitionists by the Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to purpose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law. However, Shareholders are
requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and
procedures are set out above. Pursuant to Article 113 of
the Articles of Association, no person other than a Director
retiring at a meeting, shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the registration office provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notices(s)
are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the notices
are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting. The written notice must state
that person’s biographical details as required by rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as Director is
posted on the Company’s website.

Annual Report 2021 107
—T—FFR 0

Corporate Governance Report ¥ EA{ &

RBRRASELREZZZREF

REBE(RESEERRE) @ X EFRIUEFFIX
RPRRAE FIREFRESR - A W%
RERBREREFIAE LIR2ZRESR - BIZA
B TERAANEAF - BHEELLEFE
FREX - RIEERMAAF 35 BRIEE
E=HBE2E IBHEAAERLFEARE
VARG EREZBRR(LIFR2EE)F
BB RAZFBREZALZEZER
AERAAIRBZBARABEZE
BRI BRe LREERIN BMEEATALE
ERMNEMNRRAG L2EES - il
HMAZRXEMEBRIGEPELRE BB
ELRER WEZREBARTERBER
EERRAGRERER  MEZXZE
BRZHARATHREREZETZIREX
SRSEAEN ETERZBRAGR
TEMATER - RIFCEMARRDF13.51(2)
fff bt EmMBEMLBINRAZALZERE
FBE - BHRRREAERSEEZZRER
ERAR BB TIE -



108 China Everbright Greentech Limited
PR RZERREBRAQF]

Corporate Governance Report ¥ ERHKE

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the investor
relations which contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Everbright Greentech Limited

Room 3602, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2433 6546

Email: ir@ebgreentech.com

Significant Changes in the Company’s
Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, there is no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. WANG Tianyi

aged 59, is a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board and the Nomination Committee. He is currently a part-time
professor of Tsinghua University and a Co-Director of the Center
for PPP of Tsinghua University, a member of the China Council
for International Cooperation on Environment and Development, a
member of International Coalition for Green Development on the
Belt and Road Advisory Board, a vice chairman of China
Ecological Civilization Research and Promotion Association, a vice
Industrial

chairman of and Academic Union of Ecological

Environment of the China Association for Science and
Technology, and a member of the UNECE PPP Business Advisory
Board. He holds a Doctorate degree in Economics, a Master’s
degree in Management and a Bachelor’'s degree in Electronics
from Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced studies at
Harvard University and University of California in the United
States. Mr. WANG is the executive director and the chairman of
the board and also the chairman of the nomination committee
and the member of the remuneration committee of CEEGL (stock
code: 0257.HK, a listed intermediate holding company of the
Company). He was the chief executive officer of CEEGL. He was
also a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of
China Everbright Water Limited (“CEWL”, CEEGL’s subsidiary
listed in Singapore and Hong Kong, stock codes: U9E.SG and
1857.HK).
Shandong Academy of Sciences. He was formerly the Deputy

Prior to joining the Company, he was the Dean of

Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province. He had been the Vice
President, the Dean and Professor of the School of Economics
and Management of Yantai University of Shandong Province. Mr.
WANG joined the Board in January 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. QIAN Xiaodong

aged 48, is an Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of Sustainability Committee and a member of
Remuneration Committee. Mr. QIAN currently serves as a director
of numerous subsidiaries and certain joint venture companies of
the Group. Prior to his position in the Company, Mr. QIAN served
of the
department of CEEGL and the general manager of Everbright
(Shenzhen) Ltd, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL. He is also the executive

as the general manager investment development

Environmental Protection Venture Capital
director and the vice president and the member of the disclosure
committee of CEEGL. Mr. QIAN obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Thermal Engineering from Dalian University of Technology in the
PRC and a Master’s degree in Environment Engineering from the
Southeast University in the PRC. He has comprehensive
experience in market development of environmental protection
industry, national environmental policies and industrial trend in the
PRC. As at the date of this report, he beneficially owns 242,000
shares of the Company within the meaning of the Part XV of the
SFO. Mr. QIAN joined the Board in October 2015.

Mr. YANG Zhigiang

aged 61,
Mr. YANG currently serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries,

is an Executive Director and the Vice President.

an associated company and certain joint venture companies of
the Group. He was appointed as a non-executive director of
Weigang Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited (a
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1845.HK)
from 3 January 2019 to 11 March 2021. He was also appointed

company

as a non-executive director of CEWL from 12 December 2014 to
23 February 2017. He served as the chief legal officer in CEEGL.
Mr. YANG obtained a Bachelor’s degree from the Medical
Science Department of Beijing Medical University in the PRC and
a Postgraduate Diploma in Law from The College of Law of
England and Wales. He has the qualification of an attending
doctor and is a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. YANG joined the
Board in October 2015.
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Mr. LO Kam Fan

aged 47, is an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer.

Mr. LO also serves as a director of numerous subsidiaries and
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certain joint venture companies of the Group. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. LO held senior positions at a number of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, including financial controller of
Shenzhen International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0152.HK),
financial controller and company secretary of Eco-Tek Holdings
Limited 8169.HK),
company secretary, respectively, of Wai Chun Bio-Technology
Limited (stock code: 0660.HK), Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1018.HK) and Sinopharm Tech Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8156.HK). Mr.
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University and a Master’s

(stock code: chief financial officer and

LO obtained an honour diploma in

degree in Finance from Curtin University of Technology Australia.
He is a fellow member of the HKICPA. As at the date of this
report, he beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the Company
together with his spouse and he is deemed to be interested in
50,000 shares of the Company through his spouse; and also
beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together with his spouse
and he is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of CEEGL
through his spouse within the meaning of the Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. LO joined the Company in November 2015 and joined the

Board in June 2019.

Ms. GUO Ying

aged 53, GUO holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting from Beijing Technology and

is a Non-Executive Director. Ms.

Business University. She holds titles of senior accountant and
senior auditor in the PRC. She is the general manager of internal
audit department and risk management department of CEEGL.
Ms. GUO joined the Board in January 2018.

AEEZR SRAYBERZERERAR (KR

5% 0152.HK) BT 5488 - IRERE B AR A Al
(BRI - 8169.HK) MBI IS B EE R AR M E

BEEYRIEAER AR (BRERIR - 0660.HK) -
BEREEZFERARAR (REMRM : 1013.HK) LA
REERFRNBRAR (BRERIE : 8156.HK)

MWEEVEERARWE - EAEREEBHLC
AEBEEELE R KM Curtin University of
Technology Australia I§HE 267 - BB HE

AR ERE R - B(EF MG FEXVER
BMEMS  NARSEH REELEARER

15 7 X 71150,000 0% Bz 17 2 1 51 I 1R 3% 8 HL g
BIRAR 1EE B A2 ]50,000/% Bt 2 i 2 + M il
HHERRBAREREA N ARFE81BRB D 2 #
o o 15525 48 B A B AR R /B Ot KIR 35,760 %
Beipz e - BAER_TE—RAF+—AMAKR
RE AR -_F-NAFRNAMAEZS -

BELL

WEL35%  FWITEF - I HFBIERIFAKR
BB AHEBR -KBEEEARRGE
B & = R AT AT B AT o R ER B L AIRIE RSB AT
BREREIEDELEE - BLTR T —NF—
AMAZEEE -

* EHRAT



China Everbright Greentech Limited

112
RENAZERRERAA

Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. SONG Jian

aged 52, is a Non-executive Director. Mr. SONG holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China.
He joined CEEGL in 2007 and currently takes a position of the
chief executive officer of Everbright Ecological Resources
(Shenzhen) Limited. He is also a director of Everbright Brilliant
Greenergy and Lighting (Shenzhen) Limited (formerly known as
Everbright Jinglang Greenergy and Lighting (Shenzhen) Limited, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of CEEGL). Prior to joining CEEGL,
Mr. SONG had worked in China Light Industry International
Engineering Co., Ltd. As at the date of this report, Mr. SONG is
deemed to be interested in 3,000 shares of the Company
through his spouse, and he is also deemed to be interested in
7,851 shares of CEEGL through his spouse within the meaning of
the Part XV of the SFO. Mr. SONG joined the Board in June
2019.

Mr. CHOW Siu Lui

aged 61, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of each
of Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee. Mr. CHOW is currently a partner of VMS
Investment Group (HK) Limited, an independent non-executive
director of each of Genertec Universal Medical Group Company
Limited (stock code: 2666.HK), Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities
(Group) Co., Ltd.* (stock code: 1635.HK), Futong Technology
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 0465.HK) and China
Tobacco International (HK) Company Limited (stock code: 6055.
HK), and a non-executive director of Renrui Human Resources
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 6919.HK), the shares of
all of the above companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Global Cord
Blood Corporation (listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
Symbol: CO). He was an independent non-executive director of
each of Fullshare Holdings Limited (stock code: 0607.HK), NWS
Holdings Limited (stock code: 0659.HK), Shi Shi Services Limited
(stock code: 8181.HK) and Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6833.HK), the shares of all of the above
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was a partner in
KPMG and chairman of the Mainland Development Strategies
Advisory Panel of the HKICPA and a member of its Registration
and Practice Committee of the HKICPA. Mr. CHOW was also the
chairman of the audit committee and a council member of
HKCGI. Mr. CHOW obtained the Professional Diploma in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
qualified as a fellow member of the HKICPA and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. CHOW joined the Board
in May 2017.
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Mr. Philip TSAO

aged 61, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
Nomination Committee, Audit and Risk Management Committee
and Sustainability Committee. Mr. TSAO is currently the founder
and chief executive officer of CHANCES Advisory Group and a
director of SinoPac Financial Holdings Company Limited
(“SinoPac”, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2890.TT), and a non-executive director of Bank
SinoPac (a subsidiary of SinoPac) with effect from 13 May 2020
and 1 May 2018, respectively. He served as a consultant at
Barclays Capital Asia Limited. Prior to his current role, Mr. TSAO
was a managing director of Barclays Capital Asia Limited, an
executive director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C., a managing
director of UBS, the president of China Development Industrial
Bank (“CDIB”), an executive vice president of China Development
Financial Holding Corporation (“CDFHC”, a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code: 2883.TT), a director of
CDFHC and CDIB (a subsidiary of CDFHC), a non-executive
director of SinoPac Securities (Asia) Limited (a subsidiary of
SinoPac) and a managing director of Morgan Stanley Asia
Limited. Mr. TSAO
Mechanical Engineering from National Tsing Hua University in

received a Bachelor's degree in Power
Taiwan, and a Master of Business Administration degree from
National Taiwan University in Taiwan. Mr. TSAO is qualified as a
Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. TSAO joined the Board in May
2017.
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Prof. YAN Houmin

aged 67, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a member of
each of Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit
and Risk Management Committee and Sustainability Committee.
Prof. YAN is Chair Professor of Management Sciences at City
University of Hong Kong (“CityU”) where he directs International
PPP China Center of Excellence of the Unite Nations Economic
Commission for Europe (UNECE). Prof. YAN is also a director of
Laboratory for Al-Powered Financial Technologies Limited. He was
the Dean of the College of Business from January 2013 to June
2020. Prior to joining CityU, Prof. YAN was a Professor at the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was the program director
for the Executive Master for Logistics and Supply Chain
Management, and he was the executive director of Center for
Supply Chain and Logistics Optimization, Li & Fung Logistics and
Supply Chain Institute, the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
was the associate director and science advisor for the Hong
Kong Government R&D Center for Logistics and Supply Chain
Management Enabling Technologies. He was also a tenured
Associate Professor at the School of Management, University of
Texas at Dallas. Prof. YAN’s main research areas are stochastic
models, simulations, and supply chain management. He has
published extensively in top-tier international journals and has
been awarded the Best Paper Prizes by professional societies
such as the Production and Operations Management Society
(POMs) in 2004 and Institute of Industrial Engineers (IIE) in 2005
and 2012. He consults a number of international and local
enterprises. Prof. YAN
Master’'s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Department of

received his Bachelor's degree and

Automation in Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Doctor of
Philosophy degree from the University of Toronto in Canada. Prof.
YAN joined the Board in May 2017.
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Mr. ZHU Fugang

Mr. ZHU is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. ZHU currently
serves as general manager of Everbright Greentech Environmental
Protection Clean Energy Administrative Centre, general manager of
a subsidiary, namely EB Greentech Technology Services (Jiangsu)
Limited, and a director of numerous subsidiaries and an
associated company of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he
served as president of eco-recycling sector in CEEGL, vice
president of Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Company
(China)
manager of each of Everbright Environmental Energy (Changzhou)

Limited and Everbright Envirotech Limited, general
Co., Ltd, Everbright Environmental Energy (Nanjing) Limited and
Everbright Environmental Testing (Nanjing) Company Limited. Mr.
ZHU holds a Master’'s degree in Business Administration from
Southeast University and is also a senior engineer. Mr. ZHU
joined the Group in September 2019.

Mr. WANG Dianer

Mr. WANG is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. WANG
joined China Everbright Group since November 2006. At present,
he serves as a director of Everbright Environmental Remediation
(Jiangsu) Limited and Suntime Environmental Remediation CO.,
Ltd. Mr. WANG has previously served as the deputy general
manager of Everbright Environmental Energy (Yixing) Limited, the
deputy supervisor of Jinan WTE Project, the project leader of the
construction of Dangshan project, the general manager of each of
Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited,
Everbright Environmental Energy (Zhenjiang) Limited, Everbright
Limited and Everbright

Photovoltaic Energy (Huaining) Limited. Mr. WANG completed the

Photovoltaic Energy (Zhenjiang)
legal studies program at Anhui University in the PRC and the
Power Plant and Electricity System program at Shanghai
University of Electric Power in the PRC. Mr. WANG joined the
Group in January 2016.
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Mr. ZHANG Jianping

Mr. ZHANG is the Chief Investment Officer and the general
manager of its solid waste management centre of the Company.
Mr. ZHANG currently serves as a director of various subsidiaries,
a joint venture and an associated company of the Group. Before
joining the Group, he was the deputy director of Suzhou
Environmental Sanitation Administration Agency. Mr. ZHANG has
served sequentially as the vice chairman of Everbright
Energy (Suzhou) Limited, the standing
representative of the Nanjing Representative Office of CEEGL, the
general manager of each of Everbright Environmental Energy
(Nanjing) Limited, Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou)
Limited and Everbright Environmental (Suzhou) Solid Waste
Treatment Limited. Mr. ZHANG graduated from Nanjing
Engineering Institute (currently known as Southeast University),
majoring in professor level senior engineer of Environmental
Engineering, Mr. ZHANG joined the Group in April 2016.

Environmental
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Mr. SUN Xiandong

Mr. SUN is the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. He
graduated from China University of Mining and Technology,
majoring in Thermal Energy and Power Engineering, and
completed a CEO management training programme from
Tsinghua University. Mr. SUN has been engaged in power-related
construction and power plant operation and administration for
over 35 years. Since joining China Everbright Group in November
2006, he has been repeatedly named as the “Outstanding
Manager in CEEGL”. He has served as deputy general manager
of Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited, general
director at the project command centre of Everbright Alternative
Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited, deputy general manager of
Everbright Environmental Energy (Pizhou) Limited, general
manager of each of Everbright Greentech Environmental
Protection (Northern Anhui) Administrative Center and Everbright
Greentech Environmental Protection (Anhui) Administrative Center.
Meanwhile, he concurrently served as general manager of various
subsidiaries of the Group, namely Everbright Biomass Energy
(Lingbi) Limited, Everbright Environmental Energy (Lingbi) Limited,
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Xiao County) Limited, EB
Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Fengyang) Company Limited,
Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Company Limited and
Everbright Environmental Energy (Dangshan) Limited. He currently
serves as a director of a number of subsidiaries and a joint
venture company of the Group. Mr. SUN joined the Group in
January 2016.

Ms. CHOW Wing Man

Ms. CHOW is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a
fellow member of both HKCGI and The Chartered Governance
Institute. She has over 15 years of experience in the fields of
CHOW holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Laws from the University of London and a
Master's degree in Finance (Corporate Finance) from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. She is also a Certified Environmental,
Social and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded by The
European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies (EFFAS). Ms.
CHOW joined the Group in July 2017.

company secretarial and compliance. Ms.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 which
are to be presented at the AGM to be held at Salon Il & IV,
Mezzanine Floor, Grand Hyatt Hong Kong, 1 Harbour Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong on Tuesday, 17 May 2022.

Subject to the development of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Company may be required to change the meeting arrangements
for the AGM at short notice. Shareholders are advised to check
the websites of the Company (http://www.ebgreentech.com/en/ir/
announcements.php) and HKEx (www.hkexnews.hk) for further
announcement(s) and update(s) on such arrangements and/or
further special measures to be taken.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

Business review of the Group during the vyear, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year ended 31 December 2021 (if any), an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided from pages 16 to 44 of this annual
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out on pages 45 to 52 of this
annual report. Also, the financial risk management of the Group
can be found in note 38 to the financial statements.

Relationship with key stakeholders

The Group is committed to sustainable operations taking into

account the interests of employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, industry associations, government authorities
and has built different

channels to strive for better quality in communication.

and other community stakeholders,
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEEBRNERKDEE(E)

(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) HEREOENBR(E)

Employees As at 31 December 2021, the Group hired over 3,800 employees in Hong Kong and
== Mainland China and is committed to building a workplace characterised by inclusivity, unity

zP

@® Customers

and equality, regardless of age, gender, family status, disability, race ethnicity and
nationality. We believe that all employees should be respected and given the same
opportunities to showcase their skills and talents. With the establishment of the Sustainability
Committee and the sustainability working groups, we will formulate indicators and goals for
a diverse and inclusive workplace to become a preferred employer, so that we could recruit
and retain talents.

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—0 AEBEEERFENHIEADIB00HETL WHHAEE
BTV BEETH  FENIERE  TwFhk  Hh - REMKR  BE - Bk K&
ERMBEE BMAGHARERRINBESE WZARSHEREMR BEAFEERE
BgRhITENMMNKY  BABEREZTHRIERRONESZMEE  KREEET AN
BEMBEAT -

The Group regards customers as one of its most important stakeholder groups and is
actively engaged in the development of close and long-term relationships with its customers.
Over the years, the Group has assisted the local governments of various regions to improve
local living environments and create job opportunities, winning the approval of governments
at various levels. In the meantime, we seek customers’ feedback through different channels
in an effort to consistently improve our service quality. During the year, the largest customer
and 5 largest customers in aggregate of the Group accounted for 25% and 49%,
respectively, of the Group’s total turnover.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued)

TEXBRERBOEE)

EERSOENBR(A)

Suppliers and business The Group has always conducted itself in a fair and equitable manner in its transactions with

partners

GYAEET T

Industry associations
and government
authorities

17 5 & AT &R P9

suppliers and business partners in compliance with the most exacting ethical and
professional codes. Currently, the Group is engaged in cooperation with suppliers in cities
where its projects are located. Despite the disruption of the global supply chain for some
time owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, relying on our effective supply-chain management,
our day-to-day business operation has not been materially affected. Meanwhile, we have
also extended the scope of our suppliers and enhanced communication with them to further
lower our operating costs and manage supply-chain risks. During the year, the largest
supplier and 5 largest suppliers in aggregate of the Group accounted for 2% and 5%,
respectively, of the Group’s total purchase amount.
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During the year under review, the Group continued to strengthen liaison with industry
associations, research institutes and competent government authorities. As a member of the
Standing Executive Committee of BEIPA, the Group has formulated the “Development
Report of Biomass Power Generation Industry of PRC in 2021” in collaboration with BEIPA
to provide a detailed analysis of the current state of development of the biomass power
generation industry and an in-depth exposition of its opportunities and challenges.
REBEFERN  AEBEENBETERES AREBANBRFEEMBFICHEOEE - ER4E
MEREFRESNEBEFEEN  FAEERGEVEREXRES  FREC21HELEY
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEEBRNEKDOEE(E)
(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) HEREOENBR(E)
Community The Group has been maintaining harmonious relationships with local communities with
anlo) sincerity and openness. Residents of the community are invited to take part in project

investigation and hearing sessions prior to project construction so that we could sufficiently

N solicit their opinions on project construction. Moreover, the Group has continued to enhance
\

,
O \ the fulfilment of its responsibility to open its environmental facilities to the public by exploring
HJ ‘, online open-house activities conducted mainly by way of Internet livecast, in order to
f ,’ broaden the scope of the opening of environmental facilities to the public and enhance its
Q i influence. As at the end of 2021, 44 projects had been opened to the public and 248
RS offline public open day activities with a total of 4,500 participants, as well as 1 online open
day activity attracting more than 9,785 views, had been organised.
REE—BHUAHR FAREEEEMHREFMFERR EIREIA  RAEBLEER
SEERARAENEES  URSREMMYEEERRNER - I AEBEBERCEER
REHBAABANEL  REUNABERRTZENNE LAY BARRRIEAAR
BT ENNTEEE HE_T_—FK  FWER 40 RFAHAERKTARFABE
B)248 )% - HEEF4,500 AR - FEZ ERABUSENITR - R5[HBIR,785/K8IF -

In November 2021, EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Fengyang) Company Limited*

= organised an online public open-house activity for environmental facilities which allowed
_g — online interactive public participation via livecast. The audience were able to view key zones
% {ﬁ: of the Fengyang Int.egrated Project, such as the exhibiti(?n hall, control room and water
o 5{? processing centre‘, via the Iehs. L(I3d by Mr. WAN‘G Qinggiang, deputy general manager of
8 oo the Fengyang Project, the officers in-charge of various departments explained the processes

for handling household waste and the operating model, processing techniques and
environmental emissions of biomass projects, and answered questions raised out by the
audience.

“EF+—R XARHBBLEER (BB BRARBITRAERER LARFAMEE - A
ERVABARNRLEH2E - BRI VEBRELBEL —RIEENRE  ZEH=ER
KEEPLEERRE  YMASBRAAKEIEREETRENFIBEABR LR
RERE AWERBETEN TE2REMRFAFREBR UL CEERERE -

*

For identification purpose only
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW FTEERNEFOE(Z

(Continued)

Relationship with key stakeholders (Continued) HEARSHENRER (&)

Case sharing (2):

BRSZ(@):

The Group has been vigorously implementing the rural vitalisation strategy in an ongoing
effort to solidify the achievements of poverty alleviation efforts and make due contributions to
the fulfilment of the goal of co-prosperity. The Huangshi Hazardous Waste and Solid Waste
Treatment Project launched two poverty alleviation initiatives during the year and actively
participated in the Third Poverty Alleviation Trade Fair organised by China Everbright Group,
while hosting a charitable spending campaign for the aid of farming workers to support
industrial development in impoverished regions in the form of “purchases in lieu of
donations”.

AEEEBERAIREEE SEZENRERENR  SERAREWERERASEE
Bzh -BEheELEERERAENFARRTMAKELRSY BERE2MTEXAEEAES
ME-—EERERRES YRAREVCHEDRERLY BBINERBINEAFER
WEEFER -




PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Environmental policy and performance

As a professional environmental protection service provider in China,
the Group is committed to delivering greater investment value to
various stakeholders and undertaking greater social responsibility
in fulfilment of its corporate mission of being “Devoted to Ecology
and Environment for a Beautiful China”. Against this backdrop, the
Group is profoundly aware of the importance of low-carbon green
development, and has established an Environmental Management
Department for the supervision of relevant matters to ensure that the
entire life cycle of operation has been taken into full consideration
in our internal policies and relevant management plans. At present,
management systems such as the “Compilation of Environmental
“Water
Energy Management Policy” and

Management Systems”, “Waste Management Policy”,

Resource Management Policy”, *
“ESG Policy” have been formulated by the Group to lay down
detailed management rules for different environmental aspects, such
as discharge and emission, energy consumption and climate change.
Meanwhile, the Group has developed a number of environmental
standards, including the “Environmental Protection and Social
Responsibility Management Standards”, “Environmental Monitoring
and Testing Management Standards”, “Atmospheric Pollutant
Emission Management Standards”, “Water
Management Standards” and “Solid Waste Management Standards”

to provide standardised criteria for environmental management. To

Pollutant Emission

ensure effective implementation of our policies, environmental task
force groups headed by general managers have been established
at all project companies to oversee environmental management.
Dedicated personnel have been instituted to conduct regular tests
on the environmental indicators of exhaust gas, wastewater, solid
waste and noise. The brief discussion on the Group’s environmental
performance are set out on pages 52 to 67 of this annual report
and the details of our environmental performance will be presented in
the annual sustainability report to be published later this year. During
the year under review, the Group consistently applied standardised
operational models, formulated contingency plans and conducted
inspection over actual implementation in persistent adherence to its
ESHS management regime, making effective rectifications in respect
of issues identified.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group

The Group acts in strict accordance with laws and regulations of
the operating locations which may have a material impact on its
operations, conducts its business with integrity and subject itself
to the supervision of government, social groups and the public.
To this end, the Group has formulated the “Regulations for the
Administration of Legal Affairs” and developed a regime for the
administration of legal affairs which is centrally administered by
the Risk Management Department and consistently implemented
by the subsidiaries.

With reference to laws and regulations relating to the environment

and operations, the “Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China” might have a material impact on the
Group’s business. Such law is aimed at protecting and improving
the environmental, preventing pollution and other public hazards,
safeguarding public health, advancing the building of ecological
civilisation, and facilitating sustainable economic and social
development. Competent environmental authorities could order
enterprises which have committed violations of environmental
regulations, such as exceeding benchmarks and total volumes for
emission, to curb production, suspend production for rectification
or close down the operation. The Group has instituted a number
of internal policies and procedures and ensures prudent
management through regular reviews, training and examination. In

2021, there were no cases of violation of such law.

On the corporate level, the Group complies with the requirements
under the companies ordinances in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong and the PRC, the Listing Rules and the SFO for, among
other things, the disclosure of information and corporate
governance, and the Group has adopted the Model Code as set

out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

TEXM R EFOE(E)
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations having a
material impact on the Group (Continued)

For the discussion on the Company’s commitment to high
standards of corporate governance and the Board’s responsibility
for compliance with statutory obligations, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 70 to 108 of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 153
and 154 of this annual report respectively.

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of
HK4.0 cents (2020: HK7.0 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2021 payable on or around Friday, 10 June
2022 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Wednesday, 25 May 2022.
Together with the interim dividend of HK7.0 cents (2020: HK8.0
in October 2021, the total
distribution of dividend by the Company for the year of 2021 will
be HK11.0 cents (2020: HK15.0 cents) per ordinary share. The
dividend payout ratio in 2021 is 20.5%.

cents) per ordinary share paid

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A financial summary of the Group for the last 5 financial years is
set out on pages 287 and 288. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$3,253,108,000. Details
of distributable reserve of the Company are set out in note 39 to
the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$30,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group respectively during this financial year is as follows:

QIR Sapg 4

R-Z-—F+-A=+—H AQRAHEDIE
BB B 3,253,108,0007T ° A A2 Al
DIREEE 2 BN B RERMI FE39

/\_,\ = %ﬁ /j—)\
AEEFAIEHL BBKIABE 30,0007 2 B EEHK

RITERLEMEES

R-B-—F+-A=+—H FXEEZRTE
AR E A R TSR BT T SRR B 5
FTREFLHEER

AEBRATHREFEZEERFREERZER
DR

Percentage of the Group’s total

MASEBE AL
Turnover Purchases
SR HREEs

The largest customer SN 25%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF A 49%
The largest supplier B FER 2%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A AREEE SR 5%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

Except as detailed in note 26 to the financial statements, the
Group has not issued any other debenture during the year.

BEFIAREZEMNETHEAREMER (&
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed

securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

WANG Tianyi** (Chairman)

QIAN Xiaodong* (Chief Executive Officer)
YANG Zhigiang* (Vice President)

LO Kam Fan* (Chief Financial Officer)
GUO Ying**

SONG Jian**

CHOW Siu Lui**

Philip TSAO***

YAN Houmin***

*

Executive Director
Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

*k

*kk

In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 108(b) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, Mr. LO Kam Fan and Mr. SONG
Jian will retire from office as Directors by rotation and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, Mr. Philip TSAO and Prof. YAN Houmin,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 109 to 117 of this annual
report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, changes in
information of Directors during the year are set out below:

— Mr. YANG Zhigiang, the Executive Director, resigned as a
non-executive director of Weigang Environmental
Technology Holding Group Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 1845.HK) with effect from 11
March 2021.

—  Mr. WANG Tianyi, the Chairman of the Board, resigned as
the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
disclosure committee of CEEGL with effect from 1 June
2021 and remained as the executive director and the
chairman, the chairman of the nomination committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of CEEGL.

—  The title of Mr. QIAN Xiaodong, the chief executive officer of
the Company, in CEEGL changed from the executive
director and deputy general manager to the executive
director and vice president.

—  Mr. WANG Tianyi, the Chairman of the Board, resigned as
a non-executive Director and the chairman of CEWL with
effect from 5 October 2021.

EENEMERBANEZREFHB
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES (Continued)

— Mr. CHOW Siu Lui, the Independent Non-executive Director,
resigned as an
Fullshare Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 0607.HK) with effect from 30
December 2021.

independent non-executive director of

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The term of service as a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of 2 years and/or around 2 years.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one vyear
other

without payment of compensation, than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections “Connected Transactions”,
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and Related Party
Transactions as set out in note 34 to the financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or any entities connected with the Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NO COMPETITION BETWEEN CEEGL AND THE
COMPANY

In connection with the spin-off of the Group from CEEGL, the
Company implements some corporate governance measures to
confirm that the directors of both of CEEGL and the Company
will be able to function and operate independently and effectively
in the best interest of the respective companies. Details of the no
competition between CEEGL and the Company are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of
the listing document issued by the Company dated 21 April
2017 (“Listing Document”).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. WANG
Tianyi and Mr. QIAN Xiaodong are also the executive directors of
CEEGL. CEEGL is a listed intermediate holding company of the
Company and is engaged in renewable energy business. CEEGL
may be in competition with the Group. However, as stated in the
section “No competition between CEEGL and the Company”
above, the Board is independent of the board of CEEGL and
none of the above Directors can control the Board, the Group is
therefore capable of carrying on its businesses independently of,
and at arm’s length from the businesses of these entities.
Furthermore, the Company implements various corporate
governance measures to ensure the independence between
CEEGL and the Company. Up to the date of this annual report,
there is no change in the details previously disclosed in the

Listing Document.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee. The emoluments are determined
with responsibilities and
performances and the results of the Group. No Director is

reference to directors’ duties,

involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors and the chief executive of the Company who held
office as at 31 December 2021 and their respective close
associates had the following interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) at that date as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company

Name of

Capacity
Director E 250

QIAN Xiaodong B Beneficial owner

ExBEA

LO Kam Fan ERE

Interests held jointly with another
person/Interest of spouse

BE— ANXRKE#E /BB
pa: ¥

SONG Jian FN Interest of spouse

Aoz e

Notes:

(i) Mr. LO Kam Fan beneficially owns 150,000 shares of the Company
together with his spouse and is deemed to be interested in 50,000
shares of the Company through his spouse.

(i) All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse.

(iif) As at 31 December 2021, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.
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Nature of interest
Bt

Number of
shares held
(shares)
FrFsRR (7 8B
(A)

STRIZARME AR R MR Z

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares

(note (iii)
HEETRG
yEgh
MBS

(BT 2 (i)

Personal 242,000 0.0117%
(EPN
Family interest 200,000 0.0096%
(note (i)
Rk (FHEE())
Family interest 3,000 0.0001%
(note (ii))
ENiE ()
B 5E -
(i) Eﬁ%?ﬂf‘ﬁi,\,\ﬁ1%ﬁ\ﬂ?i5%ﬁ$’&ﬂ
150,000 % J& 19 K2 3% i EHM%%&’ RIEEAART]
50,0008 f& 7 2 1z

(i) FBZERNEBRBEECEBERRES

(i) ﬁé T_—F+-A=+—H ARABETK
D88 £2,066,078,000/% °
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE EENTETHRAEEAE KRG -8
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, MM EEAEERLARE (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continueqd)
Long position in shares of CEEGL, a listed RAEQXB ETHFNERAAXRAKBRERS Z
intermediate holding company of the Company i)

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares
Number of (I E)
shares held 5B &/TKRMHD
(shares) Bz
Capacity Nature of interest FTiE Rt m 20 BMOBE D
Name of Director EEfA 4 s (Az) (Bt & (vi))
LO Kam Fan EifE Interests held jointly Family interest (note (iv)) 6,041 0.0001%
with another KR ikt (= Gv)
person/Interest of
spouse
HE— AERFEEZ
T X
SONG Jian PN Interest of spouse  Family interest (note (v)) 7,851 0.0001%
Y= Rk (V)
Notes: Bt 5
(v)  Mr. LO Kam Fan beneficially owns 281 shares of CEEGL together  (v) [E#pZ)scABEARE LR T R HA X AIRIE281
with his spouse and is deemed to be interested in 5,760 shares of AR A% 17 B2 375 48 L B 45 48 A% 1E HE B X RIR 385,760
CEEGL through his spouse. MR 2 #E %R -

(v)  All those shares are beneficially owned by Mr. SONG Jian’s spouse. () FiBZSERMARGEEZEEERES -

(vi)  As at 31 December 2021, the number of shares of CEEGL in issue  (vii R-ZE-—F+-A=+—H KX AREDET
was 6,142,975,292 shares. B& 15 #i B /£6,142,975,292% ©



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continueqd)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE

UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company

Name of substantial
shareholder

China Everbright Green
Holdings Limited (“CE
Green Holdings”) (note (1))

CEEGL (note (1))

China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited (“CE
Hong Kong”) (note (2))

Datten Investments Limited

(“Datten”) (note (2))

Guildford Limited (“Guildford”)
(note (2))

China Everbright Group
(note (2))

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
(“Huijin”)

IRBRREHE

PERAREERARRA
(MEAARE 2R (M)

HARRE (HEE()

RERAEEERAA
(MEAREED (MEQ)

Datten Investments Limited

([Datten ) (F15£(2))

Guildford Limited ([ Guildford |)
(M=)

PR AKE (HEQ)

PRESREFREALT
(TE< )

RIECE LB RO BT B E 2K
Rz ()

KRR RBZHRE

Long position in ordinary
shares held and
approximate percentage
of total issued shares
(note (5))
GiESR=p L o s
MEBRTRH B8
BOBES

(FI5E(5))

Capacity Nature of interest
1 EmtE

1,440,000,000
69.70%

Beneficial owner -
ExBEAA

1,440,000,000
69.70%

Interest of controlled
corporation
gt VNG £

Corporate interest
UNGIE S

Interest of controlled
corporation
| NET 0L

1,462,912,986
70.81%

Corporate interest
ARl

Interest of controlled Corporate interest 1,461,706,369

_corporation NEEE 70.75%
et NGilof £

1,461,706,369
70.75%

Interest of controlled
corporation
g et VNG £

Corporate interest
UNGIE S

1,462,912,986
70.81%

Interest of controlled
corporation
g NET 0L

Corporate interest
ARl

Interest of controlled Corporate interest 1,462,912,986

corporation ARIER (note (3)) (Fi¥zE(3))
REH DRSS 70.81%
100,550,000

(note (4) (HIZE(4))
4.87%




INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Long position in shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) CE Green Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, which
is in turn controlled 43.01% by CE Hong Kong, through its direct
and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, CEEGL and CE
Hong Kong are deemed to be interested in the 1,440,000,000
shares held by CE Green Holdings.

2) China Everbright Group holds 100% of the issued shares of CE Hong
Kong. CE Hong Kong holds (1) 100% of the issued shares of
Datten which in turn holds 55% of the issued shares of Guildford;
(2) 100% of the issued shares of Everbright Investment &
Management Limited (“EIM”); and (3) 45% of the issued shares of
Guildford, respectively. Out of the 1,462,912,986 shares,
1,440,000,000 shares are held by CE Green Holdings and
21,706,369 shares are held by Guildford. The remaining 1,206,617
shares are held by EIM. Accordingly, China Everbright Group and
CE Hong Kong are deemed to be interested in those shares held
by CE Green Holdings, Guildford and EIM respectively.

3) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC
and holds 63.16% equity interests of China Everbright Group. It is
deemed to be interested in the 1,462,912,986 shares indirectly
held by China Everbright Group.

(4) Huijin is also deemed to be interested in 100,550,000 shares held
by its associated companies and a non-wholly owned subsidiary.

5) As at 31 December 2021, the number of shares of the Company in
issue was 2,066,078,000 shares.

December 2021, the
interests by

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31
Company had not been notified of any other
prescribed notices which were required to be recorded in the

register kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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DA ES -

(2 AFEIAREEFBEHREB100% D FHITRMD
NS AREBEDBIFER () Datten 100% 21T
ifi Datten Bl & Guildford 55% B 277 HD © (2) 3¢
AEEBEBBRAR ([HAREEE])100%E
IR ¢+ }2(3) Guildford 45%E B1TR £
1,462,912,986 /% i 15 # - B 1,440,000,000 4% %
9 R BN B K21,706,3690% A% 1 H
GuildfordiF & » H £21,206,617 A% i% {5 Bll g1 ¢ K
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BHR B FIER RGBT « Guildford & Y K
KREEEMBE 2RO P HEE R -

@) EehTEBEBREERZERS LHATHN
KEEB316%ME - LB AR PENXAKER
PRSI H 2 1,462,912, 086 I f% () R B #Es ©

@4 E2TEEAERBEMELRRIZENBEAT
100,550,000 % B 7 A R 25

B) MZZTZ—F+ZA=+—H ARFREEITR
818 A2,066,078,000% °
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur
in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. There is appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements
include transactions that constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Underwriting service

On 28 January 2021, Everbright Greentech Management
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (“Everbright Greentech
Management Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an underwriting agreement
(“Underwriting Agreement”) with Everbright Securities Company
Limited (“Everbright Securities”), an associate of China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which Everbright Greentech Management
Shenzhen engaged Everbright Securities as the lead underwriter
and bookrunner in respect of the ABN issue.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount payable
to Everbright Securities under the Underwriting Agreement
amounted to approximately HK$2,406,000. The amount did not
exceed HK$8,640,000 which is the maximum aggregate amount
of underwriting fee payable to Everbright Securities for the ABN
issue.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios calculated in
accordance with the Listing Rules in respect of other underwriting
agreement entered with Everbright Securities and the Underwriting
Agreement (on an aggregated basis) is more than 0.1% but all of
them are less than 5%, the entering into of the Underwriting
Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from the circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

* For identification purpose only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Underwriting Service (Continued)

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of CEEGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of China
Everbright Group and its associates, including Everbright
Securities, is a connected person of the Company under Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the transaction contemplated under the Underwriting
Agreement constitute connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Underwriting Agreement were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 January 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Deposit and loan services

On 6 December 2019, the Company entered into a new deposit
services master agreement and a new loan services master
agreement (collectively, the “New Services Master Agreements”)
with China Everbright Group. Pursuant to the New Services
Master Agreements, China Everbright Group will, through its
associate, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”),
provide deposit and loan services to the Group for a term of 3
years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

(@)  Pursuant to the new deposit services master agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide
deposit services to the Group (including current and fixed
term deposit) in accordance with rules and regulations
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The deposit services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s deposits (including
interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank amounted to
approximately HK$366,866,000. This amount did not
exceed the annual cap of HK$400,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Deposit and loan services (Continued)

(b)

The new loan services master agreement shall be on a non-
exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty to obtain loan
services from other third parties. Pursuant to the new loan
services master agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide loans to the Group (including
revolving credit facility and fixed term loan) in accordance
with rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside the
PRC. The loans services to be provided by CE Bank shall
be on normal commercial terms and no less favourable than
the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

Since CE Bank and the Group have a long-term relationship
of cooperation, CE Bank has a better understanding of the
operations and development of the Group and is in a better
position to serve the financial arrangements of the Group. It
is also expected that it will be cost-efficient, expedient and
beneficial for the Group to receive deposit and loan services
from CE Bank. In addition, CE Bank is regulated by China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission and is
subject to the rules and requirements of such regulatory
authority, thus reducing risks to the Group in receiving
financial services from CE Bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s loans (excluding loans
which do not require security over the assets of the Group)
provided by CE Bank amounted to approximately
HK$245,567,000. This amount did not exceed the annual
cap of HK$400,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021.

5

BERERS (B)

FREERRE (&)

(b)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of equipment

On 6 December 2019, Everbright Greentech Management
Shenzhen entered into a new equipment purchase master
agreement with Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment
(Changzhou) Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Changzhou”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the
purchase of the equipment and related services from EB
Environmental Changzhou for a term of 3 years from 1 January

2020 to 31 December 2022.

The new equipment purchase master agreement enables the
Group to procure the equipment and related services from EB
Environmental Changzhou which has been a technologically

competent and reliable supplier of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Changzhou under the new equipment
purchase master agreement amounted to approximately
RMB21,645,000. The amount did not exceed the annual cap of

RMB124,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Purchases of steam

On 6 December 2019, Everbright Biomass Energy (Sugian)
Limited (“Everbright Biomass Energy Sugian”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchase master agreement with EB Environmental

entered into a steam
Energy
(Sugian) Company Limited* (“EB Environmental Energy Sugian”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CEEGL, in respect of the
purchase of steam from EB Environmental Energy Sugian for a

term of 3 years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

Everbright Biomass Energy Sugian is a supplier of steam in
Sugian, Jiangsu, the PRC. Everbright Biomass Energy Sugian
entered into the steam purchase master agreement with EB
Environmental Energy Sugian in order to ensure that in the event
of excess demand, Everbright Biomass Energy Sugian can
operate without interruption and maintain supply of steam to its
customers.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Purchases of steam (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amounts payable
to EB Environmental Energy Sugian under the steam purchase
master agreement amounted to approximately RMB49,778,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB60,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Employee healthcare protection services

On 22 December 2021,
Shenzhen entered into an employee healthcare protection services
agreement with Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Sun
Life Everbright”),
Pursuant to the employee healthcare protection services
agreement, Sun Life Everbright will provide employee healthcare

Everbright Greentech Management

an associate of China Everbright Group.

protection services for the years 2021 and 2022 to Everbright
Greentech Management Shenzhen.

The Company values the health and safety of employees. Apart
from participating in social insurance programs as required, the
Company also takes part in the medical insurance and healthcare
protection scheme, to further improve the sense of belonging of
the employees and to
protection system.

refine the medical and healthcare

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amounts payable
to Sun Life Everbright under the employee healthcare protection
services agreement amounted to approximately RMB14,863,000.
The amount did not exceed the annual cap of RMB15,660,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of CEEGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of China
Everbright Group and its associates, including CE Bank and Sun
Life Everbright, and CEEGL and its associates is a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
In particular, EB Environmental Changzhou and EB Environmental
Energy Sugian are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CEEGL.
Therefore, each of EB Environmental Changzhou and EB
Environmental Energy Sugian is also a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under each of the New Services
Master Agreements,
agreement, the steam purchase master agreement and the

the new equipment purchase master

employee healthcare protection services agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the New Services Master Agreements, the new
equipment purchase master agreement and the steam purchase
master agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 December 2019. The details of the employee healthcare
protection services agreement were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed these
continuing connected transactions in respect of deposit and loan
purchase of steam and
employee healthcare protection services (collectively, the “2021

services, purchase of equipment,
Continuing Connected Transactions”) and confirmed that 2021
Continuing Connected Transactions were:

° entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

° conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less

favourable to the Group than terms available to or from

independent third parties; and

° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s 2021
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference

Continuing Connected Transactions in

to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued an unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the 2021
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed above by the Group

issued by the Hong Kong

in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the 2021 Continuing Connected Transactions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Company operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’

relevant income, respectively.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
retirement schemes operated by the
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of

local authorities. The
their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. The Group’s total
contributions to these schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to HK$66,514,000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”

contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Board confirms
that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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AUDITOR

KPMG retired as the auditor of the Company upon the expiration
of its term of office with effect from the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2020.

Ermnst & Young was appointed as auditor of the Company
following the retirement of KPMG. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been audited by Ernst & Young,
who will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By order of the Board

China Everbright Greentech Limited
WANG Tianyi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA
EVERBRIGHT GREENTECH LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

979 King’s Road,

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 153 to 286, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021,
consolidated statement of comprehensive

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements,

significant accounting policies.

including a summary of

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
December 2021,
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

as at 31 and of its consolidated financial

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

27/F, One Taikoo Place

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

B M % AN

RREFTEETSET Tel EiE: +852 2846 9383
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

BAEER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAgEEIZEIE (&)

How our audit addressed

Key audit matter the key audit matter
BRERSE BARERPNMTEEERREERSIE

Recognition of construction revenue from service concession arrangements

K E RS 1 AE S T 2 BB W s AR

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has Our audit procedures, included, amongst others,
recognised revenue arising from construction services under the KPR EZEFEE (HAaE)

terms of service concession agreements of approximately

HK$1,737 million, which is measured based on the Group’s () evaluating the objectivity, competence and

estimation of the fair value of construction services and the independence of the independent valuer and
progress of construction work completed during the year for surveyors;
each project. FHEE S L ER & B SR E BEM - BT

HEZZ-_—F+-A=+—RHIEFE " BE£ECRERSE KIS
BT A R R WY R R R I A AR TS B A W e KB 17,3718 T
WhRE ESBEHSEEFANEEREAALERETKE (i) involving our internal valuation specialists to

ETREENHBFTMETE ° assess the bases and key assumptions used

in the valuation of construction services with
Significant judgement and estimation are required to determine reference to observable market data and
() the fair value of construction services which involves comparable companies;

estimation of the total construction costs and the gross profit WREMAORNISEEERDEA]BERN TS
margin of each project and (i) the completion status of BRAEREARFNHEERBHEETREAN

construction work for the year. EERERKRER

BE)PRMFTSEEERERAREMNENRERBALER

(Y FRRETRTHAMRIFELERHE KA - (i) checking the underlying data used in the
construction progress reports to construction

The Group engaged an independent valuer and independent agreements and invoices; and

surveyors to assess the fair value of construction services and REREEERERMAMABAERERE R R

the progress of construction work up to the year-end date, NEEE I

respectively.

BEEBEZE—EZBUGEMEBLASMYBIFHEEZEFLH (v) understanding management’s process in

IR ERBN AR ERBRETRNEE estimating budgeted costs and cost to
completion for incomplete projects.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the THREFTEEMRARARTIEENTIAAR

financial statements. BIEMIE ©

MER R B BN B TS R R M REB K5
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZEE

R EXEIR (&)

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

BEMRERPUAEEERBERELSIE

Provision for expected credit losses on contract assets and debtors

BRIEER WA BRI 15 B E1R AT

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of contract
assets and debtors amounted to approximately HK$9,511
million and HK$5,524 million, respectively, net of provision for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of approximately HK$14 million.
RZEBEZ_—FT_A=+—RH &HNEEIEVEXNEKREE
D RIH BB 5 AE T KB E5.248 T - IR TBHEE KB
(TEHEEEE]) BELEE1,4008 T -

Management performed impairment assessment of debtors and
contract assets without significant financing component under
the simplified approach whereas contract assets with significant
financing component under the general approach.
ERERBMIRENZHEEAREKR D NEKERRE L
BEETARENGL MBRE-REESTEZHABEARMEKRD
&R EEETRERME -

Significant management judgements and estimations are
involved in the assessment of ECLs after considering historical
settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit rating of debtors, and
forecast economic conditions. Management has engaged an
independent valuer to assist in the calculation of ECLs.
RERBBEGERN - RERIBEN - EHANERTRRIELE
RAE - HHEEEETERERERE AN LM - ERBED
ZRE-ZE L EMGE S EEREEEE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 21 and 22 to the
financial statements.

AW EH NSRRI 21 %22

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,

HANBEZEFERE(EHRER)

(M

(il

(i

(iv

=

=

obtaining an understanding of management’s
basis in determining ECLs;
THREREETANEEBRENEE

evaluating management’s basis of estimation
of loss rates by checking ageing profiles and
historical settlement patterns on sample basis;
FRMERERRBELBTEERRN - 5T
EREOERAEEHEE

assessing the competence, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer; and
LN BB B ERE )  REERE Y
MRk

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us to evaluate the methodology of ECLs
calculation and the key parameters used with
reference to external available data sources.
P REMBANBEEZK R TETELRE
BEEBFTERN AN R E N A A EIE RIR
EARERE2E -




OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

included in the Annual

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, intentional

forgery, omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

procedures that are

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s abilty to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of

the consolidated financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit and Risk Management Committee with

a statement that we have complied with

relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence and to communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected

to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fok Lai Ching.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

8 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBE®R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —T-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T ke
REVENUE &= 5 8,446,999 9,835,376
Direct costs and operating expenses BHERAREEER (6,101,028) (6,823,836)
Gross profit E7 2,345,971 3,011,540
Other revenue H b g a5 6 313,890 252,390
Other gains/(losses), net Hilezs, (BER) FHE 6 1,082 (7,155)
Impairment losses of intangible assets EEEEREBEEE 17 - (216,723)
Administrative expenses THER (628,561) (550,837)
Finance costs MBER 7 (741,858) (543,564)
Share of profits of associates Pl Bt & R =) 2 A 82,390 —
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures — FT{i & &2 AT &
E18 (24,312) (19,464)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBIAT R R 8 1,348,602 1,926,187
Income tax FriS %% 11 (228,571) (412,879)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 1,120,031 1,513,308
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BB
Equity shareholders of the Company A E) = IR R 1,110,385 1,502,532
Non-controlling interests FE 2 I 1 7 9,646 10,776
1,120,031 1,513,308
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 72 A#Ex R EREN
TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE ERAEF
COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR R #E (BL) 53.74 72.72
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FREEZH WK=K

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =-—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEZEF 1,120,031 1,513,308
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME His2EBA
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be REBHARAIEENHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Bz EMEEmBA
periods: (E548) -
Changes in fair value of debt instrument at fair BRAREFAEMEE
value through other comprehensive income, WARER T AR
net of nil tax NAEEE  \BRIEL
FE (131,727) =
Exchange differences on translation of financial BMEFBRINE BB RE
statements of entities outside Hong Kong, EAZENZERE KR
net of nil tax THIE
— Subsidiaries — WELF 549,700 1,018,210
— Associates — BN\ A] 6,608 5,216
— Joint ventures — BEDE 1,492 3,636
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEFEHMEEUA -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX kR A 426,073 1,027,062
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE REE2ERALTE
YEAR 1,546,104 2,540,370
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: s
Equity shareholders of the Company KRARERRKE 1,526,163 2,508,635
Non-controlling interests FEPZE AR RE o 19,941 31,735
1,546,104 2,540,370
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR R &

At 31 December 2021 A=ZE—-—&+—-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 14 5,367,020 3,848,120
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 700,217 648,609
Goodwill Bk 16 162,638 157,609
Intangible assets mEE 17 14,365,263 13,311,103
Interests in joint ventures GEPEER 18 24,761 44,632
Interests in associates B8 N B 19 254,413 165,415
Other receivables, deposits and Hab eI ~ Ze Rk
prepayments TEfTRIB 22 781,099 816,945
Contract assets BREE 21 6,900,257 6,310,283
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 27 82,450 64,467
Total non-current assets ERBEERTE 28,638,118 25,367,183
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 20 327,694 218,493
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FE U AR 3R« Efth B UK
prepayments B e RBNFIE 22 6,311,107 3,001,399
Contract assets BREE 21 2,610,620 3,945,493
Tax recoverable A] U& B % 18 7,932 5,047
Pledged bank deposits EEBIRITF R 23 160,542 219,415
Deposits with banks RITIFA 23 - 1,663
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 23 2,483,568 2,505,975
Total current assets MBEEETE 11,901,463 9,897,485
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Creditors, other payables and accrued FERTBR R - B b FE T 5K
expenses 18 K ESTE A 24 4,114,988 3,970,968
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t E$R1T R H (g & 25 4,493,433 2,314,706
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 854 2,333
Tax payables JE 1~ 5 18 45,684 47,530
Total current liabilities mEN B BB 8,654,959 6,335,537
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #&& Bf # ik % &

At 31 December 2021 A —ZE——&+—-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 3,246,504 3,561,948
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 31,884,622 28,929,131
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kERBEE
Other payables B fE S 3RIE 24 222,062 150,568
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T BIRIT R EMEE 25 16,057,663 14,618,667
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) 14,782 6,503
Deferred tax liabilities RIERHIEEE 27 1,444,748 1,286,552
Total non-current liabilities ERB B EERR 17,739,255 16,062,290
NET ASSETS EEFHE 14,145,367 12,866,841
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity shareholders PN/NEIE 2 5
of the Company FEAG#E =
Share capital A& 7 28 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves & 29 12,153,166 10,916,253

13,761,195 12,624,282

Non-controlling interests FEE A 2 384,172 342,559
TOTAL EQUITY AR 14,145,367 12,866,341
QIAN Xiaodong LO Kam Fan
BEBER ERE
Director Director

5= 5=
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Equity

GERBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =_—F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AARRERRES
Non-
Share Share Exchange Fair value Other  Reserve Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve fund profits Total interests equity
RE& ROEE EXRE DAERE HERE wEE REEAN 8% FeRER RZEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000
BRI EMTr B¥Tn E%Tr B¥Tn E%Tx B¥Txn E%Tx B¥Tn  E%Tx
At 1 January 2021 R-Z-—4-F-H 1,608,029 3,083,381*  261,249* - (8,615) 355,601 6,324,637 12,524,282 342,550 12,866,841
Profit for the year REERF - - - - - - 1,110,385 1,110,385 9,646 1,120,031
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ AEEEMZENA/
for the year: (BR):
Changes in fair value of debt BAREI AL
instrument at fair value 2ERADESR
through other comprehensive IAMDAEE
income, net of nil tax g RTHE - - - (181,727) - - - (181,727) - (181,727
Exchange differences on RERBRNEEY
translation of financial BREREEZER
statements of entities outside 8 NRSHA
Hong Kong, net of nil tax
— Subsidiaries ~- HBRR - - 530,405 - - - - 530405 10,295 549,700
— Associates - BEAR - - 6,608 - - - - 6,608 - 6,608
— Joint ventures - RELE - - 1,492 - - - - 1,492 - 1,492
Total comprehensive income AEEREMALE
for the year - - 547,505  (131,727) - - 1,110,385 1,526,163 19,941 1,546,104
Capital contributions received by F2ENBARMIHER
non-wholly owned subsidiaries ERKBAGZ LA
from non-controlling interests % - - - - - - - - 24,020 24,020
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE—HHBAR 30 - - - - - - - - 10 10
2020 final dividend ECTEERARE 12 —-  (144,625) - - - - —-  (144,625) - (144,625)
2021 interim dividend ZEC-FERERE 12 —-  (144,625) - - - - —-  (144,625) - (144,625)
Dividend paid to non-controlling e PNGE R
interests of non-wholly owned RER A 2B S
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (2,358) (2,358)
Transfer to reserve fund ERERES - - - - - 87,997  (87,997) - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ-%
+=A=1+-H 1,608,020 3,694,131*  808,754* (131,727 (8,615 443,508* 7,347,025* 13,761,195 384172 14,145,367

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$12,153,166,000 as at

31

December

2021

*

(2020:

HK$10,916,253,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

ZERERRERN _ZE_—F+=-_A=+—A8H2
REMBRR R ZERA FEHEE12,153,166,000
T(ZZE-Z4F : #%10,916,253,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #&#E =% 8 *

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T —TF+_A=+—HILFE

Share
capital

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share
premium
BRIEE EAREE
HK$'000  HK$'000
RETR  ARTR

Exchange
reserve

Other
reserve
E i1
HK$'000
BETT

&

Reserve
fund
Ei-ka
HK$'000
BETT

Retained

profits
RERM
HK$'000
T

Total

HK$'000
AR

Non-
controlling
interests

HK$'000

BB

Total equity

HK$'000
LR

At 1 January 2020 RZZ-TF-F—H 1,608,029 4,313,953 (744,854) (8,615) 265,882 4,911,824 10,346,219 241,133 10,587,352
Profit for the year AEERF = = = = - 1502582 1,502,532 10,776 1,513,308
Other comprehensive income REEEMEERA :
for the year:
Exchange differences on REEBFNERIT
translation of financial BREEZERE
statements of entities outside B RERE
Hong Kong, net of nil tax
— Subsidiaries - WEBAR - - 997,251 - - - 997,251 20,959 1,018,210
— Associates - BERT = = 5216 = = = 5,216 = 5216
— Joint ventures - RERE = = 3,636 = = = 3,636 = 3,636
Total comprehensive income AEE2ERALE
for the year - - 1,006,103 - - 1502532 2,508,635 31,785 2,540,370
Capital contributions received by FRENBLAMIERK
non-wholly owned subsidiaries ErlBmEzHER
from non-controling interests - - - - - - - 78,366 78,366
2019 final dividend —E-NEERERE —  (165.286) - - - —  (165,288) —  (165,286)
2020 interim dividend “ZoSEERHRE 12 - (165286) = = = - (165.286) - (165286)
Dividend paid to non-controlling EmE2EMBAR
interests of non-wholly owned FEREREN ZRE
subsidiaries = = = = = = = (8,675) (8,675)
Transfer to reserve fund ERTRRES = = = = 89,719 (89,719) - - -
At 31 December 2020
+-A=t-H 1,608,029  3,983,381* 261,249 (8,615)  355,601* 6,324,637 12,524,282 342,559 12,866,841
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2021
—m—_&

P

HK$’000
BETT

2020
—E-FF

HK$'000
BT

Profit before tax B B¢ BT & A 1,348,602 1,926,187
Adjustments for: KR
Depreciation of property, plant and L]
equipment e 8 198,997 172,296
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEZENE 8 18,093 16,625
Amortisation of intangible assets MmN EEEH 8 530,392 405,923
Impairment losses of intangible assets | A ERIEEE 8 - 216,723
(Write-back of impairment)/impairment EHEE (K8
losses of contract assets B El), FEEEE 8 (1,094) 7,524
Impairment losses of debtors JE U BR AR B 18 8 2,134 15
Finance costs MEER 7 741,858 543,564
Interest income AMEWA 6 (23,103) (17,451)
Gain on disposal of property, plant LEWE  BE K
and equipment B W 6 (1,468) (384)
Share of losses of joint ventures FTE& & EEE 24,312 19,464
Share of profit of associates Pt Bt & A Bl & 7 (82,390) —
Effect of foreign exchange rates HNPEDE R B E) v R &
changes, net i (59,060) (15,257)
2,697,273 3,275,229
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEgm), w (100,606) 24,153
Increase in debtors, other receivables, JFEUSBR R~ L Al JE U R
deposits and prepayments 18 - & RIEMNFKIE
30 (3,255,403) (1,838,073)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHREERD (M) 907,782 (2,327,664)
Increase in creditors, other payables and FERTERZN « Efth FE 1K
accrued expenses 15 & fE 5T 2 R 38 0 289,527 154,866
Cash generated from/(used in) KEFEE/
operations (FPR)z8 < 538,573 (711,489)
Interest received B W F 8 23,103 17,451
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) income =% A R AN
tax paid (B FTiE#R (134,983) (193,810)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating &E& EBFE (FrA)
activities ZEESRETFHE 426,693 (887,848)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HREBHERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =-—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2021 240210]
—E_—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok i
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBASRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEEY % - H/E L& (1,270,346) (760,468)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE — M B A 7] 30 261 —
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZ AL (62,210) (210,007)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BE KK
property, plant and equipment I8 B T8 5008 2,386 1,128
Additions to intangible assets HERTEE (1,484,939) (2,188,170)
Capital contribution to an associate AE—REENT - (83,578)
Capital contribution to joint ventures AEEEDE (3,694) (5)
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries BAFEDWENE
acquired in prior years RNAEIZHAR - (43,053)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use HEFRAEEES
assets F1S 53R 15(a) 15,474 —
Decrease in deposits with banks RITIE OB 1,689 20,908
Net cash flows used in investing RETZBRMAZ
activities ReRE8FE (2,801,379) (3,263,245)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHREASRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FIBRITE R 6,714,770 6,669,951
Proceeds from issue of medium-term BT B E R TS R
notes, net of related expenses paid (BHKRETHEES
i 32) 1,201,501 1,091,047
Repayment of bank loans ERBRITER (4,737,843) (3,930,248)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank BEHEFRITFER
deposits (45 n) 64,829 (15,797)
Decrease in amounts due from fellow i EE N EMNG]
subsidiaries RIBR D 7,453 39,855
Capital contributions received by non-wholly — FE& &M B 2 71
owned subsidiaries from non-controlling FE 122 AR 4 2 WUER
interests Sz &R 24,020 78,366
Decrease in amounts due to non-controling &t FE#% A% 2
interests IR - (16,865)
Increase in an amount due to an FEAT— R A AR A A

intermediate holding company SRIEIE N - 787,010
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HREHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—m—_&

—E-FF

HK$'000
BT

Notes HK$’000
Mo aE BT T

FEd & & 1 R RIFIR AN

Increase in amounts due from joint

ventures (14,475) (15,298)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of B RAR AR

the Company AT 2 B% B (289,250) (330,572)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2t 3E2E W B A 7

of non-wholly owned subsidiaries JEFE AR RE S IR B (2,358) (8,675)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMRZAEHD (2,324) (4,642)
Interest portion of lease payments HEMRZAERS (610) (466)
Interest paid EERENES) (691,780) (536,468)
Net cash flows from financing Rl EEE TS

activities ReREFHE 2,273,933 3,807,198
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS B FE (100,753) (343,895)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning H#HzEEREELE

of year B 2,505,975 2,685,459
Effect of foreign exchange rates NEERSFH 2 HE

changes, net HEE 78,346 164,411
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERzBREERBESSE

END OF YEAR B4 23 2,483,568 2,505,975
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEEWER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTT 4R 23 2,304,603 2,207,060
Non-pledged bank deposits with original RES R R B B3 B

maturity of less than three months when DR=1{E Az &K

acquired RITFER 178,965 298,915
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BE&FREXRFRZ

the statement of cash flows ReRREEEY 2,483,568 2,505,975
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Everbright Greentech Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
construction, integrated biomass utilisation project operation
(biomass direct combustion power generation projects,
biomass heat supply project, biomass electricity and heat
cogeneration projects, waste-to-energy projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects),
hazardous and solid waste treatment project operation
landfill projects,

incineration projects, general industrial solid waste electricity

(hazardous waste hazardous waste
and heat cogeneration projects and physicochemical and

resources recycling projects), environmental remediation
project operation and solar energy and wind power project

operation (solar energy projects and wind power projects).

The immediate holding company of the Company is China
Everbright Green Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. In the
opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity of the
Company is China Investment Corporation,

established in the PRC.

an entity

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which HKFRSs,

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued

include all Hong Kong
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
debtors which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

1.

2.1

AEREEEH
PEXARGERRERAT(TARADA
—RXRAEHSFTMKZLZBERAR - K
A 8] 2 5k M B F R A2 % Cricket  Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

FR -ARAIREWNBAR (KBIARE
BOZEZ2XBHAEE EMEGREFA
BHES(EMEEMBEEER - £hE@
RIFEH - AMERTHMEIER - BIREEE
BUREMERNFHEE—BLIER) &
EEREERERBES (EEERIER &
BEREEE —RMIXEEASHMIEE
Myt RERECFBIER)  RREEIEE
BERNABERRBIEEES CLREE
BHEREIEBER) -

ARAZERERABSFREIAGZEE
BRERAR  HARNEBHEBRESEM
R ZBREERR - EERR  ARAILZ
RRERERRTEKRERREEAR
HANPEKY 2B -

m B A

HEMBRRLDRREEGAMAG(F
BEFEAE]) B2 BEMBEHRE LR
(IBFEHBREER D (BEMEEBYH
WEER -BFAEAEA(ETE G E
A REE)  BELAREFTRANBER
AGRB 69 45 B8 5 7E T AR B = 1t 5 75 Sk
ERBELKAEIRR BRETEERA
REFFEMNRUERRIN - L EFBRKTD
B2 BRaBREPEN  FBREDH
BERBON TR -



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for

the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that

such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (ii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises () the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (early adopted)

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

The Group has assessed that the adoption of the above
revised standards has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts® ®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current® *

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41’
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

. As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

2 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application, but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have any significant
impact on its financial performance and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties

sharing control.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part
of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
infows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, from 20 to 50 years after the
date of completion.

— Plant and machinery 5 to 25 years

— Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the
remaining term of the
lease, if shorter

— Other properties leased for 3 to 22 years
own use carried at cost
— Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles, electronic 3 to 12 years
equipment and others
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The wuseful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 BEREHBERBE ()

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

The following intangible assets are amortised from the date

they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are

as follows:

Integrated biomass utilisation project 30 to 50 years
operating rights

Hazardous and solid waste treatment 20 to 30 years

project operating rights

Licences 6 to 10 years
Technologies 8 years
Backlog contracts 2 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal.
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the

Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
intangible asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
component(s) and to account for the lease component and
the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use
asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 10 to 50 years
Buildings 20 to 30 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of debtors that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Debtors that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

In certain cases, the Group may consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due from the end of
the credit term. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Contract assets that contain a significant financing
component and financial assets other than debtors are
subject to impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for measurement of

ECLs except for contract assets that do not contain a

significant financing component and debtors which apply the

simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For debtors and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, lease liabilities, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries and a non-controlling interest, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise biomass fuel, spare parts and
consumables used in the repairs and maintenance and are
stated at cost less provision for obsolete. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis. When
inventories are consumed, the carrying amount of these
inventories is recognised as an expense in the statement of
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty

with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs.

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced.

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternate use to the Group and the Group has an

enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
If none of the above conditions are met, the Group

recognises revenue at the point in time when the

performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
the point in time when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the surveyors’ assessment of
work performed and the costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the Group provides more than one service in a

service concession arrangement, the transaction price will be

allocated to each performance obligation by reference to

their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone

selling prices are not directly observable, they are estimated

based on expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market

assessment approach, depending on the availability of
observable information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the

promised amount of consideration for the effect of a

financing component if it is significant.

(a)

(b)

Construction service revenue

The Group’s performance in respect of construction
services creates or enhances an asset or work in
progress that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced, thus the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over
time, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue from construction services under a service
concession agreement is estimated on a cost-plus
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the date of the agreement applicable
to similar construction services rendered.

Operation revenue

The Group recognised revenue from integrated
biomass utilisation project operation services,
hazardous and solid waste treatment operation
services, environmental remediation project operation
services and solar energy and wind power project
operation services when the related services are
rendered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources and other income

Finance and interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for “impairment of
financial assets”.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Annual Report 2021 1
—T—FFR 93

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf #§ R 3 Kt 5t

24 EANSBRBE (&)

Wi HE R ()
X B MR W zs B A

81 75 K B B TH 3% FE 5T & R A B R A
KFRBEBEMBERANX (AIRER TAR
FH (W8 M) BE R R ARG ARKE
TWAEEEREECHEERTFEZN
K)FTEWER -

BREE

BREERNBEEMRRE TEFME
BBz BB EERN - HAKEERP
XNREMIERAEDHAMNEBERE
IRBTEFPEITEL  AIBLMH &2
ERBREERGNEE -aNEEAE
TREBNE  ERFFEReREELR
BISFTEERST ©

BHEME

BHRBERETEFPRAKREKEBEYXIR
T8 8 A OB S SRR A R B A (AT &
REVER - AHNABRAKBEETALN
(AR E M REHNEIREREEF)
Ry i o0 A ML o



194

China Everbright Greentech Limited
FEDE R ERRER DA

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as part
of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,

expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying

judgements,

disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
in the financial

effect on the amounts recognised

statements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into BOT and BOO arrangements in
respect of its projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT arrangements and
certain BOO arrangements are service concession
arrangements under HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 12, because
the local government controls and regulates the services
that the Group must provide with the infrastructure at a
pre-determined service charge. In respect of BOT
arrangements, upon expiry of concession right agreements,
the

government at nil consideration.

infrastructure has to be transferred to the local
Infrastructure for BOO
in the service concession

arrangements is used

arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Construction contracts

As explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2.4
to the financial statements for “Revenue recognition” and
“Contract assets”, revenue and profit recognition on an
incomplete project is dependent on estimating the final
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activity undertaken by the
Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
As a result, until this point is reached, the
concession assets” as disclosed in note 21 will not include

“Service

profit which the Group may eventually realise from the work
done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of
revenue or costs may be higher or lower than estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would affect the
recognised
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

revenue and profit in future years as an

Construction revenue arising from construction services is
recognised based on the estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the proportion of construction
work completed to date for each project. The fair value of
construction services is determined on a cost plus mark up
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin applicable to similar construction services rendered.

Provision for ECLs for debtors and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
debtors and contract assets. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
settlement pattern, ageing profiles, credit loss experience,
published credit ratings with forward-looking information. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for ECLs for debtors and contract assets
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss

in circumstances and forecast

experience,
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

published credit ratings and forecast of

The carrying amounts of debtors and contract assets at
31 December 2021 were HK$5,524,382,000 (2020:
HK$2,290,652,000) and HK$9,510,877,000 (2020:
HK$10,255,776,000), respectively. The information about the
ECLs on the Group’s debtors and contract assets is
22 and 38 to the financial

disclosed in notes 21,

statements.

Impairment losses of gooadwill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements for “Business combinations and
goodwill”, goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or
to a group of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination for the
purpose of impairment assessment, which requires
significant judgement. The Group determined that the group
of cash-generating units to which goodwill was allocated
reflected the lowest level at which goodwill was monitored
for internal reporting and was not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of

Assets.

3.

BERE A R A (&)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment losses of gooawill (Continued)

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at
31 December 2021 was HK$162,638,000 (2020:
HK$157,609,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwil)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of

impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets have
not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether such assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of each CGU to which
the assets have been allocated, which is the higher of its

fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The calculations of the fair value less costs of disposal or
value in use involves significant estimations about future
business performance with key assumptions including
forecasted revenue growth rate and discount rates used.
The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue growth rates, operating costs and discount rates.
Further details are set out in note 17 to the financial

statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax laws, regulations, relevant
interpretation and practices, and other related policies.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets at 31 December 2021
was HK$82,450,000 (2020: HK$64,467,000). Further details

are included in note 27 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its business by segments, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following four

reportable segments.

(i) Integrated biomass utilisation project construction and
operation: this segment engages in the construction
and operation of biomass direct combustion power

biomass heat supply project,

biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects,

generation projects,

waste-to-energy projects and integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.

3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i) Hazardous and solid waste treatment project
construction and operation: this segment engages in
the construction and operation of hazardous waste
landfill projects, hazardous waste incineration projects,

industrial

general solid waste electricity and heat

cogeneration projects and physicochemical and
resources recycling projects to generate revenue from
construction services, revenue from operation services
as well as finance income.
(i) Environmental remediation project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of environmental
remediation projects covering restoration of industrial
contaminated sites, contaminated farmland, mines and
landfills,
integrated treatment of oil sludge, treatment of river/

treatment of industrial gas emission,
lake sediments and industrial sludge, construction and
operation of wetland parks, environmental stewardship
services and anti-seepage at landfill sites to generate

revenue from operation services.

(iv)  Solar energy and wind power project operation: this
segment engages in the operation of solar energy
projects and wind power projects to generate revenue
from operation services.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, goodwill, interests in associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception of
intercompany receivables and other corporate assets which
are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities include
other
payables and accrued expenses attributable to the activities
of the individual segments and interest-bearing bank and

tax payables, deferred tax liabilities, creditors,

other borrowings managed directly by the segments, with
the exception of intercompany payables and other corporate
liabilities which are managed on a group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
(“adjusted EBITDA”). To arrive at adjusted

EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further excluded for items

amortisation”

not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ and auditor’s remuneration and other head office
or corporate administration costs.

In addition to segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue, interest expense from borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation and additions to non-current segment assets

used by the segments in their operations.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEDEER (B
(Continued)
() Segment results, assets and liabilities i) PWBXBE -EEREE

AEEGRAFREERDE LD BERR
MR ASESESERERMH A
THREDBEHHINMT

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the year
is set out below:

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project ~ waste treatment project
construction and

operation

Environmental
remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation power project operation
AREER
EEEREE it

construction and
operation

REREREERA
BEREE

thERAAAER
BEREE
2021 2021 20 2021 2020 2021 2021

REBHAREE

—R--F —Rc--F F -R=-fF —Ro-F —Rc--F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETR EETL BETR BETR EETL BETR

Segment revenue (note 5):
Revenue from external customers and

78 (P 35) -
RESRBFHUER

reportable segment revenue ATRE 2 HBWE 6,264,735 8,318,394 1,658,459 1,158,305 318,320 167,656 205,485 191,021 8,446,999 9,835,376
Segment results: ABEE:
Reportable segment proft (adjusted EBITDA) BYREZHBEN

(A& FHEEBITDA) 2,060,530 2,557,204 686,664 419,733 42,182 39,223 189,181 181,365 2,978,557 3,197,525

Finance costs BB ER (741,858)  (543,564)
Depreciation and amortisation, including REREH (BEASESS)

unallocated portion (747,482)  (694,844)
Unallocated head office and corporate KARBAAREERA

income 29,272 10,910
Unallocated head office and corporate KARBRAARCERR

expenses (169,887)  (143,840)
Consolidated proft before tax GRBRKANRA 1,348,602 1,926,187
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4.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
0]
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December

Other segment information: EHHEH :

Finance costs HHER

Unallocated finance costs KARUBER

Depreciation and amortisation REREH

Unallocated depreciation and amortisation RARFERES

Impairment losses of intangible assets BV EERRER

Impairment losses/(write-back of impairment) EREFRADEERESE/
of debtors and contract assets and (FRRE) RERKE
bad debt recovery

Share of (profits) and losses of joint ventures iR B0 % (BH) RER

Share of profits of associates B E AR AR

RENX  BEREE RRE
RE BVAE BER

Additions to property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets,

goodwill and non-current portion of BRRAZENADH
prepayments

Additions to non-current portion of contract EEANEEZFENRHSH
assets

Segment results, assets and liabilities (

4. BEDHER (&

) oHMEE -BERER (A)

BE+-A=t—BLFE

Hazardous and solid
waste treatment project
construction and
operation
EEREREERR
BEREE
2020 2021 2020

F Z8z-f% 2
HK$'000  HK$'000
BYTn  EETR

Integrated biomass
utilisation project
construction and

operation

Environmental
remediation project
operation

Solar energy and wind
power project operation
KRBER
EEEAEE
2021
—BC-F
HK$'000
BT

Total

EHEREAAER
BEREE
2021
= =t
HK$'000
8T

BEBREREE
2021 2020
=t £
HK§000  HK$'000
BRI ERTR

20 202
F -g=-%
HK$'000

383,670 336,161 48,120 38,950 10,707 8,065 19,031 19,587 461,528

280,330

478280 369,157 180,518 139,606 13,217 13,989 71,109 65,609 743,124

4,358

- 216728 - - - - - - -

(881) 7,430 1,821 109 (554) - - - 386

- - 24,560 19,464 - - (248) - 24,312

(82,390) - - - - - - - (82,390)
367,482 2,356,349 2,470,537 2,245,611 49,308 7,607 51,993 5404 2,939,320 4,

940,619 2,428,423 7,086 7,367 - - - — 947,705

402,713
140,851
588,451

6,393
216,723

7,539
19,464

614,971

2,435,790

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—BHLFE

Hazardous and solid

Integrated biomass

utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental
construction and construction and remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation Total
ENEREFAER RERERREER KRBEER
BEREE BRBEEAEE EEEAEE
2021 2 2021 2020 2021
—8--F _Z-_TF -—B--§ —EE “B--fF —B--F
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
BETR AETT EETn  B¥ETr  EBTx BETT
Reportable segment assets ATREZADEE 28,328,011 25658491 9,223,772 6,707,060 759,083 660590 1,388,933 1312799 39,699,799 34,338,941
Unallocated head office and corporate KARBLARGEEE
assets 839,782 925,727
Consolidated total assets GREEEE 40,539,581 35,264,668
Reportable segment liabilities AYRE2ADAR 11,398,281 11,105026 4,701,744 2942256 572,879 487,772 447,935 456,999 17,120,839 14,992,063
Unallocated head office and corporate FARBRARGERE
liabilities 9,273,375 7,405,774

Consolidated total liabilties GaBERE

26,394,214 22,397,827




4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from
external customers, (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
and (i) the Group’s non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and
non-current portion of contract assets. The
geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided. The
geographical location of the assets is based on the
physical location of the asset in the case of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, whereas
the location of the operation to which they are
allocated in the case of other receivables, deposits
and prepayments, intangible assets and contract
assets.

Revenue from external
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WikiE - me RENRE  BVEE
REHWEEMmMS)ED

Non-current portion of
other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments and

Property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use
assets and

customers intangible assets contract assets

HitEWFIE  RER
Nk BERRE BAAREREGHNEEZ

RENREFzHE GRAREERENVEE EEC )

2020 2021
“T-%F ZBZ-F 1

HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$°000 HKSB OOO
BT RBE¥TT B¥Tn BT AT
PRC B 8,439,087 9,829,244 20,373,524 17,769,340 7,681,356 7,131,903
Hong Kong B 2,204 = 27,693 1,750 - =
Germany =E 5,618 6,132 31,283 36,742 - -
Total Bt 8,446,999 9,835,376 20,432,500 17,807,832 7,681,356 7,131,903

Information about a major customer

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has transactions with one (2020: one) local
government authority in the PRC from which the
revenue individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s
total revenue. The aggregate
customer during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$2,148,756,000 (2020:
HK$1,847,626,000).

revenue from this

(i) FEEFER
HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+t—HLFE"
AEBEPR—EAZBTEE(ZE=F
i —EEITRS  BERSEENKE

BEEANEERFZBFEI0NA L -HE=
T F+ZA=+—RALFE " KEZ
%)ﬁmuﬁzﬁﬁ,ﬁ@ ¥ 578 152,148,756,000 7T
— T T4 ¢ B5¥1,847,626,0007T) ©
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5. REVENUE 5 s
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W ot

Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation

EYWEHEENAER

2021

B &
HK$’000
BET T

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
BT T

project construction services A RS W a 859,786 3,869,337
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEKEEREEE

treatment project construction services RS WA 876,831 593,292
Revenue from integrated biomass utilisation EYESREFAEE

project operation services EERB S 5,052,601 4,182,317
Revenue from hazardous and solid waste EEREEREIEE

treatment project operation services B RS W= 774,542 557,647
Revenue from environmental remediation project IRIE{E1ETE B & & RS

operation services g 318,320 167,656
Revenue from solar energy and wind power HREERRAEIEEB

project operation services EE R E 205,485 191,021
Revenue from contracts with customers HFE A #H = 8,087,565 9,561,270
Finance income from service concession RRAG T S L 2

arrangements IRl N 359,434 274,106
Total revenue W a5 8,446,999 9,835,376

The aggregated revenue from construction services, revenue Be—_2-_—F+-_A=+—HLFEE "

R B A E M U R ) B S AR S A
BERBU LB BBABLERBIE
6,945,368,000c (Z T T F : B K
8,659,260,0007T) o 20 Bf 75 # 3k M sE4 FT 3%
E o ZEWEET ATESER o

from operation services and finance income derived from
the local government authorities in the PRC amounted to
HK$6,945,368,000 (2020: HK$8,659,260,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The revenues are included in
four segments as disclosed in note 4 to the financial
statements.



Annual Report 2021 2
—T—FFR 09

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf ¥ & % Bt 5

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5 W= (&
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEEHWE
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (@ DI B

Integrated biomass  Hazardous and solid
utilisation project  waste treatment project Environmental

construction and construction and remediation project  Solar energy and wind
operation operation operation power project operation
ENEGEAAER  RERERREER EREER
EEREE BEREE BRBEEAEE EEEAEE
2021 2020 2021 20! 2021 2020
—g=-F - =t 13 g F -g--f
HK$'000 HK$'000 { HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT AETT BT E%Tn  B¥Tn BT
(i) Types of goods and services () Y REBHE
Construction services BIER 859,786 3,869,337 876,831 593,292 - - - — 1,736,617 4,462,629
Operation services BERE 5,052,601 4,182,317 774,542 557,647 318,320 167,606 205485 191,021 6,350,948 5,098,641
Total revenue from contracts with EFENNGRAE
customers 5912,387 8,051,654 1,651,373 1,150,939 318,320 167,606 205485 191,021 8,087,565 9,561,270
(i) Geographical markets* (i) EF5*
Hong Kong B - = - = - = 2,294 = 2,294 =
PRC e 5912,387 8,051,654 1,651,373 1,150,939 318,320 167,656 197,573 184,889 8,079,653 9,565,138
Germany [ - - - - - - 5,618 6,132 5618 6,132
Total revenue from contracts with BEENNRAE
customers 5912,387 8,051,654 1,651,373 1,150,939 318,320 167,606 205485 191,021 8,087,565 9,561,270
* The geographical location of customers is based on * BRI R RIS IR B B 5

the location at which the services were provided.

Timing of revenue recognition W 7z 1 5R B BT

2021 2020

—S-—fF —EFF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BET T BT

Services transferred over time BE BF 82 7% 2 BR 75 7,967,798 9,489,724
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—BHER & 119,767 71,546

8,087,565 9,661,270
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)  Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as

follows:

5. Wa (&)
BEFAEN WS (A)

b) EXEE
R+—RA=+—RESREHRTEYN
BEE(REBTHE D REEIT) 2R
SEBRTEET

2021 2020
—B-—-fF —ZT_FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T ook e e

Expected to be recognised within one TEE N —F AR
year 10,190,090 9,784,220
Expected to be recognised after one year FEHR#S A —FEHER 177,318,474 196,749,121

187,508,564 206,533,341

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to
construction services and operation services in
connection with the Group’s environmental protection
projects, of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within 50 years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15 and does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfied the remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less.

ENRESRTEORTLBHN—F
BHEIAR/BE X FEREES A
SERREBNARATFRARETE
ERGLELERG <BHOBEE -ED
EERTENETZIMEEMRFE
REBAEMER —FAER R/ -
EXFEEZSRATBREZR G
AENE -

AEERATERNBREERF5
BT ZATRERENERLEBRE
AEEBRREBEHER S —FLIA
AZAHZBTRORTEEKESR
RESZkm 2 ER -



OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES),

NET

An analysis of other revenue and other gains/(losses), net is

as follows:
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H g 35

Vel

- EAt s (B548)

Hiplas R E e, (B1E) FB2 A
1n

2021 2020

—EB-—F ZEERF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BET T BT T

Other revenue Hfth i &%

Interest income B U A 23,103 17,451
Government grants* BT By & 162,552 124,721
Value-added tax refunds* AP R 76,430 87,989
Others EHAh 51,805 22,229
313,890 252,390
* Government grants of HK$158,444,000 (2020: * HE-ZT-—F+-_A=+—HItFE"

*k

HK$120,764,000) were granted during the year ended
31 December 2021 to subsidise certain integrated biomass
utilisation and hazardous and solid waste treatment projects
of the Group in the PRC. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of those grants. There is no assurance that the Group will
continue to receive such grants in the future. Government
grants received for which related expenditure has not yet
been undertaken are included in deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group was entitled to PRC value-added tax refunds of
HK$76,430,000 (2020: HK$87,989,000) during the vyear
ended 31 December 2021. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of such tax refunds. There is no assurance that the Group
will continue to receive such tax refunds in the future.

*k

7N 5 B & B AT 1 B 2 75 6 158,444,000
TT(ZZT T4 : ##120,764,0007T) °
NERAEERPENE TEDEGRET
BREELREEREEREE « WIZEHE
SHERER GG REMKASIE - R
REASBBRBIEBEESZSEHY
& o BMARAREEBAST 2 EWBTHE
SRR E MR RRFT ABRLTERA -

BE_ZE-_—&E+=-A=+—HItEE "
NEBAEESPTHEERERBE
76,430,000 L (ZE T F : B
87,989,0007T) ° U B 3% 55 3R B 4 4 R
BRIEHEREMRAEE - ERRBEANEE
AR EEESZSEN -
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6. OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), 6. Hfzs izt (&)
NET (Continued) FEE ()

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Other gains/(losses), net Hvlz (B518) T8

Net gain on disposal of items of property, plant  H&E¥% « HE K&
and equipment HE 2% 1,468 384

Write-back of impairment/(impairment losses) of & #)&EFEEE @
contract assets (FEERE) 1,094 (7,524)
Impairment losses of debtors FEWER R FEBEE (2,134) (15)
Bad debt recovered AR 654 =
1,082 (7,155)
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HBEAR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERIWHAT

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Interest on bank and other borrowings BRITREMEEZF A 648,344 539,409
Interest on medium-term notes FRHEIZE IR 2 F 8 62,247 23,026
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEGZAE 610 466
Asset-backed notes arrangement fee BEXFHER
AR B 94,730 —
Finance costs incurred ELEZUEER 805,931 562,901
Less: interest capitalised* B BRMEZFE* (64,073) (19,337)
741,858 543,564
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate ranging * HE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HIFE"
from 3.89% to 4.75% (2020: 3.05% to 4.95%) per annum BERATIENT3.890%E4.75% (=T —
during the year ended 31 December 2021. T 8.06%%4.95%) WFEFIEFLLE AR

{lg



8.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):
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B
i
i)

BEAEFNERMERGEA)

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok S abi
Cost of inventories consumed BEFERATFEZKA 2,943,017 2,190,698
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* %% - W= M & EITE" 198,997 172,296
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENS 18,093 16,625
Amortisation of intangible assets** A EEE 530,392 405,923
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEABEEY
measurement of lease liabilities HEMK 15,682 11,791
Auditor’s remuneration A LGIEA
— audit services — BRRB 2,900 2,650
— other services — HEMRE 1,000 729
3,900 3,379
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ {EERHE S (T
remuneration (note 9))* ExMe (F1:E9))¢
Wages and salaries IENFS 707,743 607,632
Pension scheme contributions BRIRFE 5T 2 51 66,514 31,218
774,257 638,850
Impairment losses of debtors FEU BR FFEE B 1R 2,134 15
Impairment losses of intangible assets mIEERBEEE - 216,723
(Write-back of impairment)/impairment losses of & #)& & (FE#EE),
contract assets FEEEE (1,094) 7,524
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 5 5 =R 10,677 (244)
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 8. BRUAIERF (&)

* The depreciation of property, plant and equipment of * Y% - BB KRR 3T & S #5163,026,000
HK$163,026,000 (2020: HK$139,906,000) was included in 7T (=T T4 ¢ 75 #139,006,0007T) 5
“Direct cost and operating expense” on the face of the AR BaREERARKEERIA -
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

- The amortisation of intangible assets of HK$512,008,000 b I B E#IE A% 512,008,000t (ZF =
(2020: HK$386,507,000) was included in “Direct cost and T4 ;A 18386,507,0007T) it AR A B
operating expense” on the face of the consolidated RIEERARKLEEAIA -
statement of profit or loss.

# As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited # RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H &xEBEL
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the SO RA] ATB A S BIE R KR FE
pension schemes in future years (2020: Nil). ZRNREFEIRR(ZT_TF 1 £]) -

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. EELFEBTHAEM=

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBCEM AR - 2 B 155 5F£383(1)

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), @ o CRMEEAR (FEEEFEE

(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and AP E2H R, FRNEEREEITH

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about ABMEST :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
AEE
2021 2020
—B=-—F —EFTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Fees e 990 720
Other emoluments: EM e
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERR
BN = 4,952 5,116
Discretionary bonuses BB AT 5,183 5,122
Pension scheme contributions RIKREE T EI 42X 972 1,232
11,107 11,470

12,097 12,190
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’ 9. BEENFETHAEMSE (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2021 B

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme

Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2ER BiRRE

we BNAE RiEEA Eig e @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BT BETTL BRI BT

Executive directors HITES

QIAN Xiaodong BER - 2,036 2,098 47 4,181

YANG Zhigiang R - 1,458 1,485 466 3,409

LO Kam Fan ERE - 1,458 1,600 459 3,517

- 4,952 5,183 972 11,107

Non-executive directors FHTES

WANG Tianyi X% - - - - -

GUO Ying Bl - - - - -

SONG Jian R - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES

CHOW Siu Lui FNE 330 - - - 330

Philip TSAQ ERE 330 - - - 330

YAN Houmin BER 330 - - - 330
990 - - - 990

990 4,952 5,183 972 12,097
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEEKTFZITHAEME (&
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2020 —E-EF
REEIE
allowances Pension
and benefits in -~ Discretionary scheme
Fees ‘ bonuses  contributions Total
Be Eis BB 3 B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Yok BT BT Yok S BRI
Executive directors HiTES
QIAN Xiaodong BER = 2,024 1,872 308 4,204
YANG Zhigiang & - 1,456 1,650 466 3,572
LO Kam Fan E#E = 1,456 1,600 458 3,514
- 4,936 5,122 1,232 11,290
Non-executive directors FHTES
WANG Tianyi X% - - - - -
GUO Ying Elp = = - - -
SONG Jian Rk - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
CHOW Siu Lui FNE 240 60 - - 300
Phiip TSAO ERE 240 60 - - 300
YAN Houmin BER 240 60 = = 300
720 180 - - 900
720 5,116 5,122 1,232 12,190
There was no arrangement under which a director or the RAFWEE I EMESHEETRAE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration ARFRRENREREE MO LTEHE -
during the year.
The discretionary bonuses of the Chief Executive Officer of RABTTHAFE BB ICALE o BI3EK -

the Company will be paid by instalments.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. &&= HMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FRNAEERTNEERE=2EF (=%
three directors (2020: three directors), details of whose ZEFE=RER)  BEZHFHFEER
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the EXHEF - FRABRTHA(ZEZZTF
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2020: two) MB) WIARFEETHEETHRABZR
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief SHMESNFMEFBAT

executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Salaries and other emoluments FehEMame 1,790 2,128
Discretionary bonuses B 15 5 AL 3,074 2,830
Pension scheme contributions RNRERT B 481 455
5,345 5,413

The number of the highest paid non-director and non-chief FHNFUTHE 2 FEERIIEFETH

executive employees whose remuneration fell within the AEERFTHEEMAZKAT :

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2021 2020
—E= —E-TF

HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 78 2 500,001 7T &
75 #3,000,0007C 2 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FRN - AEEWERANRDR)ESEHERIL
the directors of the Company or any of the highest paid FARRAESE 2 = WIE B 2 1 {7 B
employees who are not a director of the Company as an T EAMAREB IR MAREER 2
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as RSB E -

compensation for loss of office.
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11. INCOME TAX 11. FRiEH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as ARAEBREBEE—E - —F+=_A=+—
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in It FETEE BB T ERRAF
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: BT EELEEBFNNESHRERFB(ZZE
Nil). F|E)o
Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory rate PRI BRIBRIER BB ERRER
of 25% of the assessable profits under tax rules and RERMBIILUEERE25%FTE - FR -
regulations in the PRC. During the vyear, certain PRC REBEBEHEEERER B THENE
subsidiaries are subject to tax concessions under the NRAIZHBHIBEE -

relevant tax rules and regulations.

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Current tax — Elsewhere AEAFIE — Hfibih s
Charge for the year REEMRZ 136,106 197,705
Overprovision in prior years BEFTEBERE (7,113) (6,946)
Deferred tax (note 27) EIERIE (M 5E27) 99,578 222,120

Total tax expenses for the year AERHIBERT BT 228,571 412,879




11.
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INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. PRISEL (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BERARARRRERBHWE QAT
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries or BIRkrAlAER 2 EEMEFEREIAA
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its MzRBELTHERERHEFTEZHIES
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the 2 HEREMT -

effective tax rates is as follows:

2021 2020
—B=-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ok S abi
Profit before tax B 35 AT & A 1,348,602 1,926,187
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEMETE 2 MIE 329,308 499,398
Difference in tax rates enacted by local 58 B2
authorities MEER (85,907) (97,345)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable EHREARNEE
and distributed profits of the Group’s PRC B B B A R A 4
subsidiaries DIk K% E 52k F]
ZRE (14,715) (6,801)
Overprovision in respect of prior years BEFEBERE (7,113) (6,946)
Income not subject to tax BRI A (11,891) (7,348)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 18,889 31,921

Tax expense at the Group’s effective rate

BAEBERHERE
2 FRIES 228,571 412,879
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. BB

2021 2020

—E-—fF —E_TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T AT

Dividends attributable to the year: REERE

Interim — HK7.0 cents FH — ERTER
(2020: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share 7.08L(ZE=F

F : 8.0%1L) 144,625 165,286
Final — HK4.0 cents RE — BREBR
(2020: HK7.0 cents) per ordinary share 4.0 (=Z==F

& 7.0%810) 82,643 144,625

227,268 309,911

The final dividend for the year is proposed after the end of REF 2 REARBBMABREHRES IR K
the reporting period and is subject to the approval of the BRERARTIRFREEERREBAFAE Lt
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general HERFAEE o

meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. RARIEGREEGEREF
EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of HK$1,110,385,000 (2020:
HK$1,502,532,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,066,078,000 (2020: 2,066,078,000) in
issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

BRERNBF B IHIRAR A =R RE
16 FZ & F%E#¥1,110,385,0000L (= &
— T4 B%1,502,532,0007T) AREARAD
BT %@H&L Jn#E F 5 £12,066,078,000 %
— T T 1 2066,078,0008%) 5T E -

Rt EBREERANE - WERNM25|8
EZE - —FRIFZFFTA=F—
HEFEZBREABFNEELFAE -
THREBEE-ZS - —FRZITTF+=
A=1+T—RHLEETEABTHEETE 2

HB -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14, W% BENMKE

Leasehold Motor vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and  furniture and equipment and Construction

Buildings machinery fixtures others in progress Total
HENERE Y RE EFRE

B ETE BAREE R REIR @

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BETT

Cost:
At 1 January 2021
850,789 2,024,733 70,727 256,847 1,378,578 4,581,674
Additions 248,664 432,074 29,676 16,210 784,292 1,510,916
Disposals and write-off e T sE ©877) (124) (134) (2,802) - (3,937)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —mN B AR
(note 30) (B =£30) - 11,805 - - - 11,805
Transfers Lt 509,853 81,640 - - (591,493) -
Exchange realignment BN AR 64,071 94,331 3,972 11,076 58,913 232,363
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ-F
+-A=+-H 1,672,500 2,644,459 104,241 281,331 1,630,290 6,332,821
Accumulated depreciation: BEHTE
At 1 January 2021 RZZ=—-F
—HA—AH 97,330 510,060 27,986 98,178 - 733,554
Charge for the year AEERT 32,699 111,806 29,063 25,429 - 198,997
Disposals and write-off & R (485) (48) (127) (2,358) - (3,018)
Exchange realignment BN AR 5,145 24,481 2,238 4,404 - 36,268
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ—-F
+-A=+-H 134,689 646,299 59,160 125,653 - 965,801
Net carrying amount: FE:
At 31 December 2021 WZT=—F
+-A=+-H 1,537,811 1,998,160 45,081 155,678 1,630,290 5,367,020
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% BENKE ()
(Continued)

Leasehold ~ Motor vehicles,
improvements, electronic
Plant and furniture and  equipment and Construction

Buildings machinery fixtures in progress
) H N i

BT J Z J ERIR v

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT ok ek B BETT BETT

Cost: R :
At 1 January 2020 RZT=FF
—-A—H 680,349 1,725,374 43,594 214,931 483,336 3,147,584
Additions BE 39,358 7,379 23,188 25,255 1,058,188 1,153,368
Disposals and write-off HE R = = (715) 212) = (927)
Transfers i 75,820 160,259 = - (236,079) -
Exchange realignment EHRAE 55,262 131,721 4,660 16,873 73,133 281,649
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-TF
+=-A=+—H 850,789 2,024,733 70,727 256,847 1,378,578 4,581,674
Accumulated depreciation: BEHTE
At 1 January 2020 RZZZTF
)z = 67,304 368,782 14,788 66,126 - 517,000
Charge for the year AEERZT 24,152 110,046 11,591 26,507 = 172,296
Disposals and write-off HE RMsH = = (122) (61) - (183)
Exchange realignment EHRAE 5,874 31,232 1,729 5,606 - 44,441
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-THF
+=-A=+—H 97,330 510,060 27,986 98,178 - 733,554
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 31 December 2020 R-Z_FF
+=-A=+—H 753,459 1,514,673 42,741 158,669 1,378,578 3,848,120




15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease terms of 10 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between 20 and 30 vyears. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets

outside the Group.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

follows:
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15.

HE
FEBEEREBEA

AEEAB S REHEFTERNETA
BEZEBEMNEEAHN - AREEIEL
—RUERHBN R BEAARBRESRS T
FERATFNEE L MBREBEZZF L
MEZ G BRIELFELENR - BFHE
EMP-—RAE_tFE=tF -EX L
AEBIBRARNEBAIIALTEZERDH
FHBEEERE -

@ EAHEERE

ARBERAEEEZREEREFA
BEHIT :

Prepaid land
lease
Buildings payments Total
FE AT L
BF HERE e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
As at 1 January 2020 RZZE_ZE
F—H—H 12,659 403,987 416,646
Additions HE — 210,007 210,007
Depreciation provided FABEFRTE
during the year (4,874) (11,751) (16,625)
Exchange realignment b 5 A 446 38,135 38,581
As at 31 December 2020 R_-ZT T4
and 1 January 2021 +=—A=+—H
T —%F
—H—H 8,231 640,378 648,609
Additions HE 1,733 62,210 63,943
Acquisition of a subsidiary U &% — REI T B
(note 30) ~al (Hf5E30) 6,176 = 6,176
Disposal HE = (15,474) (15,474)
Depreciation provided FAEFIRITE
during the year (2,528) (15,565) (18,093)
Exchange realignment PE 5 8 233 14,823 15,056
As at 31 December 2021 HRZ-T=——%F
+=—HA=+—H” 13,845 686,372 700,217
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15.

LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

15. & (&)
AEBEELARBA (F)
b) HEEE

-

HERBZREEREFAESH I

2021 2020
—E=-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BZEREE 8,836 13,015
New leases A HE 1,733 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30) g 88 — FE1 BT /8 2 A
(K3£30) 7,145 -
Accretion of interest recognised during FRE RSN
the year 610 466
Payments (B (2,934) (5,108)
Exchange realignment bE W A 246 463
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+—A=+—H82
BRAEE 15,636 8,836
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BN AR &6 > 854 2,333
Non-current portion FEBNHREB & 14,782 6,503

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 38 to the financial statements.

HEABZAMBERD TR F R
B ZE38HKEE ©
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. & (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERBEABA(E)

(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEEEE)
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to REEERPHRERACHEEFASEN
leases are as follows: i

2021 202(0)
—E-—F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGEZE 610 466
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (FHAEEEFTEE 18,093 16,625
Expense relating to short-term leases not AEEHAEHHEL
included in the measurement of lease Rt AHEAEH=
liabilities 15,682 11,791
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A EZE &P HER
) 34,385 28,882

HEzReREBBEREARGBZE
EZHBARIIBE R D AIR I ER
R MFE31(c) 38 E -

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash

outflows relating to leases that have not vyet
commenced are disclosed in notes 31(c) and 38 to

the financial statements.
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16. GOODWILL 16. B2

2021 2020

—E-—F —T-THF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

At 1 January wn—H—H 157,609 149,079
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B 5,029 8,530

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December W+-A=+—H2

BAME K BREFEE 162,638 157,609
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZEAIA
The carrying amounts of goodwill acquired through business TRITER AR AETHEBARNERE
combinations have been allocated to the relevant BEHMUBE P EZAAREELESA
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of the individual companies ((ReELESEM)) 2 HEB2REE A8
for impairment testing, which are summarised as follows: ign R

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Environmental remediation segment: RIBIEEDE
Suntime Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd FHIREEERR
YNET! 75,002 72,682
EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi) Limited* J R AR B IR R TR
(formerly known as: Jiangsu Jiayuan (fm85) BR A A
Environmental Technology Company (RIFB LR ERRIR IR
Limited) B BR AR 71,804 69,584

Hazardous and solid waste treatment segment: & N ERERR & D &6 :
Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental Engineering RERBIEMIRIR LI

Co., Ltd. BIRAR] 15,832 15,343
162,638 157,609
The goodwill of HK$75,002,000 as at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HZ2EHBEK
(2020: HK$72,682,000) arose from the acquisition of 75,002,000 (ZE =2 F : %
88.88% of the equity interest in Suntime Environmental 72,682,0007T) KB =T — NFWE EHIR
Remediation CO., Ltd (“Suntime Environmental”) in 2019, RIEEBR AR ([ EHIRE])88.88% K
and is attributable mainly to the expected synergies from B OHEFERBEAEBRFRERREH
combining the operations of the Group and the acquiree. BB BRAMGEME -

* For identification purpose only



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The goodwill of HK$71,804,000 as at 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$69,584,000) arose from the acquisition of 90%
of the equity interest in EB Greentech Technology (Wuxi)
Limited* (“Wuxi Technology”) in 2019, and is attributable
mainly to the expected synergies from combining the
operations of the Group and the acquiree.

The goodwill of HK$15,832,000 as at 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$15,343,000) arose from the acquisition of 100%
of the equity interest in Zhangjiagang Gelin Environmental
Engineering Company Limited* (“Zhangjiagang Gelin”) in
2019, and is attributable mainly to the expected synergies
from combining the operations of the Group and the
acquiree.

The recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs are
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. The pre-tax discount rates ranging from 10.6% to
10.8% (2020: 11.6% to 12.0%) have been used for the
value-in-use calculations, and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2% to 3% (2020: 2% to 3%). Management determined the
budgets based on service agreements governing the
relevant operations. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
Based on management’s assessment, no impairment is
considered necessary at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

*

For identification purpose only
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16.

EE G-,
BEzEENE (F)

R-ZE-—F+ - A=+—H2EEBK
71,804,000t (ZFE =2 F : B K
69,584,0007T) 2k B = — N4 W B ¢ K 4%
EBRAEME (EH) AR AR ([EBHRR])
Q%R HE EXZRBEAEERFEWREAL
AEMEB cBRBRBEmMATE o

RZE-Z—FE+-_A=+—HZEEEK
15,832,000 (=T =5 F : B ¥
15,343,00070) KRB =T — NFRHERKE
BHEBEIREBR AR (RRBEM])
100% M4 - EXZRBEAEB REWER
AEMEB s BRBREEmMATHE -

FHREEESEM 2 FINESBETIREE
REENEZEE s EAERRERERE
EREZ AFHEMBRE R RER
AfEE - AR EEREE AR X
BN T10.6%=10.8% (ZZ=FF : 11.6%
£12.0%) MBARFHEZBEERET
A RE2% BN (ZE_ZTF : 2% E3%)
HE ERERBREEAMELZRGH
* o BETAMEE - FIERIRER B
BRAE R 20 T e 2 R B AT AR IR X -

REEEEFNE R-_F-_—F+=-A
=t+—H BFFELEAREB(CZ-F
FE) -
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BILEE

Integrated Hazardous and

biomass  solid waste
[[EE ] treatment
project project Total
operating operating Backlog Computer intangible
rights rights Licences  Technologies contracts software assets
ENEGENA RERERRE
EREERE  EREER & KRHAE ElBH EVEELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
~ BT 7 BETT  #ETR T
31 December 2021 “®--%tZH=t-H
Cost: XA :
At 1 January 2021 i S S = 11,972,035 2,491,367 138,810 14,561 3,143 11,858 14,631,774
Additions £E 271,455 876,830 - - - 3,716 1,152,001
Exchange realignment A% 387,628 92,722 4,430 465 101 438 485,784
At 31 December 2021 W=E=-F+-A=1-A 12,631,118 3,460,919 143,240 15,026 3,244 16,012 16,269,559
Accumulated amortisation and SABHERER
impairment:
At 1 January 2021 WZZ=-%-A—-H 1,122,753 162,355 27,432 3,640 3,143 1,348 1,320,671
Charge for the year AFEERY 417,538 94,644 14,142 1,848 - 2,220 530,392
Exchange realignment [ 5 AR 43,700 1477 1,722 147 101 86 53,233
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—%+-A=+-H 1,583,991 264,476 43,296 5,635 3,244 3,654 1,904,296
Net carrying amount; REFE:
At 31 December 2021 R-E--%#+-A=1+-H 11,047,127 3,196,443 99,944 9,391 - 12,358 14,365,263
31 December 2020 ZBZBETZB=T-H
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2020 WZZZ%5-A—-H 9,523,715 1,746,511 116,838 13,633 2,941 - 11,403,638
Additions ®E 1,711,243 593,292 13,306 - - 11,256 2,329,096
Exchange realignment 3 HE 787,077 151,564 8,666 928 202 603 899,040
At 31 December 2020 WZZ2=ZF+-A=1-H 11,972,035 2,491,367 138,810 14,561 3,143 11,858 14,631,774
Accumulated amortisation and 2 BHRER
impairment:
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-%5-A-A 524,699 82,242 12,187 1,704 1,471 - 622,303
Charge for the year RAEERX 317,008 70,727 13,683 1,728 1,491 1,286 405,923
Impairment B 216,723 = = = = - 216,723
Exchange realignment [E 5 AR 64,323 9,386 1,562 208 181 62 75,722
At 31 December 2020 WZZ2=ZF+-A=1-H 1,122,753 162,355 27,432 3,640 3,143 1,348 1,320,671
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF+-A=+-H 10,849,282 2,329,012 111,378 10,921 - 10,510 13,311,108




17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Intangible assets which are identified with indicators of
impairment or had not commenced operation as at the end
of reporting period are reviewed for impairment based on
individual asset or individual cash-generating units (“CGUs”).
These assets have been allocated to individual CGUs in the
integrated biomass utilisation, and solar energy and wind
power segments. The operating plants under each service
concession agreement was identified as a CGU. The
recoverable amount of each CGU to which these assets
were allocated was determined based on fair value less cost
of disposal (“FVLCD”) calculations using the discounted cash
flow method.

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is
estimated based on projection of a series of cash flows from
the perspective of market participants covering projection
periods of the remaining service concession periods which
are stipulated in the respective service concession
agreements. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flows in order to establish the present value
of the cash flows.

Key assumptions used in FVLCD calculations of the relevant
CGUs include revenue annual growth rate, operating costs
and discount rates. Revenue is projected with a constant
unit price and processing volume at growth rates of 5% to
8% (2020: 5% to 8%) per annum (till reaching optimal
production capacity) over the projection periods. Operating
expenses are expected to increase at the long term inflation
rate. The pretax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections range from 13.3% to 17.9% (2020: 13.5% to
17.5%). Assumptions used are made with reference to
historical data of existing projects, observable market data of
comparable companies and industry reports, management’s
expectation for the market development and their business
plans. The discount rates used are the pre-tax rates that
reflect the current market assessments of the time value of
money and the specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.
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i

(@)

BVEE (&)

RAERAER B E RS HR AR
BIRAE LN ELEE TV RIZE R EEN
ERReELSBM (REEEBM])ET
BMERE - ZEERECEDEKEEVER
SFA  RRBEERRED HOESIES
ELEM - RERBEFREEHAS B
ATHELHEHANAS—EAREELE
- ZEEBEMOENSBREELEM
B R @ £ BRI IR B A R R B KA
(TFVLCD) s ET A MR R SRR
B -

RIFFHIRVEREEL - ARERE R
ReREMNTRAETS2EENAE MG
it BEE RIS R E R EOR
R AR TS AR 2 R HARR MO TEOR HAR) © 3R
MIZITAEMBRERIBRARSRE - AET
RenEHRE-

BB S EEEMMFVLCDETE HAFT A
NEERIBEFERSERE - BIEK
ARERIE R o A MRS IEE T EE R
BRIEEUNEF5%E8%(ZE-FF 5%
28%) MIERRIEE (A2 EFREEE)
FER LA EBAEHKBIERBBIREE
R-EARRESREEANFATIERE
BN F13.3%E17.9% (T - T 4F :
13.5%E17.5%)  ATEAMBRTIZRE
EBEEWMELER JEHBAGMNAE
RMBEERITERS  TEEHMSE
BOTEHRFEENEBEEDL - FTER
HAIREARME N MIZHEEERER
TR EEERCEABUEBNET
=B 0 X A FI K o
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the revenue growth rate
in isolation would result in a significant increase (decrease) in
the fair value of the relevant CGUs. A significant increase
(decrease) in the discount rate and inflation rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair
value of the relevant CGUs. The fair value measurement was
categorised under Level 3 with significant unobservable
inputs.

Based on the management assessment, no impairment
losses on intangible assets was considered as necessary as
at 31 December 2021. Pursuant to the supplementary
circular on issues related to the “Opinions on promoting the
healthy development of non-hydro renewable power
generation” (Caijian [2020] No 426) (B8R ({2 FJE/K AT A AL
REBRRERNETER)BEHAEEMNMHABAN) issued
during the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group will
not be entitled to the renewable energy tariff subsidy for
certain projects either when the operation period exceeds
certain years or when lifetime operation hours exceed certain
hours, whichever is earlier. Accordingly, impairment losses of
HK$216,723,000 on certain intangible assets in the
integrated biomass utilisation segment had been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The aggregate
recoverable amounts of the relevant CGUs as at 31
December 2020 with impairment loss recognised amounted
to HK$2,287,963,000.

As at 31 December 2021, there were certain projects that
had not commenced operation, the amount of the project
operating rights of these projects was HK$1,712,057,000
(2020: HK$1,763,796,000).

17.

BEE (&)
WS« ()

(@)

(&)

Yo gs 38 £ A MR BB IRIE A0 OBl ) 18 B0
ﬁﬁﬁi?iﬁiﬂ’]“‘ﬁﬁkmmi‘bﬂ(ﬂ
D) o BRI K R B W Y MR R A 08 B IR N
Om )Hﬂ%ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁfﬁééiﬁuﬁ’l AIN]
AR GE) - AR EENERAE=
& BERTABRE ABUE -

BEERENTG ERABEFTHR=Z
——F+-_A=t+—BYHEFEETRRE
BEBEB REBEE-_T_ZTF+ -4
=+— B IEFE R BERMEEIEKT
BERRZEREEBONETER)EH
EIE KT 70 i A (B &2[2020]4265%) + A
SEREEHMBRAETEEREHEE
BFEGBAE T/ NEE(UREEARE) T
BEAETHEENABERREEME -
At - EVESREFASBETEFLEE
FEIBE B8 216,723,000 E RE E —
T_TE+ A=+ BUEFERER-
R-_E_ZF+_A=+—HEERRE
EENEEESELBEMN KL SE
2 287,963,0007T ©

W_ZE—_—F+-_A=+—H E5THER
i R B R i E EZ%IEEE’JIEEWMT%EZ%

FE1,712,057,000C (Z T T4 : B

1,763,796,0007T) °
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2020
— T

—_E_-—F
HK$’000
BET T

—= =<

HK$'000
BT

Share of net assets B(E & EF5E 24,761 44,632

Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: REBEENEZFHBET

Name of joint ventures

EBG SUEZ Environmental Services (Changzhou)
Co., Ltd.

KRR LRERSE (FM) BERAF
EBG K. Wah Solid Waste Treatment Holdings

Limited
KEEEREERERAF

Xiao County Everbright Energy Limited*

BEXREFERAR

Kellon Concept Limited
EREEARAR

All the joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose

Place of
incorporation Particulars of
paid-up capital
S
PRC RMB110,000,000
i AR%110,000,0007C
Hong Kong HK$10,000
& 7##10,0007
PRC RMBS,160,000
Gk AR #6,160,0007C
Hong Kong HK$10,000
Bk 7%10,0007C

quoted market prices are not available.

*

For identification purpose only

Proportion of ownership interest
& 5 il

Group’
effective
interest

Held by the
Company
mARE

]

Held by a
subsidiary

50% = 50%
50% = 50%
51% = 51%
51% = 51%
49% = 49%
49% = 49%
30% = 50%
30% = 50%

MISHE -

Principal activities

Design, construction, operation and maintenance
of hazardous waste incineration project

Rt B EEREREENARR

Investment holding

Design, construction, operation and maintenance
of heat generation project
Fit B BERAEMAER

Photovoltaic energy
EREE

IEGLEEARFLTAEAETER L&
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 18. & &R (&)

MLV EBENEANAEES E 0
AR S AR

=)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial &
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not *

individually material:

2021 2020
—E=-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Share of losses of joint ventures Frih & &t ¥EE (24,312) (19,464)

Share of total comprehensive losses of joint Fifhea g X2 HEEE
ventures ek (22,820) (15,828)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBREEREY
interests in joint ventures AR E 24,761 44,632
19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. B S QA=

2020

—B-—-fF —ZT_FF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BET T BT

Share of net assets IR EEF5 254,413 165,415
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. Bt AR = ()
Particulars of the associates are as follows: Beg N NEZF BT

Place of Group’s
incorporation Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by a
Name of associates and business paid-up capital interest Company subswdlary Principal activities
Eaiifne EE BARE B
BHRBRAFE A
Anqing Jinghuan Green Environmental Solid PRC RMB141,000,000 49% - 49% Design, construction, operation and
Waste Comprehensive Disposal co. LTD maintenance of hazardous and solid
(“Anging Solid Waste”) waste treatment project (note i)
RERBRGERRERGAREERARA FE AR #141,000,0007T 49% = 49% Rt B2 BERAREEREEEEER
(TREERE]) (Bﬁ?l)
Nanjing Liuhe Jasmine Green Energy PRC RMB160,000,000 44.1% - 441% Financing, construction, operation
Company Limited* (“Nanjing Liuhe”) maintenance and management in urban

household waste business services and
power generation transmission and

supply (note ii)
BARAARNZEHRERA HE AR #160,000,0007C 44.1% = 441% WHEENRLERBLES GERHAEE
(TaRABD BOBE - BB EE - HENEE (K
i)
* For identification purpose only
Notes: Bt =
0] The Group has significant influence over Anging Solid Waste’s 0] BEBETEEE  AHERMA - REEY
management, including participation in the financial and ZEEENER (RRELEMBREER
operating policy decisions, pursuant to the Articles of KHAR)AERZE L AL REE
Association of Anging Solid Waste. Accordingly, Anging Solid B BAAREEEE AT -
Waste is classified as an associate of the Group.
Anging Solid Waste was established by the Group with REESIE R AR AR (WL E QR
Beijing Environment Limited in the PRC, the other investor to 2R —REEB)RPRKILERERE - A
this associate, to enhance the harmless disposal ability of MBRZETMNERENESEERS -

hazardous waste of Anging City.

Anging Solid Waste is an unlisted corporate entity whose

ZEEER/IFE FTEANER  WEMIS®R
quoted market price is not available. =
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

20.

(i)

The Group has significant influence over Nanjing Liuhe’s
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions, pursuant to the Articles of
Association of Nanjing Liuhe. Accordingly, Nanjing Liuhe is
classified as an associate of the Group.

Nanjing Liuhe was established by the Group with Nanjing
Liuhe Environment Company Limited* in the PRC, the other
investor to this associate, to improve the environmental
quality, enhance efficiency in the construction and operation
of environmental facilities, and to effectively alleviate the
investment (financing), design, construction, operation,
maintenance and delivery work relating to household waste
treatment in Liuhe District, Nanjing.

Nanjing Liuhe is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted
market price is not available.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material:

19. B2 N A FEZS (&)
WisE : ()

(iy HREERANGZEBEEREMA KEFY
ERAANER(BELEMBEREER
FMARK)BRBERTE N - Bk - ERA
EWOBERAEEBENT -

AEBEERAAREARAA (HEHE
ARIZS—/EE)RNFBREKIE RN
A LUNEREEE  ESREERRGE
B BERE  ERESRERTmAARE
SRR RIRMERERNE (B & - RET - E
HBEE EENBRIIE-

ARAARFLMEAER  UEMISR

TRELL B AN EANAREBEA
RIS A -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T ok

Share of profits of associates Fr{b Bt & 1~ 5l & F 82,390 —
Share of total comprehensive income of FribBst & R el 2 E UK

associates A8 88,998 5,216
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REE R E QR 2

interests in associates = AAREE 254,413 165,415

*

For identification purpose only

INVENTORIES

20. &

2021 2020

—B=-—F —TTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT

Raw materials and operating supplies R B K E & A 320,147 214,749
Finished goods RIRY Gh 7,547 3,744
327,694 218,493
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHEBE

2021 202(0)
—EB=-—F —TTHF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M5 BT T BT T
Service concession assets RIS E B E () 7,471,736 6,789,387
Unbilled renewable energy tariff RFEAZEERI B LR (o)
subsidy BEMA 1,630,338 3,162,113
Environmental remediation contract REBEEGNEE (©)
assets 415,871 312,203
9,517,945 10,263,703
Impairment FEE (7,068) (7,927)
9,510,877 10,255,776
Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER
— Service concession assets — RFSR TR
BE (6,900,257) (6,310,283)
Current portion BVERE8 5 2,610,620 3,945,493
Contract assets arising from JiE 17 B8 AR 745 5 R A i A
performance under construction ZH BN EES L
contracts in connection with EEXENENEE -
service concession arrangements, B ATEEEE]
which are included in “Intangible (BEE17)
assets” (note 17) 1,712,057 1,763,796

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

BHEERBERBENESBERNOT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

At beginning of year F 1) 7,927 =
(Write-back of impairment)/impairment losses, (FEERR) FiEEE

net (note 8) F 58 (MT5E8) (1,094) 7,524

Exchange realignment bE 5 A 235 403

At end of year FR 7,068 7,927
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21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Service concession assets arose from the Group’s revenue
from construction services under certain BOT and BOO
arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from 4.90%
to 6.60% (2020: 4.90% to 6.60%) per annum as at
31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, HK$7,465,935,000 (2020:
HK$4,623,440,000) relates to certain BOT and BOO
arrangements with operations commenced.

Pursuant to the BOT and BOO arrangements, the Group
receives no payment from the local governments in Mainland
China (the “Grantors”) during the construction period and
instead receives service fees for the Group’s operation
services when relevant services are rendered during the
operating periods.

The service concession assets are not yet due for payment
and will be settled by the service fees to be received during
the operating periods of the arrangements. Details of the
service concession arrangements are disclosed in note 40 to
the financial statements.

All of the current portion of service concession assets is
expected to be recovered within one year.

(b) The balance represents government on-grid renewable energy
tariff subsidy receivables for certain integrated biomass
utilisation projects which newly commenced operations and
arose from the Group’s revenue from operations. The
amounts will be billed and settled upon the completion of
government administrative procedures pursuant to “Notice on
Relevant Review Work on the Project List of Renewable
Energy Power Generation Subsidies” (Caibanjian [2020] No.
6) (ARFARAIBARREEMHER 5EEEREHMIIENS
A1) issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s
Republic of China.

(c) The balance arose from performance under environmental
remediation contracts. Such contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service
periods once milestones are reached.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are with reference to
the credit ratings assigned on the respective province where
the counterparties belong to and the forward-looking factors
to reflect the effect of the external economic environment.
The provision rates of contract assets are based on
geographical regions of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

21.

@ BRESEFCEREEESAAERIRES
FBOTKBOOLHEAR B ERISUE
RNR—_EBE-—F+_RA=+—8BENT
490%E6.60%MFHMEFB(ZEZE
£ 1 4.90%%E6.60%) °

R-ZZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8 HEHE
EEHETBOTRBOOREEEMY KIEA
¥ 7,465,935,000C (ZE—FF : B
4,623,440,0007T) °

RIFEBOT HBOOZ H - AEBEREERA

g B BRI ([ERFEA 1) WER
IR - MR RE S BN R RS
LA SR B8 & RIS WEURTS & -

BRAG AP B E M R BB - I8
B3 % F LB E 2 I U IR TS B B
o IRIGRFFEERLHFBRUBIHRE
FET40H: 5 -

RIS AT S B E 2 A BNEIEE D Fa 5T
R—FRkE -

(o) HHREBETHERABLHEMELESTIA
EHEZEWRBEF LB BEEREER
B RELBAEBELLSKE - HIREP
FEAREMBG BEEHHOCERBARER
BEEREEHMBEBEEREHIE
B 38 &N ) (BA 3% 12 [2020]65% ) 52 A% BT 17 IR
FE®%Z ZFESTREBZERKE -

© HHREBTREGESHOMEL ZEE
HBFERER RGN EDE T BIRMEE
BNZR 5 BN SR N SREH 8

RESITREREAREABGHEERE
BEHREEBR GHEENTEHEEER
ARENBEXRTLN2EISHTFMBAENN
E PR A R R BRONED A B IR R 0 B AV A
FEHERREE AHEENBEXRES
ERBUBEEANTF DM EVE
AE o ZAERRBENMEER  2BRZE
BEENARNBEEMF BRI EER
KEEAMRNTER 2R HE BRI ESH
BERXFHEER -
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CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. EREE (&)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXNRERRESINEERAEESNEE
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision ZEERREER

matrix:

Expected credit loss rate FEEEEREEL X 0.07% 0.08%

Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) REREE (¥ TT) 9,517,945 10,263,703

Expected credit losses (HK$’000) FHHEEEE

(B¥TT) 7,068 7,927

The Group’s credit policy with contract assets is disclosed REBEBREGHNEENEEBRRRUBR
in notes 2.4 and 38 to the financial statements. FMIFE2.4 X381 -
As at 1 January 2020, the balances of contract assets Efq\_ E_TF—A—H ANEEELEHRDB
amounted to HK$7,003,786,000. The decrease (2020: #7,003,786,0007C - —E - —FEKEE
increase) in contract assets in 2021 was the result of the )EJZ’/( ToEFF N DB EE %Eﬁ
decrease (2020: increase) in the ongoing service concession ETHPRRBETEERTERD (25 =
arrangements in the initial construction stage and less TEEMEFRAAZZSERD (=

(2020: more) unbilled amount at the end of the year. ToTF EINBER -
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22. FEUWBEZ - Hit e 78 ~ 24
AND PREPAYMENTS N B I8

2021 2020
—B-—F —EFTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Debtors JFE W AR R 5,530,856 2,294,824
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — E b JEULFRIE « 54 KM T8
RFIE 1,507,503 1,485,286
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EEL G ENGIE 1,316 1,268
Amount due from an associate JE U — [ B &5 R B 5R0E 550 —
Loan to a non-controlling interest IR ESERK 27,115 25,021
Amounts due from joint ventures EUR A & EFRIE 31,340 16,117
7,098,680 3,822,516
Impairment feti=! (6,474) (4,172)
7,092,206 3,818,344
Less: Non-current portion B FERNHERER
— Other receivables, deposits and — HihpEu s -
prepayments e RIBEMRIA (753,984) (791,924)
— Loan to a non-controlling interest — FERERER (27,115) (25,021)
(781,099) (816,945)

Current portion BN HA S > 6,311,107 3,001,399
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22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 22. RN - HMEWNKIE - E &

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) RIERFRIB ()
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EUREREZEEBEREZ ZHUT

debtors are as follows:

2021 2020
—EB=-—F —TTHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
At beginning of year F4) 4,172 3,812
Impairment losses, net (note 8) FEIE B 1R F 5 (FFaE8) 2,134 15
Exchange realignment bE i & 168 345
At end of year FR 6,474 4172
An ageing analysis of the debtors, based on the date of BEEAH (SN EERBH(AREEAR
invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of ENFTEI MR EEREE - BURERZKA R
loss allowance as at the end of the reporting period is as EHRZEREBE DT ¢
follows:

2021 2020
—BC-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Within 1 month TER—EA 1,493,474 1,703,520
More than 1 month but within 2 months BR—EAETZR
7 {E A 201,076 75,253
More than 2 months but within 4 months BEMEABETZR
7Y & A 554,635 83,109
More than 4 months but within 7 months HBNEABEAZR
+ @A 1,766,581 98,907
More than 7 months but within 13 months BREEAETZR
+=M@A 1,184,447 177,487
More than 13 months BB+ =1EA 324,169 152,376

5,524,382 2,290,652
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22.

DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Debtors are mainly due immediately to within 90 days from
the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and concentrations of credit risk arising from
customers are set out in notes 2.4 and 38.

The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and the prepayments are expected to be
recognised as expenses within one year.

Included in the amounts due from joint ventures is a loan to
a joint venture of RMB9,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,612,000) (2020: RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,923,000)), which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
125% of the Loan Prime Rate (“‘LPR”) in the PRC and
recoverable in 2022. The remaining balance is unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable within one year.

The loan to a non-controlling interest is secured by its
equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary,
interest-bearing at 110% of the rates announced by the
People’s Bank of China and recoverable by December
2023.

All of the current portion of the above balances were
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within
one year.

22, MEUBRFK - HA ISR - &

K IR I (F)

RUKERTEHBEZAHEANLTEART
H-BEASEEERRAEPELANE
ERBETHNE-FFBHRME24K
38 -

EURRMBARRAREER 28R
ZAANRIAG —F AR R

M—RXAEELERBNERARYE
9,500,000t (18 % 7 % #11,612,0007T )
ZE-FF : ARM5,000,0007T (FHER
75 5,023,0007T) ) st AFE ML & & 1 ¥ K
1o ZEEREER  RPEERTSRE
FIE([LPR) 125%FT E AR =T ==
el - pEEAEER - R ERER—FRIK
[E] o

FIEERERERE —HIFE2ENBE QT
ZREEER  RPBARBITHAM A
EHW110%TERAIR T - =F+= A7
I qE

LSRRI D BB R —F A
Y 13 X FE SR A P X ©



22. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with  similar reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Debtors are written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient

loss patterns. The calculation

cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s debtors using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

Annual Report 2021

—T—FFR 2

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf ¥ & % Bt 5

22.

FEURBR TR« H A RN FRIA - &
RIAR IR (&)

AEEREERS HREREOBRLE
TRENT - UFFERREEREE - BHEX
DBEREGRUBERANSZERXF 2R
MAzBREETE - ARTERRIAE
MEER cERREELRRSEBHA
BZEBBAEEMN  BAIBERERREE
BRERzAEABKEZER - UK
TR AR B R R] BE Uk [B] 3 PR T LA (B0
DHEH) - WERBEEAKRERE G
AL EEESRARREAEET EHHR
EREEERTHME S -

T AB BRI A B AN & E B W AR X
ZEERRZER

R-E-_—F+=ZA=+—8H

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBRLX
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BEREE(BETT)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(B%TT)

Past due
k-

Within

Current 1 year

B8 —FR

0.10% 0.10% 0.41%

1,827,460 3,428,888 274,508 5,530,856
1,859 3,489 1,126 6,474

As at 31 December 2020

RZE-_ZEF+_A=+—H

Expected credit loss rate RHEEERLE
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BEREE(BETT)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(BETT)

Past due
B

Within

Current 1 year

N E —%RQ

0.15% 0.15% 0.91%

1,828,121 358,686 108,017 2,294,824
2,667 523 982 4,172
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23. CAS

H AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

RBeMREFEMREEFEFR

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BET T M T
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEER 2,304,603 2,207,060
Time deposits and pledged bank TR KRB EMIRIT
deposits T3 339,507 519,993
2,644,110 2,727,053
Less: Pledged bank deposits o BRI (@) (160,542) (219,415)
Time deposits with maturity FHRE®BRBE=1A (b)
period over three months 2 EHFR - (1,663)
Cash and cash equivalents BEERIBEEEY () 2,483,568 2,605,975
Notes: B 5
(a)  Pledged bank deposits are mainly pledged to secure certain @ EBEFRTEREFEZCDRFIEALEES
bank loans of the Group (note 25) and are pledged to banks FRITER (F5E25) 2\ G - ARAR
for the issuance of guarantees by the banks to the Grantors ETFHRITRAREES TRRIS &%
in respect of the specific performance of the duties by the Wi N2 TEBAOE TR E AR E
Group under certain service concession agreements. R WEBERTEBRT
(o)  Deposits with banks with maturity period over three months b) BRERBSEEBYIESATRIBHA=
are not included in cash and cash equivalents. BAZHRITHER -
(¢)  Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are deposits of © [BHEekREEEMIBER_Z_—F

HK$317,697,000 (31 December 2020: HK$309,853,000)
placed with a bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the
Group, as at 31 December 2021.

+ZA=+—RAGFEHRR—RERIT(AELE
BE-RHREMBAR)ZFREE
317,697,000 (ZE=TF+=-A=+—
H : ##309,853,0007T) °



23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and deposits with banks earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates and are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$2,461,388,000 (2020: HK$2,123,903,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and times deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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23.

Ao MREFEMREEFEFR
(&)

BEEMRITERRRITEFREZEBEERF
REERBAE - X ERAREBRFAER
HA M 18 W0 R0 8% 2 RTT o

RBERR  AEEUARE(TARE])
HFEZEHSRERRTER BEE
2,461,388,000 L (ZTE=ZZF : B
2,123,903,0007T) - AR 8E B B H K
HmE o A - BEPBEKECHNEE R
) RCERE - SERMNEEERE) &
BB BERELEINEER ZIRITH
ANREE H ik B b B -

RITEBRFZHE RN E - MEHE
ERBERTFAEBEAEXREE - RFEA
SEZAERETKME  MHEHFR
ZHEFPNF—BE=EAFE XA
A %2 B 17 KB R REUH) B - RITA 84
KEBERDIFRREE R BT Y &
BHIRCERZIRIT
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 24. FERTBREFR - M fET FXIB K FE AT
ACCRUED EXPENSES =453

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Creditors FETRR IR
— third parties - =V 0] 2,403,924 2,619,974
— fellow subsidiaries — RARENBRF () 15,919 23,254
Other payables and accrued Hoh JE T FRIE K
expenses fEET & A 1,753,335 1,347,102
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ARIGEY N EAGIE S (i) 16,578 892
Amount due to a non-controlling FE{S FEFR AR M 2 SRR
interest (iii) 1,314 1,273
Loans from non-controlling interests KBRS H B K (iv) 8,300 —
Deferred income — government BEEWA —
grants BT B & (v) 137,680 129,041
4,337,050 4,121,536
Less: Non-current portion W SEBNHAER &
— Deferred income — RERA —
— government grants BT & (65,841) (71,559)
— Other payables and — HithfE (I 5kI8
accrued expenses MIEETE R (156,221) (79,009)
(222,062) (150,568)
Current portion B EREE 5> 4,114,988 3,970,968
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24. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 24, FERTBRFR - E b fE T F00E K EET
ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued) EH (&)
Notes: B aE -
0] Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses” (i) [ERBRR - HthENRERESERIS
are creditors with the following ageing analysis based on the FREMERER - ARBEZASGERREH
date of invoice as at the end of the reporting period: RZERBEDHTAOT -

2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T PR T T
Within 6 months ~NMEAR 2,174,891 2 396,749
More than 6 months 7~ME A A E 244,952 046,479
2,419,843 2,643,228
Creditors totaling HK$1,653,411,000 (2020: HK$1,951,163,000) RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H  EHER
as at 31 December 2021 represent construction payables for the A B #A1,653,411,0007T (— T - T4 ¢
Group’s BOT and certain BOO arrangements. 7511,951,163,0007T) A& EBOT K&
FBOOZ HE#) FE - 23 5RIE -
Creditors due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, AR RME QR ENRR BT
interest-free and repayable in accordance with the contract RERBERENIGREE -
terms.

(i)  The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, (ii) EBNRRZMNBARZFEAEERE 22K
interest-free and repayable on demand. BIRERKEE -

(ii) The amount due to a non-controlling interest is unsecured, (iii) FERIEIE RS B AEET 2R KA
interest-free and repayable within one year. R—FREE -

(v)  Loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest- (iv) REFZEREZNEFAEER 28K
free and repayable on demand. BIRERKEE -

(v)  Deferred income represents government grants received to v) BEWAEREERHSEZE_T_—F+=
subsidise the construction of property, plant and equipment A=+—BIEFERNRBFERS 2B
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021, of & RENAEBREEME BWE KK
which an amount of HK$4,108,000 (2020: HK$3,957,000) % « Hrh AE 4,108,000 (ZE-F
was credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. & B #3,057,00070) BEEF ALZR A B R
There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies = o WHZE MBS W IR ERGM

attached to the receipts of those grants. SHEHAMAREIE -
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

25. FHRIRITREMEE

31 December 2021

—F--Ft-A=t-H

Maturity HK$°000 Maturity HK$'000
Ep: BETT El)d BETT
Current b
Bank and other loans — secured BOREMER — FEA 2022 or on demand 1,180,411 2021 or on demand 871,866
“ECCEHRER TR ERREK
Bank loans — unsecured BIER — BEH 2022 or on demand 1,968,492 2021 or on demand 1,442,840
“ECCFHRER “E--FHREX
Loan from an intermediate holding —EREERARER 2022 1,344,530 -
company — unsecured — EER g e -3
4,493,433 2,314,706
Non-current JEENER
Bank and other loans — secured BOREMER — BEA 2022-2037 8,539,920 2021-2032 7,694,188
“EC-C-FECR=4FR T -FE-TCCF
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — HER 2022-2034 5,075,265 2021-2027 4,438,298
—ECCEZ-F-ME TEC-FEITCEE
Loan from an intermediate holding —AREZERARER - 2022 1,302,950
company — unsecured — mEA St 3
Medium-term notes — unsecured FHEE — EER (H26) 2023-2024 2,442,478 2023 1,183,231
(note 26) CECCZFECBCIMAE —Z-=F
16,057,663 14,618,667
20,551,096 16,933,373
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. ;T RIRTTREMEE (&)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: DT
Bank and other loans repayable: AR THEREEER
RITREMER :
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 4,493,433 2,314,706
In the second year F_fF 4,028,144 3,176,575
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEERF (B
EEED, 5,288,355 6,719,612
Beyond five years hFI& 4,298,686 3,539,249
18,108,618 15,750,142
Medium-term notes repayable: AR THEREEE 2
FHIRE
In the second year £ 4F 1,221,533 —
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEZFERF(BE
EEGED) 1,220,945 1,183,231
Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain KREBE TRITRENBBEASE B REE
revenue, contract assets and receivables in connection with BT E TS AN EENME
the Group’s service concession arrangements, property, plant WHIE - AEEZ2WE - BB MEERER
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group. Such EEEERE R _—F+_A=+—
banking facilities amounting to HK$12,289,886,000 (2020: A L@ RO E2ERBEK
HK$12,357,266,000) as at 31 December 2021 were utilised to 12,289,886,000 L (ZZE T F : B
the extent of HK$9,382,977,000 (2020: HK$8,566,054,000). 12,357,266,0007L) ' HF B A B K
9,382,977,000t(ZE T F : B!
8,566,054,0007T) °
The unsecured banking facilties of HK$12,044,312,000 R-ZEZ—F+__A=+—H SEAR
(2020: HK$9,681,631,000) as at 31 December 2021 were 1TRIE & 58 A8 112,044,312,0007C (==
utilised to the extent of HK$7,043,757,000 (2020: —ZT4 : %%9,681,631,0007T) * EFEH
HK$5,881,138,000). FAA&#7,043,757,0007T (ZE T4 : B
5,881,138,0007T) °
All of the non-current bank loans are carried at amortised Fr7E FERNHRSRTT B UL B S A AN 51 BR - R
cost. None of the non-current bank loans is expected to be EIERNERIRTTERTEHRN —F RN -

settled within one year.
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25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The loans from an intermediate holding company as at
31 December 2021 included:

(i) a shareholder’s loan of a principal amount of

RMB400,000,000 (2020: RMB400,000,000), which is
interest-bearing at 85% of the
announced by the People’s Bank of China (2020:

unsecured, rates
interest-bearing from 85% of the rates announced by
the People’s Bank of China) and repayable in 2022;
and

(i) a shareholder’s loan of a principal amount of
RMB700,000,000 (2020: RMB700,000,000), which is
unsecured, interest-bearing at LPR in the PRC minus
0.45% and repayable in 2022.

At 31 December 2020, a bank loan of HK$242,942,000
was due to a bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the
Group, which was secured, interest-bearing at rates ranging
from 90% to 100% of the rates announced by the People’s
Bank of China and will be settled by instalment until 2028.
The balance was fully repaid during the year ended
31 December 2021.

25.

AARRITREMES (&)

KRB —F+_A=+—H0  —fE+HE
R AR EREIE

() A£% AR 400,000,000 (=ZF=
=4 : AR#400,000,0007T) B9 IR E
BN ZEEFAEER  EPBEA
RBITABHNESGE%TE(ZEZ
TF - FRAARRITAMHOF E85%
R BER-ZZZ_FEE R

(i) A&EEAREE700,000,0007T (==
T4 : AR¥700,000,0007T) KIREER
BN ZEERABERE ZEFP
LPRB0.45%5F 8 BEZAR =T - —
FEE-

B

R-E-_TF+_A=+—8 " EMF—
MIRT(BAEEN—MRREKBAR) Z
RITERE 242,042,000 A B K - 1%
NFHREARRITAMEE 290%ZE100%
AERBRZZZNFZAIAD BN RE
FREE - BHRERBE_ZT=_—F+=
A=+—BLFEXEEE-
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26. FHIRE

2021 2020
—E=-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Non-current I BN A
Medium-term notes — unsecured FHIRE — EEH 2,442,478 1,183,231

On 1 April 2020, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement with the relevant financial institutions in relation
to the proposed issue of RMB-denominated medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of not exceeding
RMB3.5 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$4.3 billion)
to the qualified investors in the PRC.

On 12 June 2020 (the “First Issue Date”), the Group issued
the first tranche of the medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,184,500,000) before related expenses of
RMB1,330,000, with a maturity period of 5 years from the
First Issue Date. The first tranche of the medium-term notes
bears interest at a rate of 3.68% per annum and the
interest will be repayable by the Group annually from the
First Issue Date and up to the maturity date.

R_Z_ZFFNA—H ARAEAHAS
REERRATHABERKREERTAS
BT EBAREISET (KEENERE43
B7L) BRARBHENTHREF L BH
1%

RZZEZTEF A+ =ZRA(BEKXRETH
B AEBBRTE-HTBHERE A¢
%8 & A R #1,000,000,0007T (8 % 7 ¥
1,184,500,0007T) (MR EEE R AR
1,330,0007CAT) - AR A B B X (T HH
BFASF - F—HPARAEENFINX A
3.68% ' FlR BB AEEB HXETHH
ZHHBABFTUEE -
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20.

27.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (Continued)

On 27 July 2021 (the “Second Issue Date”), the Group
issued the second tranche of medium-term notes with a
principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,222,300,000), before related expenses of
RMB1,330,000, with a maturity period of 5 years from the
Second Issue Date. The second tranche of the
medium-term notes bears interest at a rate of 3.5% per
annum and the interest will be repayable by the Group
annually from the Second Issue Date and up to the maturity
date.

According to the terms of the first and second tranches of
medium-term notes (collectively, the “Medium-term Notes”),
the Group is entitled to adjust the interest rate of the
Medium-term Notes for the remaining 2 years before the
maturity date after 3 years from the respective issue date of
each tranche. The Group will announce the adjustment of
interest rate, if any, 10 working days prior to the payment
of interest for the third year. The bondholders have an
option to sell the Medium-term Notes back to the Group at
a nominal price and the exercisable period of this option is
within 5 working days after the issuance of the Group’s
announcement related to the adjustment of interest rate.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities and assets
during the year are as follows:

206.

27.

FHIZE IR (8)

AT - —F+A-++R([E KT
BH])  AEBETE_HHHEE - K
4 %8 5 A R #1,000,000,0007T (1 5 K&
#£1,222,300,0007T) (IR EHEER AR
1,330,000 CAl) - HIR BB E ZXETTH
HEEISF - BE-_HPRHEENTFAN XA
3.5%  FlEBEBmASEBES —K%ETH
HEDHBEEFETFUEE-

REE-HLRE_HPHER(GEIZE
FHERDOGER AREEERERE
BT B MEm3FR - ABRIIMBA
BRTIMEZEZTHRBENNE - AEE
RE=FF SR KAN10METER A M A
ME(E) EHEHBANEERNREE
REEZETHEERETASEABRE
BUTEASAKEEARAENXRNASE
T LS TERA ©

B IETR IR

BREHB(BE) BEREERFRAZE
R

Temporary
differences on
assets Temporary
recognised differences Fair value
under arising from adjustments
HK(IFRIC)  impairment of arising from  Undistributed
Interpretation intangible  acquisition of profits of
12 assets subsidiaries subsidiaries Others
BBR
ZE8) -
2B E125 KENELR
BRAZEEr HBEEERE EEZARE B2 &
ERZERE E4EZERER BE ADRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2020 837,039 - 53,795 55,694 (19,160) 927,368
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 286,713 (54,181) (4,902) (6,801) 1,291 222,120
Exchange realignment 69,906 (2,901) 3,400 3,427 (1,235) 72,597
At 31 December 2020 and RZZB-ZF+=A
1 January 2021 =+—-8k
T —F
—A—-AH 1,193,658 (57,082) 52,293 52,320 (19,104) 1,222,085
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BB/ (Gt A) 119,048 = (4,832) (14,715) 77 99,578
Exchange realignment I X A% 40,017 (1,822 1,591 1,457 (608) 40,635
At 31 December 2021 R-—Z-_—%+-A
=1—F 1,352,723 (58,904) 49,052 39,062 (19,635 1,362,298




27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets recognised in the

Annual Report 2021

—T - FFR 251

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf ¥ & % Bt 5

27. ELEFIIA (&)

RTE2HEW ETELEHBREERAR
ERMHBARARTEE - TRSUYH R
HBEMMYAKEREERALERIEL 2D
i

2021 2020
—E-FF
HK$’000

BT

—_E-—5F
HK$’000
BB T T

RERA BN R FER

consolidated statement of financial position BT IEE E 82,450 64,467

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RErE AR R IER
consolidated statement of financial position ZEERIAEE (1,444,748) (1,286,552)
(1,362,298) (1,222,085)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in  Mainland China. The
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December

requirement is effective from
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised was approximately HK$358,537,000 (2020:
HK$282,724,000). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BRBHEIEMEHRE  RRBEAERZ
ZERERANBREETIREER - &
B10% 2 HERHRENR - ZRER =T
ENF-A-—BEAR WEAR-ZFZT
TtEFT A=t HZBRELEZEN - i
ERBEAREEEBINEKRE LB BAE
BRI ARARBE R RIATEAEREZE
IR - REE 2 BEBRRER5% - Ht
AEBEARPRREXNZZMBEARS =
EENEF-A—HBELEZEMNANDIKZ
B BB TEHIA o

RZE-_—F+_A=+—H BRER
rh B K B BT B8 A B4R B Y 181 R R RR AR TE AR
BHEBENESUHUZERBENABE
358,537,000 (ZE - T F : B
282,724,0007L) cEER A KA B i§
RSB RARTARAEDRZEFE

R B [7) L e BRI 3% BB 3 A MY A A R A
BHER -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. M&x7N

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T ook e e
Authorised: EER:
5,000,000,000 (2020: 5,000,000,000) ordinary 5,000,000, OOOHQ
shares of US$0.10 each (ZZ2=FF:

5,000,000,000 %)
FREEC.10E T

2 B 3,891,500 3,891,500
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBEEHR
2,066,078,000 (2020: 2,066,078,000) ordinary 2,066 078, OOOHQ
shares —EEF
2,066,078,000/%)
L R 1,608,209 1,608,029
29. RESERVES 29. f#f@
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements e E"$¢F&Lff¢f21aﬁﬁ@%ﬁ&
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HEHFBERVYBHRRPEISTEIS8E Z
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 157 %%éﬁ%fm FERZT o
to 158 of the financial statements.
() Share premium (i) RHORE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman @B%((F%ﬁxﬁ%ﬂ ALEYUERTA) » 2
Islands, the fund in the share premium account of the RARMDBRERANESADIK T A
Company is distributable to the shareholders of the NEIRE - EREBEREEZS KR EB
Company provided that immediately following the date Hﬂ??: CARFIBBREATEEATEED
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, WP B EIEE -

the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Exchange reserve (i) EHGEE
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange EHFERERERARINEE Y
differences arising from the translation of the financial TEIREATEE 2 P INERE X =58 -

statements of entities outside Hong Kong.



29. RESERVES (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Other reserve

Other reserve comprises the difference between the
consideration paid for the acquisition of non-controlling
interests and the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests at the transaction date, less the foreign
exchange movements on translation of those
subsidiaries attributable to the non-controlling

interests.

Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises

Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, follow the
accounting principles and relevant financial regulations
of the PRC applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises (“PRC GAAP — WFOE”) in the preparation
of their accounting records and financial statements.
Pursuant to the accounting regulations for business
enterprises (1 ¥ € & # & 81 ©(2000)25%%), the
subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP-WFOE
for each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived
at must be used initially to set off against any
accumulated losses. The appropriations to statutory
reserve, after offsetting against any accumulated
losses, must be made before the distribution of
dividends to equity owners. The appropriation is
required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of
the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not
distributable in the form of cash dividends but may be
used to set off losses or be converted into paid-in

capital.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income held at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in note 2.4.
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[t (&)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Hit %%

HAh et 4 B2 40 W R FR PR AR R 25 P 1 RO
RERFZERERNR S B HNKRE
BEZHEMER  BIREIFERERE
HEZENBRRZINEE L EH -

RES
A — EINEEFE

AEBUNRPRZHBRR (Z2HNE
E)RBERARINGBEDEZF
BHertRARBEMBEER((FEA
RETRA — 2HERE]) R
SRV BRE - BE(DES
=HEE B € (2000)255% ) » M B A FIZA
BFRBRFREARGTRA — 250
BREFEAMBZAFEF10%3]#
BETERE - B NMEELAUKE
FHEFFEE REEHBREF (B
M EMRFTEER) EETRHER
FAIEBREREADIRRE - HBA
RIE—HEBANZEEHE EE
FEREEESFMERS0R AL © It
FERBETAIUREBREFLRADIK
HATAREEBEEERAEHR
z'g °

N

A RERE

D B 1R s BRI A A B3t
AEA R ERAMEE TANA R E
B R E)FE - IR 2,440
BHBARE -
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30.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Everbright Kellon Green Energy
Limited (“Kellon Green Energy”)

On 1 April 2021, the Group acquired a 60% equity interest
in Kellon Green Energy (formerly known as “Kellon Green
Energy Limited”), which is principally engaged in solar
energy projects, at a cash consideration of HK$15,000 from
certain independent third parties. The acquisition was
completed on 1 April 2021 and Kellon Green Energy has
become a subsidiary of the Company since then.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy
to expand its market share in the solar energy business.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Kellon Green Energy as at the date of acquisition were as

30. XBA B

WEARERZCERRABRLA ([E
ZRBEER])

R-Z-—4MmA—8 AEELRSR
B 5% %15,0007E % T B E =77 i
R e R B ((EREeERERA
7)) 60% M iE - ZANEBHERREE
HE - WBER T —FmA—BRK
REER M & R G B AR A FlR — R H
BAF -

WRELERAEERRECREEXED
S EERBE ) — B D AT

RBER EXREERZIABNEE
RBEZAAEWT :

follows:

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition

Ui 78 By g8 2
AU
HK$’000
BETIT

Property, plant and equipment e 11,805
Right-of-use assets EREEE 6,176
Debtors, other receivables, deposits and FEUER SR - I GRIE « & K

prepayments AN/ O 3,216
Cash and cash equivalents REeRASEEY 276
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses FETBR R « Efib FE S IR K FEAT

£ (3,003)

Loans from the shareholders EERER (11,300)
Lease liabilities HEGE (7,145)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR EERFERARE) 25
Non-controlling interests FE 2 iR e 2 (10)
Total consideration RIEHEE 15
Satisfied by: BATHAN :
Cash consideration ReRE 15




30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continuea)

Acquisition of Everbright Kellon Green Energy
Limited (“Kellon Green Energy”) (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of a subsidiary is as follows:
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30. X#A (&)

WEXREZZCERRARIA ([E
ZRERR]) (&

BRAWBENBARIZRESREDTET :

HK$’000
BT I
Total cash consideration HeREBEBRE (15)
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B TR e RIS EFEY 276

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in R& KIR&ZEEYWHRAFER GEA

cash flows from investing activities KEFSMRHEESRE) 261
Add: Transaction costs for the acquisition included — #il : WEEEYAZ BACAN (5T ALK &R &)
in cash flows from operating activities FISHRERE) (379)

(112)

Since the acquisition, Kellon Green Energy contributed
HK$2,294,000 to the Group’s revenue and a profit of
HK$915,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2021, the
consolidated revenue and profit for the year ended
31 December 2021 of the Group would have been
HK$8,447,785,000 and HK$1,118,711,000, respectively.

BUEELAR - ERGZ e RRNEEZT = —
FTZA=T—HBLEFEAAEBEEREK
=8 12,204,0007T W Ak A BRI RE
F) 75 #915,0007T °

HEBKER T - —F—F— AT
REBEE-_ZT-_—4F+-A=+—BLLFE"
FEBZEEWRRREBNED M ABE
8,447,785,0007T & & #1,118,711,0007T °
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31. #R&HE&REXRM T
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@ FEFREXRS
()  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the ) REZEZE-_Z=_FTF+=A
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use =+—HLFE KTEEBEAHR
assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,733,000 and EHREFERE CHEREZ®
HK$1,733,000, respectively, in respect of lease AREERHEAEIER ST
arrangements for buildings. E DR AEA1,733,0007T & B
#1,733,0007T °
(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, iy RE=E—_ZFT=-_—F+=A
interest expenses on medium-term notes of =+—HLEFE A&EBE@#ERK
HK$19,025,000 (2020: HK$23,026,000) are not MNEFRBMEENBR B
yet settled by the Group, and are recorded in 19,025,0007L (ZEZFF : &
“Creditors, other payables and accrued #23,026,0007T) * BEAFIELD
expenses” in the consolidated statement of AERZZE-—F+=-A=+—H
financial position as at 31 December 2021. ZERE P BMAR [ ERTERER
Hitn BN RIBREFERIA -
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BRETHELANEEBZEE:

activities:

Medium-
term Notes
Medium- interest Lease
Bank loans Other loans term Notes [EVELES liabilities Total
FE1t
RITEM Hit &% HHRE EEFE HEAE Agt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2020 RZZZTF
—A—H 11,094,776 460,235 — — 13,015 11,568,026
Changes from financing cash B ERERELH
flows 2,235,649 742,090 1,091,047 - (5,108) 4,063,678
Finance costs, including HKER(BEEE
capitalised interest MeF B F%)
expenses 509,981 29,428 — 23,026 466 562,901
Exchange realignment I 5 606,786 71,197 92,184 1,190 463 771,820
At 31 December 2020 and RZZ-FF
1 January 2021 +=RA=+—H
=T —F
—A—H 14,447,192 1,302,950 1,183,231 24,216 8,836 16,966,425
Changes from financing cash R AR & HEE
flows 1,391,583 (63,214) 1,201,501 (43,222) (2,934 2,483,714
New leases MEEE = = = = 1,733 1,733
Finance costs, including BKER(BEEE
capitalised interest MeFBEX)
expenses 585,038 63,306 — 62,247 610 711,201
Increase arising from W iE— RS A )
acquisition of a subsidiary EERKE N = = = = 7,145 7,145
Exchange realignment BE AR 340,275 41,488 57,746 49 246 439,804
As at 31 December 2021 R-TB-—&
+=-A=+—H 16,764,088 1,344,530 2,442,478 43,290 15,636 20,610,022




31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

With operating activities LEED
With investing activities K& EH
With financing activities &R
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31. HEBRERERMF(E&)

(d 1ﬁ§2ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬂ%gﬁ

imu%i‘%ﬁﬁ%@fﬂ% Ziﬁ/i\mtbﬁ R
mT -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETFTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
15,682 11,791
62,210 210,007
2,934 5,108

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
banking facilities and other borrowings are included in note
25 to the financial statements. The aggregate net book
value of assets pledged amounted to HK$21,584,176,000
(2020: HK$19,019,934,000) as at 31 December 2021.

33. COMMITMENTS

(@) At 31 December 2021,
purchase commitments
Group’s construction contracts not provided for in the
financial statements of HK$620,324,000 (2020:
HK$1,104,064,000).

the Group had outstanding
in connection with the

(b) At 31 the Group had an
outstanding capital relating to the
capital contribution to an associate not provided for in
the financial statements of HK$36,535,000 (2020:
HK$35,405,000).

2021,
commitment

December

(c) At 31 December 2021, the Group had no outstanding
capital commitment relating to the capital contribution
to a joint venture not provided for in the financial
statements (2020: HK$3,575,000).

32. BEHKH

RAEERTREREMEEMDS FIEA
CAREBEEZHBINTBIREWZT
B - MN_EBE-_—F+_A=+—H BEE
HEEREEFERAER21,584,176,000
T (= =Z 4 : ##19,019,934,0007T) °

33. HIE
@ RZE-_—F+ZA=+—R8 %X&
BUARERBREPHREAAIEEE
BEAHNZABOTRBARESK
620,324,000 L{EBE (Z T T F :
75 #1,104,064,0007T) °

) RZZBE-_—F+ZA=+—0 K&
BRI B RME A A — K
NEIEE 7 B AR AW 36,535,000
THEBEBE(ZDZE_ZF : 5K
35,405,0007T) °

) RZBE-_—F+ZA=+—R8 &
EEWATHBEREREEAN—RE
BOETEZERAEERE(CT
— T B#3,575,0007T) °



China

258

Everbright Greentech Limited

HEXREZERRER DA

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf 7 & 3 K 5%

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition

to the transactions and balances disclosed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered

into the following material related party transactions:

(@) Transactions with fellow subsidiaries

Rental expenses HeMX

Hazardous and solid waste EEREEEREERA
processing income

Interest on lease liabilities HESER S

Underwriting fee BiEE A

Interest income FEWA

Interest expenses B

Purchase of machineries** AR PR

Design fees HEEH

Purchase of steam** BB

Purchase of insurance**

BB R

AL RS

SRS MR EMEARE 2P RAEHID -
AEEFTYATEREBALRS ¢

() EHERMEBRAAZRS

Notes

B &

2021 2020
—B-—-fF —ZT_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T AT
2,494 2,322

596 3,626

- 129

4,032 1,453
1,082 3,577
8,152 11,787
26,037 92,874
2,015 -
59,877 22,163
17,878 —

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

Interest income was derived from deposit services
provided by China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“CE Bank”). The deposit services to be provided by
CE Bank was based on normal commercial terms and
no less favourable than the terms available to the
Group from independent third parties. Interest income
was charged based on normal terms and agreed
through arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

Interest expenses were incurred on a loan from CE
Bank. The loan services to be provided by CE Bank
was based on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties. Interest expense was
charged based on normal terms and agreed through
arm’s-length negotiations between the parties.

Purchase of machineries from a fellow subsidiary,
Everbright Environmental Technology Equipment
(Changzhou) Company Limited*, was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

R

(i)

(i)

MEWARE REERRITRN A
RAR (AT IRE 2 FHR
B o SORIRITIRU 2 F R IRTS B IR
—REEGIFURM - BARBERRD
BRARBEBEBILE=TESZIE
Ko MBI AR — R IGFHRIER K 3E
BETH T Z MM R FERBIHE -

MEXHTBERRITEREL -
RRRITH TFREZERRB TR
—RAEEGFURM - BABERT
BRARBEBLE=FESZK
o MBS R — R AGFUE S E
BETR T 2B R TEFHE -

BIEEIGIENGIPZN: s
(FM) BRA RS RERIA T
RIEAEE R R E ARG LA
15h 5 16 SR UCER -



34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Purchase of steam from a fellow subsidiary, EB
Environmental Energy (Sugian) Company Limited*, was
charged in accordance with the terms of the
agreement entered into between the Group and the
fellow subsidiary.

(v) Medical insurance fee was paid to Sun Life Everbright
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. under an employee healthcare
protection services agreement. The fee was charged in
accordance with the terms of the agreement entered
into between the parties.

For identification purpose only

*%

These related party transactions also constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Transactions with an intermediate holding
company

The Group incurred interest expenses of
HK$48,723,000 (2020: HK$29,428,000) on an amount
due to an intermediate holding company which is
interest-bearing at 85% of the rates announced by the
People’s Bank of China (2020: interest-bearing at
85% of the rates announced by the People’s Bank of
China) and LPR in the PRC minus 0.45% during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Transactions with a joint venture

The Group received management service income of
HK$738,000 (2020: HK$689,000) from a joint venture
and interest income derived from a loan to a joint
venture of HK$259,000 (2020: HK$112,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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ABMALZRS (&)
(a) HERZMEBARAZXS (4)

B&E - (48)

(v) AR ZH A B AR EEIR (T8
B)BRRBRBETHRIADR
IR E R R B AR R LA
3 B R ©

v REEERERERBHRREEA
KAASREBER QB BER
e - ZERIRIBRT A7 2 FR]
AN AE S S

* REBBALXZIEHACLETE
ADEVIAZFFREZ 5B HER
5 °

(b) BE—EFEZERAAZRS

AEBREBEE-_ZE-_—F+=A
=+—BIEFEREN—MPEZER
ARARBEAENEIEBE
48,723,000 (=T -2 4F : B
29,428,0007T) © HiZH B A RRTT
NN RE5% (—Z B - T4 : #gh
B ARBITAMAIF R85%ETE) &
R BILPRIFO0.45%5T & °

(c) B-—REELEZXS

AEERBE-_T=-—F+=H
=+—HIEFEE—REELEKRR
EIRRBUAEEE 738,000 (=T =
T4E  BH689,0000T) MR B R —K
EELEERZAMNBKRAEE
259,000 (ZE 2 F : B K
112,0007T) °
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 34. EaHs AN+ 2325 (#&)

(d) The Group paid key management personnel (d) TEBEINEEETEEAEHS
compensation as follows: PN

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT  BETR

Salaries and other short-term employee FekHEMBHESR

benefits &7 61,441 66,094
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 5K 7,799 5,661
69,240 71,755

Total remuneration is included in “Employee benefit FoeBEs AIEERMAZI(RM

expense” (see note 8). FE8) o
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIEBRKR SENERITAZEREMAERD

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:

2021 —E-—F

Financial assets

ERAEE

Financial

assets at fair
value through

other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost
BARERTA
HittZEWA ZRBHEETE
ZEMEE ZERMEE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT
Debtors JFE 1 B 3K 3,299,533 2,224,849 5,524,382
Financial assets included in other SEAE A U FRIE
receivables, deposits and ®e RIBHIE
prepayments ZEBEE - 288,173 288,173
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER - 160,542 160,542
Cash and cash equivalents HERELEEY - 2,483,568 2,483,568
3,299,533 5,157,132 8,456,665
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. BERE Dz I A (&)
(Continued)

2021 (Continued) —E-—F(4F)

Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

B EARA
FrEZER
&E
HK$’000
BET T

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other payables T AFEfTERFX - EH th FE T 7038 K&

and accrued expenses EErERzcRAE 4,111,096
Lease liabilities HEAE 15,636
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRETREMEE 20,551,096

24,677,828
2020 —EZEHF
Financial assets TEEE

Financial assets
at amortised

cost

122 4 55 X AR

SEZ e

HK$’000

BT T

Debtors JE WLBR 5K 2,290,652
Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits st AE M fE WK FKIE « 24 &

and prepayments FERRBEZEREE 230,900

Pledged bank deposits BEHEFRITER 219,415

Deposits with banks RITIFR 1,663

Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEED 2,505,975

5,248,605




35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
2020 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in creditors, other payables
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35. EREI D zeRMIE (&)

—E2F(A)

EAEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

R RN

SHEz SR
&1
HK$'000
BT T

FARERIBRR « A A IR B

and accrued expenses EtEBRZzSRmAE 3,910,879
Lease liabilities HEAE 8,836
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMEER 16,933,373
20,853,088

36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. TR ARE

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, deposits with
banks, the current portion of financial assets included in
deposits and prepayments,
other payables and accrued expenses,

debtors, other receivables,

creditors, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
immediate or the short term maturities of these

instruments.

EREEHEREMNASEEY BER
RITFR - |RITER - BREFASREE
BIEAEE Y - Mt ERIE - RE RFAEMNK
B BN HEMRELEER
HEBBERERTREMBEEZAA
HHEREERES  T2HRZFTARNE
D EA R AN E B -
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36.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

The Group’s finance management department is responsible
for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
At each
the finance management department

value measurement of financial instruments.
reporting date,
analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the Audit and Risk Management Committee

twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, other payables,
lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and certain debtors have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk
for interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 was assessed to be insignificant. The carrying

amounts of these balances approximate to their fair values.
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36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
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36. @Rt TEZ N NRE (£)

DABER
TRHAREEERTAZ ARBEHEE
®

BAREH BT AR

Fair value measurement using

DABHBEANTEE

Quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)
RERT %
ZHRE
(£-8R)
HK$'000
BB T

As at 31 December 2021 R=ZE=_—F+-A=1+—-H

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXUEBE
BAHE
(E=R)
HK$'000
BB T

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
EXFABE
BAHE
(E=4)
HK$'000
BB T

st
HK$'000
BETR

Financial assets at fair value through other RORBHFAEMEZHEAKALZ
comprehensive income SHEE - 3,299,533 - 3,299,533
The Group did not have financial assets measured at fair RZEZTF+A=+—H X&EEBEL

value as at 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between level 1 and
level 2 and no transfers into or at level 3 for financial
assets (2020: nil).

BRARAAEFENTREE -

BE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE"
NEMEEMS  F—AMNE_GNRA
Bt 2B EEBRRIWEE AL =Rk
BER=REH(CZ_ZF:8\)-
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37.

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
entered into agreements with certain financial institutions
whereby the Group sells certain trade receivable of
renewable energy tariff subsidies to a trust company, which
in turn issues asset-backed notes in the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors. The
asset-backed notes are backed by the receivables of
renewable energy tariff subsidy.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
transferred an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$938,449,800 (equivalent to RMB782,041,500) of trade
receivables of renewable energy tariff subsidies to the trust
company and received proceeds of HK$843,719,800, net of
the arrangement fee of HK$94,730,000. In the opinion of
the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards relating to the transferred receivables,
and the Group’s exposure to the variability in the amounts
of the transferred assets was not significant after the
transaction. Accordingly, the full carrying amount of the
transferred receivables has been derecognised. The Group
has provided liquidity support to the asset-backed notes.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s continuing
involvement in the derecognised receivables is equal to their
the

in the derecognised

carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors,

Group’s continuing involvement

receivables is not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the transfer of the
derecognised receivables.

37.
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BHE-_ZT-_—+-_A=+—RBI=EE"
AEEMZELTARNEERLEAEBELER
938,449,8007T (15 A K # 782,041,500
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing borrowings, cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as debtors, other
receivables, deposits, and creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks,
bank and other borrowings and medium-term notes.
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair
value interest rate risk respectively. The Group does not use
financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk.
The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

() Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less deposits with banks and cash
and cash equivalents) at the end of the reporting

38. BEAREREBEREEK (&

R (&)
() FIEHR

TRIJIAEERREMR2EEF
B EERABERERTERN
EReRReFEY) ZFERLR -

period.

2021
—E--&F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERFE &8 kx|
% HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT EETT
Net fixed rate borrowings/ EEEE/(BR)FE:
(deposits):
Medium-term notes THEE 3.50%-3.68% 2,442,478 3.68% 1,183,231
Lease liabilties (note 15(0)) HEE & (H15(0) 3.50%-4.90% 15,636 3.50%-4.90% 8,836
Less: Deposits with banks . RITER - - 1.35% (1,663)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBLEEY 0.41%-1.70% (178,965) 0.30%-1.65% (298,915)
2,279,149 891,489
Net variable rate borrowings/ BFEEE/(BR)FHE:
(deposits):
Bank and other loans BAREMER 1.25%-4.95% 16,764,088 1.05%-5.39% 14,447,192
Loans from an intermediate holding —AREERARER
company 3.35%-4.04% 1,344,530 3.40%-4.04% 1,302,950
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A ReRAGEEN 3.40%-2.20% (2,304,603) 0.05%-2.2% (2,207,060)
Pledged bank deposits BERETER 0.30%-0.35% (160,542) 0.30%-2.75% (219,415)
Loan to a non-controlling R B
interest 5.23% (27,115) 5.23% (25,021)
15,616,358 13,298,646
Total net borrowings BEEFHE 17,895,507 14,190,135




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continuead)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021,
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates,

it is estimated that a general

with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group’s profit before taxation
by approximately HK$156,164,000 (2020
HK$132,986,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
taxation that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the impact on the
Group’s profit before taxation is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is

performed on the same basis as 2020.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

(i)

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group
primarily from bank loans, cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables that are denominated in a

is exposed to foreign currency risk

foreign currency, i.e.,
functional currency of the operations to which they
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are

a currency other than the

primarily Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States
dollars and Euros. The Group ensures that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where

necessary to address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to foreign currency risk
arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the
spot rate at the reporting date. Differences resulting
from the translation of the consolidated financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s

presentation currency are excluded.

38. iEAMREEBZENEER

(&)

S R B

(i)

2021

VLS Pat I 3

AEEEEEAINERREEIRE A
mwwﬁ%%m%mmﬁgwu%m

EB)HEZERITER ReERRE
SEY  BKE ﬁ&ﬁﬁ RIE - B
ZEBNEEEB AL ARKE .
ETLRBUT - BBRUERINIRERE
KEBINE ARG FEHBR
AEERREEH R FREERE
BEXHKF -

TRFVNAEBRERERRADHE
REEXBE(AEHAERBZIEE
WAON B EHE) FTE S ZNER
%o BEFNEMME @ EESEAS
MEIJ/T\ IR E HRA IR EE X
o A INEI S HIAR S B TS R IR
ﬁ$$§|m£7j”ﬁ%ﬁﬁ§$ﬂ@§%ﬁ
GEFAINE RS o

—E--F
United States United States

Renminbi dollars Euros Renminbi dollars Euros

AR% S B7r ARE S B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT BETT AET T BETT

Cash and cash equivalents BeRALEED 16,160 2,496 195 67,868 2,082 222
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries (net) el /BRI R BARRETE 2,513,083 - - 1,152,392 = 69,979
Other receivables it AR 1,136 - - 1,071 - -
Bank loans RTER (2,444,600) - - (1,184,500) = =
Other payables E At R HE (120,610) - - (91,841) - -

(34,831) 2,496 195 (65,010) 2,082 70,201




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continuead)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit before taxation that would arise
if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the United States dollar against other
The impact of foreign exchange rate

fluctuations with respect to the assets and liabilities

currencies.

denominated in United States dollars is insignificant as
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States
dollar.
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BEABEINEEXRFBNTZEL
BEXe

2021
—EC_—F

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in
foreign  Effect on profit  foreign exchange Effect on profit
exchange rates before tax rates before tax
HEEELH " HEBBART HME B © HRBAIRFE
(FB&) % 6%
HK$’000 HK$'000
B¥TRT BT
Renminbi ARE 10% (3,483) 10% (5,501)
(10%) 3,483 (10%) 5,501
United States dollars E 10% 250 10% 208
(10%) (250) (10%) (208)
Euros BT 10% 20 10% 7,020
(10%) (20) (10%) (7,020)

Results of the analysis presented in the above table EREVAMERBE TAEES

represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit before taxation
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for

presentation purposes.

@RI~ RIAERA BE BBt 8 2 FR T
AAENRTE ARTENRS
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
intercompany payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2020.

Credit risk

The Group assesses the credit quality of the customers and
other counterparties, taking into account their background,
financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debtors are
usually due immediately within 90 days from the date of
billing.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash and cash equivalents, debtors, other receivables and
contract assets.

38.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EBEIEBZENEE (&
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging R 55 B B [ F K 57 [ R 57 2B

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TERBEAESENEERR IR EER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, BERGaEERR  BREABAKAXE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other NEAESHMERI - T&REZE D E ]
information is available without undue cost or effort, and BRERTZA=1T—HZERIBES
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. HREM-

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for ZINCHEATHEENESRERENEER
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the B AR B ERE(E ©

financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A7
FEER BEFEANASEEESR

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RER FEoRR E-ER 5K(473 &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BETT BT BET T BET R

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELEEY 2,483,568 - - — 2,483,568
Pledged bank deposits BHERRITER 160,542 - - - 160,542
Debtors* JE LT BR 3R - - - 5,530,856 5,530,856
Financial assets included in other receivables, T AE A FEW A -
deposits and prepayments e RBARIED
SREE 288,173 - - - 288,173

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries = NG ¢ 1,316 - - - 1,316
Amounts due from joint ventures A & ERIE 31,340 - - - 31,340
Amount due from an associate PR — Rl B & A R 5RIE 550 - - - 550
Loan to a non-controlling interest FEIRE R B R 27,115 - - - 27,115
Contract assets EREE
— with significant financing component — BBEEAREBHEK

BH 7,471,736 - - - 7,471,736
— without significant financing component* — TEBEERREMEK

Ho* - - — 2,046,209 2,046,209

10,464,340 - - 7,577,065 18,041,405
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EMETE BIZ MR (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continueq) w5 B B [ F R 7 B R 7 4 (AE)

As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-_ZTEF+-_A=+—H

12-month
Lifetime ECLs

B8
Simplified
approach

L%
HK$'000
BETT

Stage 1
£
HK$'000
BT

Stage 2 Stage 3
£ ZREE FE=MEER
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETE  BETR

Total
At
HK$'000
BT

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 2,505,975 = = — 2,505,975
Pledged bank deposits BHEFRITER 219,415 - - — 219,415
Deposits with banks RITER 1,663 = = = 1,663
Debtors* FEU AR 3 - — — 2,294,824 2,294,824
Financial assets included in other receivables, TAE B RIE
deposits and prepayments e RBARIEDN
SREE 230,900 = = = 230,900
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries GG *AIQ 1,268 — — - 1,268
Amounts due from joint ventures A E R ER 16,117 = = = 16,117
Loan to a non-controlling interest R E R gm 25,021 = = = 25,021
Contract assets EREE
— with significant financing component — ABEAREMERK
BH 6,789,387 — — - 6,789,387
— without significant financing component* — TEBERREMK
Ho = = — 3,474,316 3,474,316
9,789,746 — — 5,769,140 15,558,886

For contract assets without a significant financing component

- FAEERABCEFERBENTARE

and debtors to which the Group applies the simplified ABEHARK I D BE L E E R EWRERSRT
approach for impairment, information is disclosed in notes TEEEMBERMBREM 24
2.4, 21 and 22 to the financial statements. 2122 °
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure BRASBEENEEREURRERFMEED
to credit risk arising from and contract assets and debtors FERBHOMNE - T EEEED BN

are disclosed in note 21 and 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.

FEERR M sE21 22 FE -



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and

creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
counterparty and by geographical region. At 31 December
2021, “Debtors,
prepayments” and “Contract assets” of the Group amounted
to HK$16,603,083,000 (2020: HK$14,074,120,000), of which
HK$3,348,437,000 (2020: HK$2,974,904,000) was due from
the largest customer and HK$5,689,040,000 (2020:
HK$3,983,158,000) largest

customers in aggregate of the Group, respectively. The

other receivables, deposits and

was due from the five
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset and contract asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its

liquidity requirements and its

compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term.

Annual Report 2021

—T - FFR 275

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf ¥ & % Bt 5

38.

MR B IR B AR MR ()

EEER (&)
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BRFK - H A fEUGRIE - iRe RIBMNFE] R
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EBEIEBIZENEE (&
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRK (&)

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINTIAEERRERARCIFETETR
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s SRABE s FBENHBRBER WA
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on AR RERE(BREEEONEL (B
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest FE)RBRMEARZFEGTE 2FEN
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, R)EAEBEEEBEEERACRTABRA
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) AEEMFH -

and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

31 December 2021
—Z--%+-A=1+-H
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year PATCE

Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but within but within More than

amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
HEES: 3] —FRH —F% mE#

BEHE ZeRELE RER R BEER AF#E

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000

BB BT T BB BRI BETT BRI

Interest-bearing bank and other SRR RAMES

borrowings (note 25) (FizE25) 20,551,096 23,125,986 5,127,004 4,542,799 8,715,752 4,740,341
Creditors, other payables and ERER - HiEAFER

accrued expenses” [E-did 4,111,096 4,117,358 3,963,274 40,484 57,279 56,321
Lease liabilties (note 15(b)) HEB & (HE150) 15,636 20,278 1,504 1,440 4,760 12,574

24,677,828 27,263,622 9,091,872 4,584,723 8,777,791 4,809,236

31 December 2020
—Z-ZF+-A=+-H

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or but within but within More than
amount cash flow on demand £ 5 years 5 years
—£ F1g [k
REE il g BEREA BRER hFE&
HK$'000 ' HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BB
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMEE
borrowings (note 25) (FizE25) 16,933,373 19,272,172 2,911,736 3,683,025 8,796,278 3,881,133
Creditors, other payables and RIS - HEAFHER
accrued expenses* [ g-did 3,992,495 4,000,750 3,925,288 8,138 24,414 42,910
Lease liabilties (note 15(b)) HEB & (H150) 8,836 11,409 2,688 958 2,130 5,633
20,934,704 23,284,331 6,839,712 3,692,121 8,822,822 3,929,676
* The balances excluded deferred income — government * EHRTEREERA — BSFEHE -

grants.



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are to
maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new share issues or new debt financing.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there was
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2021 was 65.1%
(2020: 63.5%).
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8. MBERERERZNMEER (&)

EXEE
AEEEEEAZIEENEERTEY
MEEFRRRBRAOEARLE  UXHFE
BEE > URKRRHEREANEE - AREE
EEEARBORE  TeREBEEMNRR
CEPHEARBELAE - AKEETE
HRS EARRE  YMAZEBERKE R
HERE - RIFEFECER  AKEEE
BHEBERNTRRZREEE  BITHR
MABEFTNEHRE BN FEOERE
KIRHE -

AEEERB2BEEBRARERERER
REBZERE ERFEEZEBENEE
T BRERAEELSEMNER - R
T F+ZA=+—H AEBZEE
BELE(AEE BB EBRABEERN
B2H) H651%(Z L _F4F : 63.5%) °
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. A~ TR Z B #&ikR &
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

ATRRBERRRRBTEMRRAKRZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries M A aRE 2,336,994 2,336,994
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE B /BB A R 3R 9,738,365 8,027,863
Property, plant and equipment Y BEM&E 775 358
12,076,134 10,365,215
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H h W RIE K
TETFRIB 109 264
Amounts due from joint ventures UG & b FFKIB - 5
Cash and cash equivalents BeNReFEEY 171,602 648,783
171,711 649,052
Current liabilities RBAE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITER — EEA 1,003,702 991,116
Other payables E i FE 5 5RR 62,460 46,970
Tax payables FERT A IR 11,313 3,659
1,077,475 1,041,745
Net current liabilities REEEFE (905,764) (392,693)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREEE 11,170,370 9,972,522
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Bank loans — unsecured IRITER — |IEH 3,866,755 3,527,152
Medium-term notes FHIRE 2,442,478 1,183,231
6,309,233 4,710,383
Net assets BEFRE 4,861,137 5,262,139




39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
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39. RRRAZHBMREK (&)

2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Capital and reserves AR
Share capital A% 7R 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves (note) e (P aE) 3,253,108 3,654,110
Total equity e 7 4R FE 4,861,137 5,262,139
QIAN Xiaodong LO Kam Fan
EBBRR £ $7 B
Director Director
o =
Note: B 5 -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARBZHEEREZENT

Share
capital

Share Accumulated
premium losses
R 6 RE 2itEE

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Total
HE
HK$'000
BT

&
HK$'000

S
e r@h

T

Balance at 1 January 2020 R-Z-TF—F—B2&E#H  1,608020 4,313,953 (201,846) 5,720,136
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBER2EEBRERE
loss for the year = = (127,425) (127,425)
2019 final dividend paid K ZE—hFERBRE = (165,286) = (165,286)
2020 interim dividend paid R - E-TEERERE - (165,286) — (165,286)
Balance at 31 December 2020 HKZ-TE-_TF+_-_A=+—H
and 1 January 2021 k=ZF=_—F—fF—HZ
ek 1,608,029 3,983,381 (329,271) 5,262,139
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEBERRE
loss for the year - - (111,752) (111,752)
2020 final dividend paid KN ZE T FERERE - (144,625) - (144,625)
2021 interim dividend paid KNZZEZ—FEFRHRE - (144,625) - (144,625)
1,608,029 3,694,131 (441,023) 4,861,137
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X ZMIBARIFIE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARREEMBRBFBTOT

follows:

Name of company

AAER

Place of
incorporation
and business
Ef AR L
REBHH

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
BRITRMRE
BAFE

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

AARELEERE DL
Direct Indirect

HE &

Principal activities

EEEH

EB Greentech Biomass Energy (Guoyang) PRC RMB108,020,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited* (note (b)) maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project
K RGERREWEIROBE) BRAF" + AR #108,020,00070 AT Bl BEREEENEREHE
(B &£ (o) EH
EB Greentech Cogeneration (Sugian) Limited* PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
(note (b)) maintenance of industrial solid waste
treatment and electricity and heat
Co-generation project
ARGERRAE (FB) ARA R (MEb) FE AR #100,000,0007C Rat - B BERBAETXERRERR
BHHIAER
EB Greentech Solid Waste Treatment PRC RMB302,940,000 - 80% Design, construction, operation and
(Zhangjiagang) Limited* (note (c)) maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project
ARGERREERE (RRE) AR A" FE AR #302,940,0007C Rat B BERGEEREEER
(B E(c))
EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Xiao County) PRC RMB86,002,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Limited* (note (b)) maintenance of industrial solid waste
treatment and electricity and heat
co-generation project
RREERRBELR(FH)ARAA FE AR #86,002,0007C Ret - B EERAETXERRE IR
(B &£ (o) ERfAR
EB Greentech Renewable Energy (Yiyuan) PRC RMB185,520,000 - 95% Design, construction, operation and
Limited* (note (b)) maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project
ARGERRBEEROTR) BRAF FE AR #185,520,0007C Ret - B EERGEENE R RE
(Bf &£ (o) —H8ER
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable PRC RMB95,384,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Energy (Dali) Limited* (note (a)) maintenance of waste-to-energy project
RARGERRBBELLR(KE) BRAA" FE AR #95,384,0007C Rt B BEREESIREEER
(Pff &£ (@)
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable PRC RMB182,310,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Energy (Fengxian) Limited* (note (a)) maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project
ARGERREBELLR(LH) BRAA" FE AR #182,310,0007T Ret - BE BERGEEENERUREE
(Pt % (a)) —®tEE
EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable PRC RMB80,250,000 - 100% Design, construction, operation and
Energy (Gutian) Limited* (note (a)) maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project
ARGERREBELLR(HA) BRAA" FE AR #80,250,0007C Ret - BE BERGEENERURERE

(P E(a)

—#LEE



40.

Name of company

DEEE

EB Greentech Urban and Rural Renewable
Energy (Lintao) Limited* (note (a))

KRGERRRBE LR (BB BRAR"
(Fi5E ()

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Fengyang) Company Limited*"
(notes (a) and (b))

KABBEERLR (RS BRAR
(Bff & () K2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Guanyun) Company Limited**
(notes (a) and (b))
KABBEERLRCES) BRAR"
(Bff & () K2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Huai'an)
Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRBBBELRER) BRAF"
(Fif5E (@) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Mianzhu) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRBBBEER (B BRAF"
(Fif5E (@) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Biomass Energy (Nanjing)
Limited*”

HABBENER (AR)BERAA"
EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy (Xiao
County) Limited™ (notes (a) and (b))

KRBBBEER (RH) BRI
(Fif5E (@) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhecheng) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

FRBA B AR () BRA R
(Fif5E (@) B2 (b))

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongjiang) Limited™ (note (b))

SR A LR (FIT) BR A R (K (o))

Place of
incorporation
and business

A
REBHLHK

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PRC

ale]

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
BRTRAR
BRAFE

RMB5,630,000

AR #95,630,0007C

RMB183,340,000

AR #183,340,0007C

RMB199,120,000

AR #199,120,0007T

RMB238,000,000

AR #238,000,0007T

RMB183,670,000

AR #183,670,0007C

RMB97,560,000

AR #97,560,0007C

RMB275,350,000

AR #275,350,0007C

RMB154,665,000

AR ¥154,665,0007C

RMB128,333,000

AR #128,333,0007C

40. TEBHRBEBAR

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

ARAEGEEEDL
Direct Indirect

BHE &

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%
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Principal activities

ETEEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Name of company

NEEE

EB Urban and Rural Renewable Energy
(Zhongxiang) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRB B LR (EH) BRAA"
(F&E(a) B2 (b))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Chuzhou) Company

Limited* (note (b))

SeAREMEER OBM) BR A (M5 (b))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Dingyuan) Limited™"

(note (b))

KREMEER CEE) BR AR (HiFEb)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Huaiyuan) Limited*
(note (a))

FREMER (BER) BRA R (M)

Everbright Biomass Energy (Shayang) Limited*
(note (b))

KREMER (D) BRA R (i (o))

Everbright Biomass Energy (Weihai) Limited*
(note (b))

KREMER (BE) BR AR (HFb)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Dangshan)
Limited* (note (a))

RRBRER (BIL) HR A F) (@)

Everbright Environmental Energy (Lingbi)
Limited* (note (a))

RRBERER (BE) R R (@)

Everbright Environmental Protection

(Lianyungang) Solid Waste Treatment
Company Limited** (note (c))

KRRR(BER) BEEERRA A (M)

Everbright Environmental Protection (Sugian)
Solid Waste Treatment Limited* (note (d))

KRRR (ER) EEEEERA A (FH)

Place of
incorporation
and business

K
REKHE

PRC

hE

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

PRC

ol

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
ERTRAR
BRAFE

RMB159,750,000

AR #159,750,0007C

RMB106,670,000

AR #106,670,0007C

RMB106,670,000

AR #106,670,0007C

HK$273,149,000

7 #273,149,0007T

RMB127,337,000

AR #127,337,0007C

RMB127,337,000

AR #127,337,0007T

RMB83,340,000
AR #:83,340,0007C

RMB83,333,000
AR #:83,333,0007C

HK$128,640,000

7 #128,640,0007T

HK$152,934,000

78 #5152,934,0007T

40. FEWEB R AlG

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

ARRELEEREDL
Direct Indirect

BHE i

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Ay
|

5 (&)

Principal activities

ETEEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Ret - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

RAT B BEEREELENEERTE
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

RAT B BEEREELENEERTE
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Ret - B BERGEENERUREE
—#LEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass direct
combustion power generation project

RAT B BEEREELENEERTE
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of biomass electricity and
heat cogeneration project

Rt B BEREEENERERHH
HA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to- energy project
Rt B BEREENREERA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to- energy project
Rt B BEREENREERA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

RAT B EEREEREEERR

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

et B BEREEEREERR



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Place of
incorporation
and business

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
BRTRAR
RAFE

Name of company

A
REBHLH

DEEE

Everbright Environmental Solid Waste Treatment PRC HK$144,490,000
(Xinyi) Limited* (note (c))

KRARRREFERE G BRA A () hE 7 #:144,490,0007C

Everbright Greentech Energy (Shayang) Limited* PRC RMB79,567,000
(note (a))

KREERRER (DF) BRAF" (K@) hE AR #79,567,0007T

Everbright Solid Waste Landfill (Xinyi) Holdings PRC RMB93,670,000
Limited* (note (c))

ARGZERRERENEE BT BRAF" FE AR #%93,670,0007T
(P 5E(0))

Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Sugian) Limited* PRC RMB80,740,000

KRERER (FB) ERAR" hE AR #80,740,0007T

Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB208,780,000
(Sheqj) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

KRB BERR L) BRA R FE AR ¥208,780,0007C
(Pt (a) K (b))

Everbright Urban and Rural Renewable Energy PRC RMB186,670,000
(Xiayi) Limited* (notes (a) and (b))

AABBBERER(EE)BRAR" FE AR ¥186,670,0007C
(P (a) K (b))

Everbright Wind Power (Ningwu) Company PRC RMB258,360,000
Limited*"

KARE (BR) ERAF" HE AR #258,360,0007T

Everbright Solarpark Schonewalde Ldt. & Co. Germany €1,000
KG

(i 1,00084 7T
Suntime Environmental Remediation CO., Ltd® PRC RMB55,000,000
FHRBEHEEEERAR hE AR #55,000,0007T

Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment
enterprises

& Registered under the laws of the PRC as private companies
with limited liability

iz Registered under the laws of the PRC as Sino-foreign
co-operation joint ventures

For identification purpose only

40. T EWE R AlE

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

ARREGREEDL
Direct Indirect

BHE &

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

* RighBDEREEMBY
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Principal activities

ETEEH

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste
incineration project

Rit - 2E - EERAEEENERE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of waste-to-energy project
RAT B EEREELREEER

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of hazardous waste landfill
project

et B BEREEGREERRE

Design, construction and operation of solar
energy project
RAT BEREENKBEEA

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat - B BEREEENERUREE
—R{LEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of integrated biomass and
waste-to-energy project

Rat o B BEREEENERUREE
—R{LEE

Design, construction, operation and
maintenance of wind power project
RAT B EERAEEREEA

Design, construction and operation of solar
energy project
RAT BEREENKBEEA

Operation of environmental remediation
project
EERREEER

NE R

& RBHEEZEMABLERR AR

# RBHEEZEMATIABELE
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain waste-to-energy
projects and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy
projects in the PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The
Grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual
payments in connection with the arrangements. During the
operating period, the Group will be responsible for
maintaining the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the waste-to-energy projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects is recognised as
“Service concession assets”, which are included in “Contract
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain biomass direct
combustion power generation projects, biomass heat supply
project, biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects
and integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in the
PRC for a period not less than 30 years. The service fees
are based on the extent of services rendered and are
subject to the approvals from the relevant local government
authorities. During the operating period, the Group will be
responsible for maintaining the biomass direct combustion
power generation projects, biomass heat supply projects,
biomass electricity and heat cogeneration projects and
integrated biomass and waste-to-energy projects in good
condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the biomass direct combustion power
generation projects, biomass heat supply projects, biomass
electricity and heat cogeneration projects and integrated
biomass and waste-to-energy projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

40. XZHIB QA

BisE
(@)

& (&)

AEBEZEH B AR ERER T AT REE
ALY RERBEFLERER
B AREERERTEREE LR
ENREEHEA MAEYE R R EE 8
LEE BRPFTPIR=1TF - BTAR
& AREEEFEASREFLHRRRE
MR- NEBHA - ANEE KB H#IFN
REEBIHE REWE R REE LA
BER R

REFHACERLFTEBSENEE
B o BT ARAKEEIG AR % GRRE
BERERZBERTH LG -

HFERNIREERR REME LR EE
—f8{LIR B IR EE RIS A R e e
R RBHFEEREE]  REGEY
BRRKRPEFATANEE]

REBZEN B QB EE T AR RBE
AR ERTY - RERBEFLERER
B AREERERPEEE  EE i
HEAEYMEEMEEIER  L£YWEHAA
B AMEREHHIAEE REWE KR
BE—RIER BT LR=1TF R
BEROREHRZBEME  XRAFEHEE
WIRFH B ERTAEE -REZH
N AEESERRFEMEEREER
B EWEHRAER  EYEARERHIA
BRAEMERNPHE-—BILEBERR
SRR ©

R EEERH Y EOS AR
1 - 5T A RS EIS AR o E
ERER 2 R TR i -

EYEEMBEERER AMEHRIER -
EYEREREIRE RAEYE R IREE
—BLREZEERERS MR LT
HERRBIELEE] -



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

()

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects and hazardous waste incineration projects in
the PRC for a period of 20 to 30 years. The Group has the
obligation to maintain the hazardous waste landfill projects
and hazardous waste incineration projects in good condition.
The service fees are based on the extent of services
rendered and are subject to the approvals from the relevant
local government authorities. Upon expiry of the concession
periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and hazardous
waste incineration projects and related facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the hazardous waste landfill projects and
hazardous waste incineration projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service
concession arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the
service concession arrangements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain hazardous waste
landfill projects in the PRC for a period of 25 to 30 years.
The Group has the obligation to maintain the hazardous
waste landfill projects in good condition. The Grantors
guarantee the Group will receive minimum annual payments
in connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the
concession periods, the hazardous waste landfill projects and
related facilities will be transferred to the local government
authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing the hazardous waste landfill projects is
recognised as “Service concession assets”, which are
included in “Contract assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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40. FEWBRRFF

5 (&)

B&E - (48)

(©

AEBEZEN B AR ERER T AL RBE
ALY RERBEFLEER
B AEBERERNTRRE  EBELE
EEBERIEEEREEREERR R
—tE=TF - ARBEREAERBEER
BIRE REBREEB RN R - R
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40.

49,

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 8 March 2022.
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As at 31 December

RT=ZA=+—~

2021 2019 2018

S S e e S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 P A
BETR  OBNTR  A%TR  ATR  A%TR

Assets and liabilities EERER
Property, plant and equipment ER Y E R
and interests in leasehold land AEFEERZ

held for own use TAE i AEs 5,367,020 3,848,120 2,630,584 2,502,054 2,282,648
Right-of-use assets FREEE 700,217 648,609 416,646 — —
Goodwill S 162,638 157,609 149,079 — —
Intangible assets = EE 14,365,263 13,311,103 10,781,335 7,486,422 5,131,608
Interest in associates BN AR 254,413 165,415 76,621 56,216 —
Interest in joint ventures AECEER 24,761 44,632 61,177 57,446 51,841
Contract assets AHEE 6,900,257 6,310,283 3,962,637 2,852,061 1,766,507
Other receivables, deposits and HiEWHIE - Re Rk

prepayments TR RIE 781,099 816,945 602,982 425,957 370,729
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 82,450 64,467 29,396 34,797 34,942
Net current assets MENVEEFHE 3,246,504 3,561,948 2,471,322 1,832,332 2,576,616
Non-current liabilities FREBEE 17,739,255 16,062,290 10,594,427 5,816,211 3,448,845
Net assets BEFHE 14,145,367 12,866,841 10,587,352 9,431,074 8,766,046
Share capital A% 7 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029 1,608,029
Reserves fE 12,153,166 10,916,253 8,738,190 7,730,823 7,140,023

Total equity attributable to equity N7 &) #E &5 X 28 JE 15

shareholders of the Company EmERE 13,761,195 12,524,282 10,346,219 9,338,852 8,748,052
Non-controlling interests R 384,172 342,559 241,133 92,222 17,994

Total equity W BE 14,145,367 12,866,841 10,587,352 9,431,074 8,766,046
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For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—RHILEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--§ CZTZTF ZT-hF ZZE-NF ZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T AT T AT T AT T AT T
Results EF
Revenue & 8,446,999 9,835,376 9,279,555 7,001,820 4,581,352
Profit from operations RERF 2,114,772 2,489,215 2,476,468 1,870,961 1,314,044
Finance costs M%ER (741,858) (543,564) (376,891) (202,384) (125,565)
Share of profit/(loss) Fiiha &3
of joint ventures &R,/ (E18) (24,312) (19,464) 9,890 (158) (891)
Profit before taxation BT AT & R 1,348,602 1,926,187 2,109,467 1,668,419 1,187,588
Income tax {5 %i (228,571) (412,879) (462,362) (337,068) (230,289)
Profit for the year ERER 1,120,031 1,513,308 1,647,105 1,331,351 957,299
Attributable to: FEMEER S
Equity shareholders of the AR A REmRR
Company 1,110,385 1,502,532 1,621,477 1,324,871 953,823
Non-controlling interests R R 9,646 10,776 25,628 6,480 3,476
Profit for the year ERER 1,120,031 1,513,308 1,647,105 1,331,351 957,299
Basic and diluted earnings per FREAREERTF
share (HK cents) (A1) 53.74 72.72 78.48 64.12 51.70
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